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Significant progress made with near-term catalysts

RTW  Biotech O pportuni�es  Ltd (the "Group", "RTW  Bio" or the "Company"), the London Stock Exchange-l is ted investment
company focused on iden�fying transforma�ve assets  with high growth poten�al  across  the l i fe sciences  sector, i s  pleased
to announce i ts  Annual  Results  for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Roderick Wong, MD, Managing Partner and Chief Investment O fficer of RTW  Investments L P  (the "Investment Manager")
commented:
 
"We are pleased with the progress  made by the Group during 2024 with a  number of materia l  mi lestones  achieved, both at
por1ol io and company level . During the year, the NAV increased from US 399 mi l l ion to US 607 mi l l ion, we added 21 new
core por1ol io companies , saw five capital  markets  events  and marked our fi9h anniversary s ince l i s�ng on the London
Stock Exchange. I n that �me, we have del ivered NAV per share growth of +86.3%, materia l ly ahead of both the Nasdaq
Biotech and Russel l  2000 Biotech indices , which achieved +34.6% and +6.5%, respectively.
 
"During this  ac�ve period, Kyverna, Ar�va and BioAge completed successful  I P O s whi lst Lenz went publ ic through a reverse
merger. The average gross  mul�ple of invested capital  on our ini�al  investments  in these companies  to the go-publ ic event
was approximately 1.3x. I n addi�on, Numab sold i ts  lead drug candidate to Johnson & Johnson for US 1.25 bi l l ion in July.
Our holding value of this  investment was  increased by 2.6x as  of year end to reflect the deal .
 
"The standout performers  for the period were Avidity Biosciences  and Tarsus  P harmaceu�cals . Avidity's  share price
increased by +221% in 2024 fol lowing the announcement of pos i�ve long-term data showing reversal  of disease
progress ion in people l iving with myotonic dystrophy type 1, a  condi�on for which there is  no current cure and leads  to
muscle weakness  over �me. Tarsus  a lso saw i ts  share price rise materia l ly in 2024 as  i ts  treatment for demodex infec�on,
an ocular disease, continued to exceed consensus  revenue expectations.
 
"The market environment for the biotech sector con�nues to show s igns  of improvement and whi lst the sector's  recovery is
s�l l  in i ts  infancy, there are a  number of catalysts  on the horizon that we expect wi l l  be rewarding both for shareholders
and the pa�ents  that our products  and therapies  treat. Addi�onal ly, we are expec�ng the environment for M&A to improve
drama�cal ly, thanks  to remarkable innova�on, depressed sector valua�ons, impending patent cl iffs  for large pharma and
a change in leadership at the F TC. This  i s  an important factor for the smal l  and mid-cap biotech companies  we invest in as ,
in many cases, M&A is  the endgame for these companies .
 
"We look ahead to 2025 with growing op�mism and are exci ted by the prospects  of the biotech sector. The Company is  in a
strong pos i�on to del iver on i ts  targets  with a  number of near-term catalysts  for i ts  por1ol io investments  that we look
forward to reporting on as  the year progresses."
 

Key highlights

• Transforma=onal merger: The combina�on with Arix Bioscience completed on 13 February 2024, del ivered a
materia l  increase in scale and l iquidity, plus  the acquis i tion of s ix new portfol io pos itions.

• Five significant capital markets events: I n the year to 31 December 2024, the core por1ol io saw three I P O s, one
acquis i�on and one reverse merger. The exit environment is  improving and we expect an accelera�on in this
area, particularly by way of M&A for our smal l  and mid-cap pos itions.

• O utperformance versus benchmarks: The Company celebrated i ts  fi9h anniversary s ince l i s�ng on the London
Stock Exchange (LS E). From I P O  to 31 December 2024, the NAV per O rdinary Share increased by +73.8%,
materia l ly outperforming both the Russel l  2000 Biotech index (+7.4%) and the Nasdaq Biotech index (+27.6%).
The NAV grew from US 153.0m at IPO to US 606.9m as  at 31 December 2024.

 
As of 31 December 2024, 67% of NAV was invested in core por1ol io companies  (2023: 67%), whi lst 31% was invested in
other publ ic portfol io companies  (2023: 20%) and 2% was held in cash plus  current assets  and l iabi l i ties  (2023: 13%).

Financial summary:



RTW Biotech Opportunities Ltd
FY24

(01/01/2024-31/12/2024)
FY23

(01/01/2023-31/12/2023)

Since IPO
(30/10/2019-

31/12/2024
 

Ordinary Share NAV - start of period US 399.3 million US 326.1 million US 168.0 million  
Ordinary Share NAV - end of period US 606.9 million US 399.3 million US 606.9 million  
NAV per Ordinary Share - start of
period

US 1.90 US 1.54 US 1.04  
NAV per Ordinary Share - end of period US 1.81 US 1.90 US 1.81  
NAV movement per Ordinary Share -4.6% +23.5% +73.8%  
Price per Ordinary Share - start of
period

US 1.40 US 1.21 US 1.04  
Price per Ordinary Share - end of
period

US 1.40 US 1.40 US 1.40  
Share price return (i) -0.6% +16.0% +34.1%  
Benchmark returns (ii)

Russell 2000 Biotech +2.5% +10.6% +7.4%  
Nasdaq Biotech  -1.4% +3.7% +27.6%  
(i)                    Total shareholder return is an alterna�ve performance measure. Share price at 31 December 2023 was 1.403 and as at 31 December

2024 was 1.395.
(ii)                  Source: Capital IQ.
 
Core Portfolio:

 
●     21 new core porGolio companies added:  As at 31 December 2024, 67% of NAV was invested in core por1ol io

companies , in-l ine with 2023. 21 new core por1ol io companies  were added over the year whi lst three were exited.
New core por1ol io companies  include ten new privates , one RTW-incubated company, s ix pos i�ons acquired from
Arix Bioscience and four that were previous ly class i fied as  "other publ ic".

●     Focus on clinical programmes and commercial products: 30 out of 54 core por1ol io companies  have cl inical
programmes, eight have commercial  products  and 13 are pre-cl inical .

 
Core Public:
 

●     O verall N AV  performance driven by core public posi=ons: 19 out of 54 core por1ol io companies  are publ ic (34% of
NAV) and performance was driven by Avidity Biosciences, the Group's  second largest por1ol io holding, and Tarsus
P harmaceu�cals , the Group's  third largest por1ol io holding. The change in exposure and number of investments
mostly reflects  underlying performance, the gradua�on of Kyverna, Ar�va, BioAge and Lenz to the publ ic markets
and the addition of Akero, Urogen, 89Bio and Merus.

●     Avidity Biosciences: I n March, Avidity Biosciences  announced pos i�ve long-term data showing reversal  of disease
progress ion in people l iving with myotonic dystrophy type 1 (D M1), across  mul�ple endpoints . Having been
impressed by Avidity's  ini�al  pa�ent data, the F DA supported us ing hand opening �me, a  sens i�ve and early
marker of change, as  the primary endpoint for a  P hase 3 tria l . RTW  co-led an oversubscribed US 400m private
placement in March, where the Group added to i ts  pos ition.

●     Tarsus Pharmaceuticals: Tarsus ' share price rose materia l ly (+173%) in 2024 as  i ts  treatment for demodex infection,
Xdemvy, continued to exceed consensus  revenue expectations.

 
Core Private:
 

●     Core private made a small contribu=on, led by N umab: 33 out of 54 core por1ol io companies  are private (30% of
NAV). During the year, Numab sold i ts  lead drug candidate to J&J for US 1.25bn and the Company's  holding value
was increased by 2.6x to reflect the deal , which closed in July. Kyverna, BioAge and Ar�va completed I P O s whi lst
Lenz went publ ic through a reverse merger. The average gross  mul�ple of invested capital  (M O I C) on our ini�al
investments  in these companies  to the go-publ ic event was  approximately 1.3x.  The increase in exposure and
number of investments  in the repor�ng period reflects  the addi�on of several  new private pos i�ons from Arix
(Ensoma, Evommune, Depixus, Sorriso and Amplyx), less  the exit ac�vity described above for Kyverna, BioAge,
Artiva and Lenz.

●     2024 was a strong and auspicious year for Corxel: The RTW  I nvestments-founded company changed i ts  name from Ji
X ing P harmaceu�cals  to reflect an expanding por1ol io of global  assets . During the year, i t was  announced that
Bayer AG invested in Corxel 's  Series  D financing and a new strategic col laboration between the two companies  was
launched, focused on cardiovascular diseases  in China. I n December, a9er successful ly comple�ng i ts  P hase 3
tria l , Corxel  sold i ts  China Aficamten rights  to Sanofi. The asset sale recognised the value created by the team and
made i t poss ible to in-l icense ex-China rights  to C X 11, an oral  smal l  molecule GLP-1 for obes ity. I n a  China P hase
2 tria l , CX11 showed competitive weight loss  with Li l ly's  Orforgl ipron, the leading smal l  molecule in development.

●     69 core private investments since admission: As  of 31 December 2024, thirty-one of these have s ince experienced
l iquidity events  (i .e. by going publ ic or through acquis i�on). S ince admiss ion, the average holding period as  a
private company was fourteen months  and the average M O I C to the l iquidity event was  1.8x. S ixteen of these
positions  have ei ther concurrently or subsequently been exited in ful l  at an average MOIC of 2.8x.

 
 

Royalty and Other Public:
 

●     The Group's two royalty posi=ons (3% of N AV ) made a solid +2.4% contribu=on in 2024: The Group's  investment in
the I nvestment Manager's  4010 Royalty Fund performed wel l . 4010 currently holds  two investments  with Avadel
P harmaceu�cals  and Urogen P harma (which is  a lso the underlying asset of RTW  Royalty 2). I n the third quarter,
4010 sold i ts  Al lurion royalty at a  smal l  profit including royal�es  received to date, a l lowing us  to redeploy the
capital  into more attractive risk-reward opportunities .

●     Avadel: This  royalty agreement is  associated with the sales  of Lumryz, the sole extended-release sodium oxybate
medica�on approved by the F DA as  a  once-at-bed�me treatment for cataplexy or excess ive day�me s leepiness
(EDS) in adults  with narcolepsy. Lumryz's  sales  ramp is  s igni ficantly outperforming 4010's  underwriting target.

●     Urogen: The Urogen royalty i s  connected to two oncology franchises: Jelmyto and UGN-102, both of which are
topical  therapies  in the urinary tract for urothel ia l  and bladder cancers , typical ly treated by surgical
interven�ons. The majori ty of the royalty returns  are derived from Jelmyto, which is  an establ ished and growing
product. UGN-102 is  nearing FDA approval  with Phase 3 data, and we expect i t to be approved in June 2025.

●     31% of the Group's N AV  is invested in "other publicly" listed companies: The 50 "other publ ic" holdings  are
careful ly selected, mostly matching, on a pro-rata bas is , the long investments  held in the I nvestment Manager's
private funds.

 



 

Post Period-End Events

●     In January, Kailera announced posi=ve topline data from the 8 mg dose of Hengrui  P harmaceu�cals ' P hase 2
cl inical  tria l  (H RS9531-203) of H RS9531, a  GLP-1/GI P  receptor dual  agonist, in individuals  l iving with obes ity or
overweight. The cl inical  tria l  results  showed that a  once-weekly subcutaneous injec�on demonstrated a
sta�s�cal ly s ignificant placebo-adjusted mean weight loss , with no plateau. Addi�onal ly, 59% of treated
par�cipants  achieved a weight loss  greater than 20%. The tria l  results  a lso demonstrated a favourable safety
profile. These results  increase our confidence that Kai lera is  one of the leading players  in next-genera�on obes ity
management and bode wel l  for Kai lera's  planned global  Phase 3 tria l .

●     Also in January, Akero (Nasdaq: AKRO) released preliminary topline results from i ts  P hase 2b study evalua�ng the
efficacy and safety of i ts  lead product candidate, efruxi fermin (EFX ), in pa�ents  with compensated ci rrhos is  due to
metabol ic dysfunc�on-associated steatohepa��s M AS H. Treated pa�ents  demonstrated a sta�s�cal ly s ignificant
improvement in fibros is  with no worsening of M AS H, represen�ng a 24% effect s ize over placebo at 15%. Upon the
news, shares  in Akero, a  5.2% pos ition at year end, rose 100%.

●     Cargo Therapeutics announced it would seek a reverse merger: After halting work on i ts  lead candidate fol lowing a
fai led P hase 2 study, Cargo announced that i t would discon�nue i ts  en�re R&D pipel ine, lay off most of i ts  staff
and seek a reverse merger or other bus iness  combina�on .Beta Bionics went public on 30 January: i t i ssued 12
mi l l ion shares  of common stock at 17.00 each, ra is ing proceeds of US 204 mi l l ion. The shares  now trade on the
Nasdaq Global  Market under the ticker symbol  "BBNX".

 
 

Other Company highlights:
 

●     The Investment Manager con=nues to demonstrate its commitment to and alignment with the Group: RTW
I nvestments ' C I O, Rod Wong, bought 19,949,441 shares  in 2024, increas ing his  stake to 14.8% at the period end.
On 26 February 2025, Rod further increased his  stake to 15.0%, bringing his  total  holding to 50,356,880 shares.

●     Specialist non-executive director appointed: The increased scale of the Company fol lowing strong performance and
the Arix transac�on al lowed us  to appoint a  new Non-Execu�ve Director, Baroness  Nicola Blackwood, a  leader in
science and entrepreneurship. She is  a  member of the House of Lords, and Chair of Genomics  England and Oxford
Univers i ty Innovation. She is  a lso a  board member of the biotechnology company, BioNTech.
 

Enquiries:

RTW Investments, LP - Investment Manager

Woody Sti leman (Bus iness  Development)

Ol iver Kenyon (Bus iness  & Corporate Development)

Krisha McCune (Investor Relations)

 

+44 (0)20 7959 6361

biotechopportunities@rtwfunds.com

Cadarn Capital - PR & IR Partner

Lucy Clark (PR)

David Harris  (Distribution)

 

 

+44 (0)7984 184 461 / lucy@cadarncapital .com

+44 (0)7368 883 211 / david@cadarncapital .com

Deutsche Numis - Joint Corporate Broker

Freddie Barnfield

Nathan Brown

Euan Brown

 

+44 (0)20 7260 1000

BofA Securities - Joint Corporate Broker

Edward Peel

Alex Penney

 

+44 (0)20 7628 1000

Altum (Guernsey) Limited

Joanna Duquemin Nicol le

Sadie Morrison

 

+44 (0)1481 703 100

 
About Biotech Opportunities Ltd:

RTW  Biotech O pportuni�es  Ltd (LS E: RTW ) is  an investment fund focused on iden�fying transforma�ve assets  with high
growth poten�al  across  the biopharmaceu�cal  and medical  technology sectors . Driven by a  long-term approach to support
innova�ve bus inesses , RTW  Biotech O pportuni�es  Ltd invests  in companies  developing next-genera�on therapies  and
technologies  that can s ignificantly improve pa�ents ' l ives . RTW  Biotech O pportuni�es  Ltd is  managed by RTW  I nvestments ,
LP, a  leading healthcare-focused entrepreneuria l  investment fi rm with deep scienti fic expertise and a strong track record of
supporting companies  developing l i fe-changing therapies .

Vis i t the website at www.rtwfunds.com/rtw-biotech-opportunities-l td for more information.
 
 

RTW Biotech Opportunities at a Glance
 
Our Purpose:  Transforming the lives of millions
 
RTW  Bio's  long-term strategy is  anchored in iden�fying sources  of transforma�onal  innova�ons with s ignificant
commercial  poten�al  by engaging in deep scien�fic research and a rigorous  idea genera�on process , which is
complemented by years  of investment, company bui lding, and both transactional  and legal  expertise.
 

https://www.rtwfunds.com/rtw-biotech-opportunities-ltd/


 
What we do goes beyond short term financial gain
We invest for the long term, powering the next genera�on of breakthroughs in science and medicine to help transform l ives .
That's  what drives  us  - the greater impact we can help create.
 
Our global reach
RTW Investments  headquarters
RTW Investments  global  offices
 
Netherlands: Merus, Alesta
Germany, Spain, Switzerland and the Nordic countries : Rocket Pharmaceuticals , Numab
Ireland: GH Research
Israel : Urogen Pharma
China: Corxel , Nuance, Oricel l
UK: Immunocore, Artios
 
 
THE US 
 
We have a core focus  on the US, with deep coverage of opportuni�es  from academia to mid-s ize publ ic companies . We
apply a  ful l  range of deal  execution and company bui lding capabi l i ties .
 
THE UK & EUROPE
 
We have iden�fied and invested in excep�onal  Bri�sh and European scien�fic assets . We look to contribute to these
biotech ecosystems by engaging in crea�on or ongoing development of new companies  around promis ing early-stage
assets  by partnering with univers i�es  and in-l icens ing academic programmes, and by providing financial  and human
capital  to entrepreneurs  to advance scienti fic programmes.
 
What this  means for investors :

·    access  to cutting edge research labs  and academic knowledge
·    access  to greater breadth of science and opportunity
·    participation in value creation in local  biotech ecosystems
 

CHINA
 
We are capturing commercial isa�on opportuni�es  in China by inves�ng across  the venture capital  l i fe cycle: from new
company formation to IPO, to bringing successful , innovative drugs  to patients  in China and across  the globe.
 
What this  means for investors :

·    access  to a  budding biotech market, innovation and expertise
·    an opportunity to be establ ished in a  market with the scope for s igni ficant growth

 
Members  of the RTW Investments  team
2024: 77
2023: 70
 
The RTW Investments culture
 
RTW  I nvestments ' priori ty i s  unlocking value by advancing early-stage scien�fic development to del iver innova�ve
therapies  to patients  in need.
 
At the core of our bus iness  is  a  set of guiding principles .
 
COLLABORATION
Leveraging col lective genius
 
PROGRESS
From research, to innovation, to real i ty
 
HUMILITY
The hunger to learn and improve
 
TENACITY
Finding pathways  to success  whi le overcoming obstacles
 
RIGOUR
Poring over the data
 
LEADERSHIP
The courage to shape a better future
 
 

The RTW Investments Difference
RTW Investments connects data, experience, and talent to bring opportunities into focus

 
We iden�fy transforma�ve assets  with growth poten�al  across  the l i fe sciences  sector. O ur approach is  driven by deep
scienti fic expertise with a  long-term investment horizon.
 
RTW Investments' COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES
 
DEEP RESEARCH
We dive into the data to spot opportuni�es  that others  miss . O pportuni�es, poten�al , errors , and risks  are a l l  eas i ly
overlooked, so we analyse and scru�nise, applying a  unique, repeatable research approach, fine-tuned over years  of
successful  l i fe sciences  investment. We combine the best data, technology, and scienti fic ins ight to unearth opportunity.
 
SELECTIVITY
We cast a  wide net, but only assets  with high probabi l i ty of becoming commercial ly viable products  and those with the



We cast a  wide net, but only assets  with high probabi l i ty of becoming commercial ly viable products  and those with the
greatest poten�al  to revolu�onise treatment outcomes for pa�ents  pass  the test. We choose partners  who care less  about
quick wins  and more about lasting change.
 
KNOWLEDGE
We are doctors , academics , and drug developers ; venture capital is ts  and investment bankers ; lawyers , data scien�sts  and
company operators . We work as  a  team, applying col lec�ve exper�se to spark ideas, solve problems, avoid pi1al ls , and
bui ld successful  companies .
 
FLEXIBLE SOLUTIONS
Drug development rarely fol lows a l inear path. W hatever the twists  and turns, we have the ski l l s  in house to solve
problems and accelerate progress , from providing capital  and infrastructure to advance promis ing academic programmes,
to forming new companies  and taking those companies  publ ic. We carve new pathways, a l lowing scien�sts  and
entrepreneurs  to bring l i fe-changing therapies  to patients .
 
PEOPLE
Healthcare innova�on is  hard work, and easy wins  are few and far between. Those who succeed don't lose s ight of why i t
maUers . These are the people we love working with. We come from many different backgrounds but are united in a  miss ion
to improve people's  l ives .
 
LONG-TERM PARTNERS
Bringing new therapies  to pa�ents  is  a  long journey that comes with both thri l l ing triumphs and inevitable setbacks. We
are hands-on and ful ly invested in the success  of our partners  because their success  is  our success . We choose partners
who are as  pass ionate about revolutionis ing medicine as  we are.

 
RTW Biotech Opportunities' Full Life Cycle portfolio has multiple, differentiated return levers and horizons

 

 
 
     Private          20-40% of  
                              NAV
 

 
 
    Core Public   30-60%
 

 
 
   Royalties       5-15%
 

 
 
 Cash                           0-30%
Management         
("Other Public")

5-20 most compelling private
investment opportunities per
year.
 

The main portfolio driver over
the medium and long term.
 

Uncorrelated, cash
generative life sciences
exposure with limited
scientific risk.
 

Innovative biotechs are generally
cash flow negative, requiring
investment for clinical trials and
commercial launches. Therefore, a
portion of the portfolio is retained in
cash and liquid investments, ready
for future financing rounds.
 

Majority invested in mid-to-
late-stage venture or     
crossover rounds where we
expect a go-public event
within six to eighteen
months.
 

Biotech companies tend to
IPO at around 500m. As a
result, much of the valuation
realisation occurs in the
public markets. To capture as
much value as possible, it is
expected that most private
portfolio companies will be
retained after going public.
 

Royalty-backed launch
financing for newly approved
life sciences products. In
exchange for an upfront
payment, RTW Bio receives
quarterly cash payments
based on a negotiated
percentage of the products'
sales.
 

Excess cash is invested in the "other
public" portfolio, designed to
mitigate the drag of setting aside
cash for future deployment into core
positions.
 

As a leading US crossover
firm, RTW Investments is
sought out by the best private
biotechs as they look towards
the public markets. We
expect to lead about half of
these rounds, setting the
terms and building the
syndicates. 
 

Retention and subsequent
investment decisions subject
to constant risk-reward
assessment.
 

Downside protection through
deal structuring

The "other public" assets have been
carefully selected, mostly matching,
on a pro-rata basis, the long
investments held in RTW
Investments' private funds.
 

About one third is invested in
early-stage venture and RTW
Investments company
creations where we expect a
go-public event in three to
five years.
 

Successful investments could
be held for 3-5 years with
multiple value inflection
points along the way.
 

Expect to have principal
repaid within six years, then a
harvest period. Term/return
can be capped or uncapped. 
 

Ability to hedge individual positions
and use modest leverage.
 

Initial position size: <2%.
 

Typical position size: 1-10%
 

Typical position size: 1-2% Typical position size: 0.1-5%

 
 

Investment Objective and Investment Policy
Applying deep scientific expertise with a long-term investment horizon

 
Investment Objective
The Group seeks  to achieve pos i�ve absolute performance and superior long-term capital  apprecia�on, with a  focus  on
forming, bui lding, and suppor�ng world-class  l i fe sciences, biopharmaceu�cal  and medical  technology companies . I t
intends to create a  divers ified por1ol io of investments  across  a  range of bus inesses , each pursuing the development of
superior pharmacological  or medical  therapeutic assets  to enhance the qual i ty of l i fe and/or extend patient l i fe.
 
Investment Policy
The Group seeks  to achieve i ts  investment objec�ve by leveraging the I nvestment Manager's  data-driven proprietary
pipel ine of innovative assets  to invest in l i fe sciences  companies:



pipel ine of innovative assets  to invest in l i fe sciences  companies:

·      across  various  geographies  (global ly);

·      across  various  therapeutic categories  and product types  (including but not l imited to genetic medicines, biologics ,
traditional  modal i ties  such as  smal l  molecule pharmaceuticals  and antibodies , and medical  devices);

·      in both a pass ive and ac�ve capacity and intends, from �me to �me, to take a control l ing or majori ty pos i�on
with ac�ve involvement in a  Por1ol io Company to ass ist and influence i ts  management. I n those s i tua�ons, i t i s
expected that the Investment Manager's  senior executives  may serve in temporary executive capacities ; and

·      by par�cipa�on in opportuni�es  created by the I nvestment Manager's  forma�on of companies  de novo when a
s ignificant unmet need has  been iden�fied and the Group is  able to bui ld a  differen�ated, sustainable bus iness  to
address  said unmet need.

 
The Group expects  to invest approximately 80 per cent of i ts  gross  assets  in the biopharmaceu�cal  sector and
approximately 20 per cent of i ts  gross  assets  in the medical  technology sector.
 
The Group's  por1ol io wi l l  reflect i ts  view of the most compel l ing opportuni�es  avai lable to the I nvestment Manager, with
an ini�al  investment in each privately held Por1ol io Company ("Private PorGolio Company") expected to start in a  low
single digi t per cent of the Group's  gross  assets  and grow over �me, as  the Group may, i f appl icable, par�cipate in fol low-
on investments  and/or con�nue holding the Por1ol io Company as  i t becomes publ icly-traded. I t i s  intended certain long-
term holds  wi l l  increase in s ize and may represent between five and ten per cent or greater of the Group's  gross  assets .
 
The Group an�cipates  deploying one-third of i ts  capital  des ignated for core private investments  toward early-stage and de
novo company forma�ons (including newly formed en��es around early-stage academic l icenses  and commercial  s tage
corporate assets) and two-thirds  of i ts  capital  in mid- to late-stage ventures.
 
The Company may choose to invest in Por1ol io Companies  l i s ted on a publ ic stock exchange ("Public PorGolio Companies")
depending on market condi�ons and the avai labi l i ty of appropriate investment opportuni�es. Equal ly, as  part of a  ful l -l i fe
cycle investment approach, i t i s  expected that P rivate Por1ol io Companies  may later become P ubl ic Por1ol io Companies .
Mone�sa�on events  such as  I P O s and reverse mergers  wi l l  not necessari ly be taken as  exi t opportuni�es  for the Group.
Rather, the Group may decide to retain a l l  or some of or add to i ts  investment in such Por1ol io Companies  or the acquiring
Company where they meet the standard of di l igence set by the I nvestment Manager. The Group is  not required to a l locate a
speci fic percentage of i ts  assets  to Private Portfol io Companies  or Publ ic Portfol io Companies .
 
The Group also intends, where appropriate, to invest further in i ts  Por1ol io Companies , suppor�ng exis�ng investments
throughout their l i fecycle. The Group may divest i ts  interest in Por1ol io Companies  in part or in ful l  when the risk-reward
trade-off i s  deemed to be less  favourable.
 
From �me to �me, the Group may seek opportuni�es  to op�mise inves�ng condi�ons, and to a l low for such ci rcumstances,
the Group wi l l  have the abi l i ty to hedge or enter into securi�es  or deriva�ve structures  in order to enhance the risk-reward
position of the portfol io and i ts  underlying securi ties .  
 
Investment restrictions
The Group wi l l  be subject to the fol lowing restrictions  when making investments  in accordance with i ts  investment pol icy:

·      the Group may not make an investment or a  series  of investments  in a  Por1ol io Company that result in the Group's
aggregate investment in such Por1ol io Company exceeding 15 per cent (or, in the case of Rocket P harmaceu�cals ,
Inc., 25 per cent) of the Group's  gross  assets  at the time of each such investment;

·      the Group may not make any direct investment in any tobacco company and not knowingly make or con�nue to
hold any P ubl ic Por1ol io Company investments  that would result in exposure to tobacco companies  exceeding
one per cent of the aggregate value of the Publ ic Portfol io Companies  from time to time.

 
Each of these investment restric�ons wi l l  be calculated as  at the �me of investment. I n the event that any of the above
l imits  are breached at any point a9er the relevant investment has  been made (for instance, upon successful  real isa�on of
economic and/or scien�fic mi lestones  or as  a  result of any movements  in the value of the Group's  gross  assets), there wi l l
be no requirement to sel l  or otherwise dispose of any investment (in whole or in part).
 
Leverage and borrowing limits
The Group may use conserva�ve leverage in the future in order to enhance returns  and maximise the growth of i ts  por1ol io,
as  wel l  as  for working capital  purposes, up to a  maximum of 50 per cent of the Group's  net asset value at the �me of
incurrence. Any other decis ion to incur indebtedness  may be taken by the I nvestment Manager for reasons  and within such
parameters  as  are approved by the Board. There are no l imita�ons placed on indebtedness  incurred in the Group's
underlying investments .
 
Capital deployment
The Group an�cipates  that i t wi l l , upon any subsequent capital  ra ises , invest up to 80% of avai lable cash in P ubl ic
Por1ol io Companies  that have been di l igenced by the I nvestment Manager and represent holdings  in other por1ol ios
managed by the I nvestment Manager, subsequently rebalancing the por1ol io between P ubl ic Por1ol io Companies  and
Private Portfol io Companies  as  opportunities  to invest in the latter become avai lable.
 
Cash management
The Group's  uninvested capital  may be invested in cash instruments  or bank deposits  pending investment in Por1ol io
Companies  or used for working capital  purposes.
 
Hedging
As described above, the Group may seek opportuni�es  to op�mise inves�ng condi�ons, and to a l low for such
circumstances, there wi l l  be no l imita�ons placed on the Group's  abi l i ty to hedge or enter into securi�es  or deriva�ve
structures  in order to enhance the risk-reward pos ition of the portfol io and i ts  underlying securi ties .
 
O n an ongoing bas is , the Group does  not intend to enter into any securi�es  or financial ly engineered products  des igned to
hedge por1ol io exposure or mi�gate por1ol io risk as  a  core part of i ts  investment strategy but may enter into hedging
transac�ons to hedge individual  pos i�ons or reduce vola�l i ty related to specific risks  such as  fluctua�ons in foreign
exchange rates , interest rates , and other market forces.

 
RTW Biotech Opportunities' 5th Anniversary

 
O n 30th O ctober 2024, RTW  Biotech O pportuni�es  Ltd celebrated i ts  fi9h anniversary s ince l i s�ng on the London Stock



O n 30th O ctober 2024, RTW  Biotech O pportuni�es  Ltd celebrated i ts  fi9h anniversary s ince l i s�ng on the London Stock
Exchange (LS E). From l is�ng through to i ts  fi9h year, the Group grew i ts  NAV from US 153.0m to US 650.6m and NAV per
share by +86.3%. Along the way, several  key mi lestones  marked the journey:
 

·    Market-bea=ng and peer-leading performance: the Group's  NAV per share return of +86.3% over the five years
marked RTW  Bio as  the best performing biotech-focused l i s ted investment company on a NAV per share bas is  on
the London Stock Exchange in that �me. This  compared to a  +37.7% return for the Nasdaq Biotech I ndex and +16.3%
for the Russel l  2000 Biotech Index over the same period.

 
·    A L ondon IP O  and subsequent move to the L SE's premium lis=ng: London was selected as  the l i s�ng des�na�on

because of the benefits  of the l i s ted investment company structure. I t gives  both flexibi l i ty and dura�on to invest
opportunis�cal ly across  the ful l  l i fe cycle, avoiding the pi1al ls  and structural  constraints  of venture-only or
publ ic-only vehicles . In August 2021, RTW Bio migrated from the Special is t Segment to the Premium Segment, which
was subsequently consol idated into the Main Market in 2024. I n 2022, the I nvestment Manager set up an office in
London to be closer to the l i s ting, shareholders  and investment opportunities  in the UK.

 
·    Prometheus Biosciences acquisi=on shows the value of full life cycle approach: I n Apri l  2023, P rometheus, a

cl inical -stage biotechnology company pioneering treatment of immune-mediated diseases, was  acquired by Merck
for US 10.8 bi l l ion. The investment was  a  great example of the value of ful l  l i fe cycle inves�ng. RTW  Bio co-led
P rometheus ' crossover financing round in 2020, supported i t through i ts  I P O  in 2021 and ul�mately i ts  sale,
generating a  more than 12x total  multiple on invested capital  (MOIC) in just over three years .

 
·    Arix transaction added scale and capital to a best-in-class platform : I n November 2023, RTW  Bio announced plans  to

acquire Arix Bioscience P lc ("Arix"), a  venture capital  company focused on inves�ng in breakthrough
biotechnology companies . Completed in February 2024, the transac�on made RTW  Bio one of the largest biotech-
focused l i s ted investment companies  trading on the LS E and provided addi�onal  capital  at an opportune �me in
the biotech market cycle.

 
 

Chair's Statement
Investing in tomorrow's  most promis ing medicines

 
We are del ighted to have celebrated, on 30 O ctober, the pass ing of our fi9h anniversary s ince l i s�ng on the London Stock
Exchange. I n that �me, the Group's  NAV per share del ivered a five-year return of +86.3% marking i t as  the best performing
biotech-focused l i s ted investment company on a NAV per share bas is  on the London Stock Exchange. This  compared to a
+37.7% return for the Nasdaq Biotech I ndex and +16.3% for the Russel l  2000 Biotech I ndex over the same period. We are
pleased to mark the fi9h Anniversary this  year with market-bea�ng and peer-leading performance, despite most of the last
three years  experiencing the sector's  second worst bear market in history. Encouragingly, the backdrop is  now improving
and we bel ieve that we are sti l l  in the early innings  of a  recovery for the sector.
 
2024 Overview and 2025 Outlook
 
The Group's  NAV returned -4.6% per O rdinary Share over the twelve months  to 31 December 2024, s l ightly underperforming
the Russel l  2000 Biotechnology I ndex and the Nasdaq Biotech I ndex (NBI ) which returned +2.5% and -1.4%, respec�vely.
This  i s  the first year that the Group's  NAV per share has  underperformed, but i t remains  markedly ahead of sector indices
over three years , five years  and s ince admiss ion. Like many l i s ted investment companies , par�cularly those with private
exposure, the Company's  share price has  lagged NAV per share growth, a l though the discount narrowed modestly in 2024.
 
As always, there was plenty of ac�vity in the por1ol io to report. O ne of the benefits  of having a  ful l  l i fe cycle approach is
that there are a lways  opportuni�es  and events  including private financing rounds, go-publ ic events , take-outs , cl inical
developments  and royalty distributions.
 
There were four go-publ ic events  from core private pos i�ons in the first hal f: Kyverna, Lenz, Ar�va and BioAge. The average
step up from holding value to go-publ ic in these four events  was  +9.7% and the average mul�ple on invested capital  was
1.3x. There was one M&A deal  involving Numab, a  core private pos i�on, which sold i ts  lead program to Johnson & Johnson
for US 1.25bn. Being a  private pos i�on meant that the impact on the Group was less  than i t might have been had i t occurred
a9er the company became publ ic when we normal ly take bigger pos i�ons, but i t led to a  near 2.6x upl i9 from the holding
value as  at 31 December 2024. Combined, these transac�ons con�nue to underl ine the embedded value of the por1ol io's
private holdings  and provide evidence of the robustness  of the Group's  valua�on process . But despite con�nued successes
here, the market appears  to discount the private assets .
 
I n the core publ ic por1ol io, two gene�c medicine companies  had the biggest impacts  on NAV. Avidity Biosciences
announced several  pos i�ve cl inical  events  for pa�ents  suffering from severe muscular diseases  which in many cases  have
no approved drugs. Avidity's  share price increased by 221% in 2024, making i t a  very rewarding investment from a
shareholder perspec�ve this  year and from our original  investment in their 2019 crossover round, s ince when i t has
returned a 4.5x mul�ple on invested capital . Should Avidity succeed through subsequent tria ls  and regulatory approval , i t
wi l l  a lso be a very rewarding investment from a pa�ent impact perspec�ve too. Rocket P harmaceu�cals ' share price
struggled in 2024. W ith no cl inical  readouts  on the calendar, the shares  were buffeted by top-down factors  whi lst i t a lso
did not del iver on cl inical  and regulatory �mel ines  for i ts  two lead programs. Despite the vola�l i ty and setbacks , we
continue to see value and transformational  potentia l  for patients  suffering from horrendous diseases  l ike Danon.
 
S ince admiss ion, the Group has  made 69 private investments . Thirty-one of these have s ince experienced l iquidity events
(by going publ ic or via  acquis i�on). The average holding period as  a  private investment was  fourteen months  and the
average M O I C to the l iquidity event was  1.8x. This  was  despite a  very muted I P O  market for most of the last three years . I t i s
important to note that, being a  ful l  l i fe cycle investor, we view the I P O  as  another funding round and a publ ic mark, rather
than an exit opportunity, but the step up to the I P O  is  a  nice way to start a  publ ic investment especial ly when one cons iders
the other advantages  of investing in the private rounds, most particularly, getting closer to the science to bui ld conviction.
 
The Group's  royalty investments  are performing wel l  and provide a differen�ated income stream that is  uncorrelated to
equity markets . The risk adjusted returns  are very aUrac�ve and highly complementary to the rest of the por1ol io. The
abi l i ty to offer a  ful l  sui te of financing solu�ons to companies  helps  pos i�on RTW  I nvestments  as  one of the preferred
capital  providers  in the space. O ur exposure to royal�es  is  expected to increase in the years  ahead as  the 4010 Royalty
Fund, in which we are invested, draws down capital  for new investments .
 
At the end of the period, the Group had fi9y-four core por1ol io holdings , a  materia l  increase from the start of the year as
several  new private and publ ic pos i�ons were added on top of the new private pos i�ons from Arix. O pportuni�es  are
abundant and capital  i s  valuable. The core por1ol io represents  67.1% of NAV at year end. The "other publ ic" por1ol io
(mostly matching the long l i s ted names held in the I nvestment Manager's  private funds, devised to mi�gate the



(mostly matching the long l i s ted names held in the I nvestment Manager's  private funds, devised to mi�gate the
performance drag of seVng as ide cash for future deployment into core pos i�ons) makes  up the remainder. I t i s  important
to note that this  por�on of the por1ol io is  a lso expected to generate sol id returns  through the cycle and is  made up of
s imi larly innovative but s l ightly larger, later stage biotech companies , many of which already have approved drugs.
 
The market environment for the biotech sector is  improving and the opportunity set for stock picking is  encouraging albeit
the sector's  recovery is  s�l l  early. Changes  in interest rate expecta�ons are adding periods  of vola�l i ty, but good data and
good products  are being rewarded. Medical  science innova�on has  never been beUer, financing ac�vity i s  robust and M&A
looks  set to rebound. P res ident Trump's  appointment for Secretary of Health and Human Services , R F K  Jr, has  added a l iUle
uncertainty but that should l i9 as  i t becomes clear that innova�on is  part of the solu�on in his  pursuit of "making America
healthy again".
 
W ith a  growing pipel ine of interes�ng opportuni�es  at aUrac�ve valua�ons, our private inves�ng ac�vity has  returned to
normal  a9er a  couple of years  when i t was  more op�mal  to focus  on publ ic market opportuni�es. Al l  parts  of our ful l  l i fe
cycle portfol io are wel l  pos itioned and competition for capital  within the portfol io is  intense.
 
RTW  Bio con�nues to provide investors  with exposure to the most innova�ve and exci�ng parts  of the healthcare sector via
a range of publ ic, private and royalty investments . This  ful l  l i fe cycle approach gives  our shareholders  access  to a  wide
range of investment opportuni�es  that would otherwise be hard to exploit, thus  making the Group an aUrac�ve holding
alongs ide pass ive, private equity fund or direct equity healthcare exposures. This  proposi�on is  most stark in next-
genera�on obes ity drugs, which are mostly s�l l  private at this  point.  W ith the addi�on to the por1ol io of Kai lera and the
acquis i�on by Corxel  (formerly known as  Ji X ing) of C X 11, RTW  Bio is  unique among l i s ted investment companies  for
shareholders  looking for meaningful  exposure on the private s ide to this  exci ting area.
 
Corporate Developments
 
We are del ighted to have completed the acquis i�on of Arix Bioscience P lc's  assets  and welcome new shareholders  to our
register. The combina�on added capital  and scale to our best-in-class  pla1orm. RTW  Bio is  now one of the largest biotech
investment companies  quoted on the London Stock Exchange and the increased scale, l iquidity and awareness  has
attracted several  new potentia l  buyers .
 
The increased scale that the Arix transac�on has  brought us  has  a lso a l lowed us  to appoint a  Senior I ndependent Director
with cons iderable l i fe sciences  experience. Baroness  Nicola Blackwood is  a  leader in science and entrepreneurship. She is
a  member of the House of Lords, and Chair of Genomics  England and Oxford Univers i ty I nnova�on. She is  a lso Board
Member of the biotechnology company, BioNTech. Nicola is  a lso a  member of the Oxford Harrington Rare Disease Centre
Advisory Board and the Royal  Society Science Pol icy Expert Advisory CommiUee. Nicola served as  a  Minister in the
Department for Health and Socia l  Care under two P rime Ministers . As  Minister for I nnova�on, she led on Li fe Sciences, NH S
Data and Digi ta l  Transforma�on, and Global  Health Securi ty. She was the first female Member of Parl iament for Oxford
and was elected by M Ps of a l l  par�es  as  the first female Chair of the House of Commons Science and Technology
CommiUee. She remains  one of the youngest commiUee chairs  in Bri�sh history. We are del ighted to welcome Nicola,
bel ieving that her contribu�ons wi l l  help us  further our miss ion to harness  innova�on in biotech to the advantage of
patients  and shareholders .
 
Capital Allocation
 
Around the �me of the Arix clos ing, the Board increased the previous ly announced share buyback capacity to help manage
any short-term changes  in the shareholder base around the deal . I n total , the Group bought back 8,500,000 shares  in 2024
for a  total  cons idera�on of US 11,340,306. Buybacks  are cons idered through a capital  a l loca�on lens  against mul�ple
factors , most importantly, our core objec�ve to del iver long-term capital  growth. W ith this  context i t i s  important to
recognise that our investments  general ly consume cash to progress  through cl inical  tria ls  or early commercial isa�on, so
retaining capital  and some l iquidity i s  essen�al , especial ly in chal lenging market environments  where opportuni�es  are
avai lable to those who can provide a quantum of capital  quickly. However, in recent �mes when the Group has  received a
s ignificant cash inflow (i .e. the sale of P rometheus to Merck and the acquis i�on of Arix and i ts  substan�al  cash pos i�on),
we have returned a por�on through NAV-accre�ve buybacks.  As  with P rometheus, in the event of cash real isa�ons from
publ ic M&A in our por1ol io, a  propor�on of the profits  may be used to buy back shares. However, we strongly bel ieve that
now is  a  once-in-a-genera�on �me to be making private and publ ic investments  in biotech, so we must balance short term
discount cons idera�ons that are impac�ng the whole investment trust industry, and our healthcare peers  within i t, against
very s igni ficant medium to long term capital  growth potentia l .
 
Manager Commitment and Alignment
 
I  am pleased to note the expansion of the I nvestment Manager's  wider team in the UK  in recent years , focuss ing amongst
other things  on servicing RTW  Bio shareholders , and am par�cularly pleased to note the con�nued al ignment of the
I nvestment Manager with the Group. S ince I P O, the I nvestment Manager has  not sold any of i ts  shares  in the Company and
key principals , including C I O  Rod Wong, con�nue to increase their personal  holdings. Last year Rod Wong bought
19,949,441 shares  bringing his  total  shareholding to 49,643,313 (14.8% of ordinary shares  in issue not held in treasury).
Post period-end, he bought addi�onal  shares  increas ing his  pos i�on to 15.0%. Furthermore, s ince admiss ion the
I nvestment Manager has  only taken one distribu�on, in shares , from the Performance Al loca�on share class , increas ing i ts
investment in the Group. This  further demonstrates  both the value of the Group to the Investment Manager and i ts  long-term
commitment.
 
Looking Forward
 
W hilst 2024 was a  chal lenging year for the biotech sector and UK  investment companies , I  am very pleased with the
compel l ing long-term performance of RTW  Bio and look forward with confidence to the next five years . We enter this  period
with s ignificant assets  under management, increas ing publ ic interest in what we do and the ski l led support of our manager
and other stakeholders . We an�cipate many more opportuni�es  to further medical  innova�ons which improve the l ives  of
patients  and provide attractive returns  to our investors .
 
2025 AGM
 
The Company wi l l  hold i ts  Annual  General  Mee�ng on 9 June 2025 to review the annual  results  and provide por1ol io
updates. The mee�ng wi l l  take place at Royal  Chambers , St Jul ian's  Avenue, St Peter Port, Guernsey. We would l ike to
dedicate a  part of the mee�ng to address  ques�ons from shareholders . We encourage shareholders  to submit ques�ons at
the fol lowing emai l , and we wi l l  endeavour to answer as  many as  we can: biotechopportunities@rtwfunds.com.
 
On behalf of the Board, I  would l ike to express  my grati tude for your continued support and wish you al l  the best for 2025.
 
William Simpson
Chair of the Board of Directors
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Report of the Investment Manager
A ful l  l i fe cycle approach to investing in innovative healthcare companies

 
Financial Highlights, Performance Drivers and Significant Events
 
S ince i ts  l i s�ng on the London Stock Exchange on 30 O ctober 2019, the Group has  grown the NAV aUributable to O rdinary
Shareholders  from US 168.0 mi l l ion to US 606.9 mi l l ion as  of 31 December 2024. The NAV per O rdinary Share has  grown
+73.8% from US 1.04 to US 1.81 as  of 31 December 2024. Disappoin�ngly, the share price has  not kept pace with the NAV,
returning +34.1% in the same period, as  the shares  fel l  to a  discount in early 2022 (as  did many l i s ted investment trusts)
and have remained there s ince, despite strong NAV per O rdinary Share performance. I n 2024, the NAV per O rdinary Share
returned -4.6% whi le the share price returned -0.6%. W ith con�nued NAV outperformance versus  the market and peers , in
addition to an improving outlook for the biotech sector, we would expect the discount to narrow.
 
Table 1. Financial Highlights
 

RTW Biotech Opportunities Ltd
Year-end reporting period

(01/01/2024-31/12/2024)

Previous year-end reporting
period (01/01/2023-

31/12/2023)

Admission
(30/10/2019-

31/12/2024
Ordinary NAV - start of period US 399.3 million US 326.1 million US 168.0 million

Ordinary NAV - end of period US 606.9 million US 399.3 million US 606.9 million

NAV per Ordinary Share - start of period US 1.90 US 1.54 US 1.04

NAV per Ordinary Share - end of period US 1.81 US 1.90 US 1.81

NAV movement per Ordinary Share -4.6% +23.5% +73.8%

Price per Ordinary Share - start of period US 1.40 US 1.21 US 1.04

Price per Ordinary Share - end of period US 1.40 US 1.40 US 1.40

Share price return (i) -0.6% +16.0% +34.1%

Benchmark returns (ii)

Russell 2000 Biotech +2.5% +10.6% +7.4%

Nasdaq Biotech  -1.4% +3.7% +27.6%

(i)                    Total shareholder return is an alterna�ve performance measure. Share price at 31 Dec 2023 was 1.403 and at  31 Dec 2024 was
1.395.

(ii)                  Source: Capital IQ
 
 
RTW  I nvestments , LP, the "I nvestment Manager", a  leading global  healthcare-focused investment firm with a  strong track
record of suppor�ng companies  developing l i fe-changing therapies , created the Group as  an investment fund focused on
iden�fying transforma�ve assets  with high growth poten�al  across  the biopharmaceu�cal  and medical  technology
sectors . Driven by deep scien�fic exper�se and a long-term approach to bui lding and suppor�ng innova�ve bus inesses , we
invest in companies  developing transforma�ve next-genera�on therapies  and technologies  that can s ignificantly improve
patients ' l ives  whi le creating s igni ficant value for our shareholders .
 
NAV performance in 2024 has  been driven by the core publ ic pos i�ons. This  i s  how the por1ol io is  des igned to func�on. As
ful l  l i fe cycle investors , our bel ief i s  that the majori ty of value crea�on in biotech happens in the publ ic market, however, i t
i s  valuable and important to pos ition onesel f and bui ld conviction before an IPO. Our core publ ic pos ition Avidity i s  a  case
in point. We co-led the crossover round at the end of 2019 and supported the I P O  in 2020. S ince then, the company
experienced some chal lenges  un�l  repor�ng great data from several  of i ts  programs in 2024. We had s ignificantly
increased our pos i�on in February 2024 by co-leading an oversubscribed US 400m private placement, proving the value of
the I nvestment Manager's  pos i�on as  a  preferred capital  provider in the sector. The shares  returned +221% over the course
of 2024 giving rise to a  +12.4% contribu�on to NAV. The other major contributor was  Tarsus, which s i ts  at the other end of
the development l i fe cycle, being a  commercial  s tage company. Tarsus ' share price rose materia l ly in 2024 as  i ts  treatment
for demodex infection, Xdemvy, continued to exceed consensus  revenue expectations.
 
Rocket, I mmunocore and Cargo were the largest detractors  amongst the core publ ic pos i�ons. A9er strong performance in
2023, Rocket's  shares  performed poorly in 2024. Rocket ra ised US 165m in a  fol low-on offering in December a9er a  year in
which i t did not del iver on cl inical  and regulatory �mel ines  for i ts  two lead programs. Despite the setbacks , we think both
the Danon and Fanconi  anaemia programs con�nue to have transforma�ve poten�al  for pa�ents . I mmunocore reported
melanoma data at AS CO  showing a disappoin�ng sub-20% response rate. I t i s  important to note that both Rocket and
I mmunocore are mul�-pipel ine companies , so even i f one asset disappoints  there are other shots  on goal . There was no
materia l  fundamental  news during the year on Cargo, but with the next catalyst not forecast un�l  2025, the share price
gave back much of the gains  i t made s ince i ts  IPO in November 2023. Fol lowing period end, Cargo announced i t was  hal�ng
work on i ts  lead candidate a9er a  fa i led P hase 2 study, fol lowed a couple months  later by the discon�nua�on of i ts  en�re
pipel ine, and the announcement that i t would lay off most of i ts  staff and seek a reverse merger or other bus iness
combination.
 
The core private pos i�ons made a smal l  contribu�on led by Numab. Kyverna, Ar�va and BioAge Labs  completed successful
I P O s whi le Lenz went publ ic through a reverse merger. The average gross  mul�ple on invested capital  (M O I C) on our ini�al
investments  in these four companies  to the go-publ ic event was  approximately 1.3x. Numab sold i ts  lead drug candidate to
J&J for US 1.25bn. The company's  holding value was increased by approximately 2.6x to reflect the deal , which closed in
July.
 
2024 was an auspicious  year for RTW  I nvestments-founded Corxel , which changed i ts  name from Ji  X ing P harmaceu�cals
during the year to reflect an expanding por1ol io of global  assets . F i rstly, Ji  X ing (as  i t was  then cal led) announced that
Bayer AG had invested in i ts  Series  D financing, whi lst concurrently announcing a  new strategic col labora�on between the
two companies  focused on cardiovascular diseases  in China. Later in the year, Corxel  announced two s ignificant
transac�ons in December. F i rst, a9er successful ly comple�ng i ts  P hase 3 tria l , Corxel  sold i ts  China Aficamten rights  to
Sanofi. The asset sale recognised the value created by the team and made i t poss ible to in-l icense ex-China rights  to C X 11,
an oral  smal l  molecule GLP-1 for obes ity. I n a  China P hase 2 tria l , C X 11 showed compe��ve weight loss  with Li l ly's
O rforgl ipron, the leading smal l  molecule in development. We bel ieve orals  are one of the largest unmet needs in obes ity
and are exci ted for Corxel 's  transformation into a  global  cardiometabol ic company.
 



 
The Group's  royalty pos i�ons, represen�ng ~3% of NAV, made a sol id contribu�on this  year, underl ining the aUrac�veness
of their uncorrelated, income-oriented returns. The Group's  investment in the I nvestment Manager's  4010 Royalty Fund
performed wel l . 4010 currently holds  two investments  with Avadel  P harmaceu�cals  and Urogen P harma (which is  a lso the
underlying asset of RTW  Royalty 2). The royalty agreement with Avadel  i s  associated with the sales  of Lumryz, which is  an
extended-release sodium oxybate medica�on approved by the F DA on 1st May 2023 as  the first and only once-at-bed�me
treatment for cataplexy or excess ive day�me s leepiness  (ED S) in adults  with narcolepsy. Lumryz's  sales  ramp is
s ignificantly outperforming 4010's  underwri�ng target. The Urogen royalty i s  connected to two oncology franchises:
Jelmyto and UGN-102. The products  are topical  therapies  in the urinary tract for urothel ia l  and bladder cancers , which are
typical ly treated by surgical  interven�on. Most of the royalty returns  are derived from Jelmyto, which is  an establ ished and
growing product. UGN-102 is  nearing F DA approval  with P hase 3 data, and we expect i t to be approved in early 2025. I n the
third quarter, 4010 sold i ts  Al lurion royalty asset at a  smal l  profit including royal�es  received to date.  A sale within the
investment period al lows us  to redeploy the capital  into the more aUrac�ve risk-reward opportuni�es  we see.  4010 wi l l
s tart distributing on a quarterly bas is  soon after the final  close, which is  expected to be in the fi rst hal f of 2025.
 
At the outset, the Arix transac�on was expected to be accre�ve, as  the cancel la�on of shares  previous ly owned by Acacia
would offset the transac�on costs , whi le the share convers ion ra�o was set on a NAV-for-NAV bas is . However, the Group's
NAV appreciated materia l ly versus  Arix's  between the deal  announcement and closure, leading to a  smal l  NAV per share
di lution on clos ing, including the revaluation of Arix's  private pos itions. Ar�os, Evommune and Ensoma increased in value,
whi le we wrote down the values  of Depixus, Sorriso and Amplyx. We bel ieve the long-term benefits  of the increase in scale
and poten�al  future accre�on of the acquired pos i�ons wi l l  far outweigh the short-term costs . The increased cash pos i�on
at an opportune �me al lowed us  to make investments  in a  handful  of core publ ic pos i�ons l ike Akero that have
subsequently been highly accretive to NAV.
 
S ince admiss ion, the Group has  made s ixty-nine core private investments . At 31 December 2024, thirty-one of these
posi�ons had had l iquidity events  (i .e., go-publ ic or acquis i�on). The average holding period as  private was fourteen
months  and the average M O I C to the l iquidity event was  1.8x. Nineteen of these pos i�ons have ei ther concurrently or
subsequently been exited in ful l  at an average MOIC of 2.8x.
 
Table 2. Performance breakdown for the year ending 31 December 2024
 

 NAV per share contribution %

Core private +0.7%

Core publ ic +2.1%
          Avidity Biosciences  +12.4%

          Tarsus  Pharmaceuticals  +3.8%

          Rocket Pharmaceuticals  -7.0%

          Immunocore -3.1%

          Cargo Therapeutics  -1.5%

Royalties +2.4%

"Other publ ic" -3.8%

Fees and other MTD P&L -1.1%

Arix transaction and share buybacks -5.0%

YTD return -4.6%
 
Fol lowing the Board's  increase to the share buyback program in January, there fol lowed several  intra-month share
buybacks  in the first hal f of the year. I n addi�on, the intra-month acquis i�on of Arix Bioscience s ignificantly increased
shares  outstanding in mid-February. Due to these fluctua�ons in weighted average shares  outstanding during the period,
and because the Group's  NAV is  calculated on a monthly bas is , the above breakdown of NAV contribu�ons by por1ol io
segment is  an estimate for the period 1 January to 31 December 2024.
 
Key updates for Core Portfolio companies during 2024:
 

Clinical & Commercial Milestones

·    In March, Avidity Biosciences, the Group's  largest por1ol io holding at the �me, announced pos i�ve long-term data
showing reversal  of disease progress ion in people l iving with myotonic dystrophy type 1 (D M1), across  mul�ple
endpoints . Having been impressed by Avidity's ini�al  pa�ent data, the F DA supported us ing hand opening �me, a
sens itive and early marker of change, as  the primary endpoint for a  Phase 3 tria l .

·    In March, Apogee Therapeutics reported interim P hase 1 data suppor�ve of best-in-class  convenience for i ts  long-
acting IL-13 antibody, a  target that El i  Li l ly has  val idated for atopic dermatitis  (AD).

·    I n March, Tarsus Pharmaceu=cals reported in their results  announcement that they saw sales  from Xdemvy (the
first and only F DA-approved treatment to directly target demodex mites , the root cause of demodex blephari�s)
more than double consensus  expectations  in i ts  fi rst ful l  quarter s ince launch.

·    In Apri l , Lenz Therapeutics announced pos i�ve topl ine data from i ts  P hase 3 presbyopia tria l , fol lowing which the
FDA accepted i ts  New Drug Appl ication in October.

·    In June, Avidity Biosciences announced "unprecedented" AO C 1020 data from i ts  P hase 1/2 cl inical  tria l . AO C 1020
is  an inves�ga�onal  therapy that targets  D UX 4, the root cause of facioscapulohumeral  muscular dystrophy
(FSHD). Avidity plans  to accelerate ini tiation of registrational  cohorts  in i ts  Phase 1/2 tria l .

·    I n June, Rocket Pharmaceu=cals' progress  toward i ts  first approval  for Kres ladi , for the treatment of LAD-1, was
delayed a9er the F DA issued a Complete Response LeUer reques�ng addi�onal  manufacturing informa�on. I n our
view, the delay should be modest and we are hopeful  they wi l l  receive the FDA's  approval  in 2025.

·    In June, Immunocore's melanoma data showed a sub-20% response rate at ASCO.

·    I n June, a lso at AS CO, Merus reported stunning proof-of-concept data in combina�on with P D1 therapies  for the
treatment of head and neck cancer. The data demonstrated a 60+% response rate, further evidencing the drug's
potentia l  to redefine front-l ine standard of care.

·    I n November, Corxel Pharmaceu=cals announced the acceptance by China's  Na�onal  Medical  P roducts



·    I n November, Corxel Pharmaceu=cals announced the acceptance by China's  Na�onal  Medical  P roducts
Administration (NMPA) of the New Drug Appl ication (NDA) for Aficamten, an inves�ga�onal , next-in-class  selec�ve
smal l  molecule cardiac myosin inhibitor for the treatment of obstructive hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM).

 

Financial Milestones

·    I n January, Bayer AG and RTW  I nvestments  announced the US 162 mi l l ion ini�al  clos ing of a  Series  D financing in
Ji Xing. Bayer and Ji Xing concurrently announced a new strategic col labora�on focused on cardiovascular
diseases  in China. 

·    I n February, Kyverna Therapeu=cs priced i ts  US 319 mi l l ion I P O  and began trading on Nasdaq Global  Select
Market under the ticker "KYTX".

·    I n February, the Group par�cipated in the US 170 mi l l ion Series  D financing round of BioAge Labs. The capital  wi l l
be used to fund P hase 2 tria ls  for Azelaprag, an oral  drug with the poten�al  to increase weight loss  and prevent
muscle loss  when used together with a  GLP.

·    In March, Lenz Therapeutics went publ ic through the comple�on of a  merger with Graphite Bio and now trades  on
the Nasdaq Global  Market under the ticker "LENZ".

·    I n March, the Group par�cipated in the Series  A financing round of Mirador Therapeu=cs, ra is ing over US 400
mil l ion for i ts  launch. The Group has  worked with Mirador's team previous ly, when they led Prometheus
Biosciences to i ts  acquis i tion by Merck for US 10.8 bi l l ion in 2023. 

·    I n Apri l , the Group par�cipated in the US 160.5 mi l l ion Series  C  financing round of O bsidian Therapeu=cs, a
cl inical  s tage biotech pioneering engineered cel l  and gene therapies .

·    I n May, the Group par�cipated in Santa Ana Bio's Series  A financing round that ra ised US168 mi l l ion. Santa Ana i s
a  biotech company developing a  pipel ine of innova�ve therapeu�cs  and leveraging i ts  mul�-omics  pla1orm to
unlock the ful l  potentia l  of precis ion medicines.

·    I n June, N umab Therapeu=cs announced that Johnson & Johnson would acquire i ts  whol ly owned subs idiary,
Yel low Jersey Therapeu�cs, for US1.25 bi l l ion in cash. Yel low Jersey Therapeu�cs  holds  the rights  to Numab's
NM26, a  first-in-class , bi -specific an�body targe�ng two cl inical ly proven pathways  in atopic derma��s, the most
common inflammatory skin disease. The transaction completed in July.

·    I n July Artiva Biotherapeutics priced i ts  I P O  at US 167 mi l l ion and began trading on Nasdaq Global  Market under
the ticker "ARTV".

·    I n August, the Company made a new investment in the seed round of Jade Biosciences, Inc. that ra ised US 80
mi l l ion for i ts  launch. The funding wi l l  be used to support Jade's  plans  to develop targeted therapies  for
indications  with high unmet need across  inflammation and immunology.

 
·    In September, BioAge Labs, Inc. ("BioAge") completed a US 198 mi l l ion I P O  and now trades  on Nasdaq Global  Select

Market under the ticker "BIOA".

·    I n September, the Company co-led Ak=s O ncology's Series  B round, ra is ing US 175 mi l l ion in financing to further
advance i ts  proprietary pipel ine of novel  targeted alpha radiopharmaceu�cals  to treat a  broad range of sol id
tumours .

 
·    I n O ctober, the Company announced the launch of new por1ol io company, Kailera Therapeu=cs. The US 400

mil l ion Series  A financing round was co-led by RTW  I nvestments  a longs ide Atlas  Venture and Bain Capital  Li fe
Sciences, with par�cipa�on from Lyra Capital . Kai lera is  developing a  broad, advanced, and differen�ated
por1ol io of cl inical -stage injectable and oral  therapies  that have demonstrated poten�al  as  best-in-class
treatments  for the treatment of chronic weight management.

·    I n O ctober, the Company invested in the US 115 mi l l ion Series  C  financing round of Evommune, Inc. The Company
received a legacy pos i�on in Evommune earl ier in 2024 when i t acquired the assets  of Arix Bioscience. Evommune
is  a  cl inical -stage biotechnology company discovering and developing new ways  to treat immune-mediated
inflammatory diseases.

 
·    I n November, the Company made a new investment in the seed round of Mantle Therapeutics. Mantle is  a  biotech

company targeting the treatment of rare, fatal  diseases  across  multiple modal i ties .
 
·    I n December, the Company made a new investment in O Qmo Pharma, a  company pioneering bi func�onal

medicines  to extend the l ives  of people l iving with cancer. The Series  A financing round of over US 140 mi l l ion wi l l
accelerate the lead asset, Jankistomig, a  fi rst-in-class  PD1/VEGFR2 bi functional  antibody for multiple sol id tumour
indications, and a pipel ine of fol low-on bi functional  assets .

 
·    I n December the Company made a new investment in the Series  A round of Dutch biotech, Alesta Therapeu=cs, a

company focused on developing transforma�ve smal l  molecule therapies  for rare diseases. I ts  lead asset i s  an
oral ly ac�ve therapeu�c candidate for hypophosphatas ia  (H P P ), a  rare gene�c disorder caused by muta�ons in
the ALPL gene.

 
·    I n December the Company made a new investment in the Series  A round of City Therapeutics, a  biopharmaceu�cal

company developing a  pipel ine of next-genera�on R NAi-based medicines  to make a s ignificant impact for pa�ents
across  multiple therapeutic areas.

 
·    I n December Corxel announced that i t had entered into a  defini�ve agreement whereby Sanofi would acquire i ts

exclus ive rights  to develop and commercial ise Aficamten in Greater China for an undisclosed amount. The
transaction has  s ince closed.  

 
Portfolio breakdown and new investments
 
Core publ ic pos i�ons are typical ly investments  that were added to the por1ol io as  private investments , reflec�ng the key
focus  of the Group's  strategy. Our investment approach is  defined as  ful l  l i fe cycle and, therefore, involves  retaining private
investments  beyond their I P O s; hence the core por1ol io cons ists  of both privately-held and publ icly-l i s ted companies  and
royalty investments .
 
As  of 31 December 2024, the Group's  core pos i�ons accounted for 67% of NAV (2023: 67%) and included fi9y-four



As of 31 December 2024, the Group's  core pos i�ons accounted for 67% of NAV (2023: 67%) and included fi9y-four
companies  (2023: 36) in private and publ ic biotech and medtech companies  and royalty investments . We selected these
investments  based upon our rigorous  assessment of the science, commercial  poten�al  and valua�ons. Table 3 shows the
top ten portfol io investments  at the end of the reporting period.
 
Core private investments  accounted for 30% of NAV at 31 December 2024 (2023: 18%) across  thirty-three investments
(2023: 22). The increase in exposure and number of investments  in the repor�ng period reflects  the addi�on of several  new
private pos i�ons (see Table 4 a longs ide the new private investments  from Arix (Ensoma, Evommune, Depixus, Sorriso and
Amplyx) less  Kyverna, BioAge and Artiva which went publ ic via  IPOs and Lenz, which went publ ic via  a  reverse merger.
 
Core publ ic investments  accounted for 34% of NAV (2023: 39%) across  nineteen pos i�ons (2023: 12). The change in
exposure and number of investments  mostly reflects  underlying performance, the gradua�on of Kyverna and Lenz to the
publ ic markets  and the addition of Akero, Urogen, 89Bio and Merus.
 
Royal�es  accounted for 3% of NAV (2023: 10%) across  two investments  (2023: 2): RTW  I nvestments ' 4010 Royalty Fund
(4010) and RTW  Royalty 2. These investments  are cash genera�ve, providing l i fe sciences  exposure that i s  uncorrelated to
the vola�l i ty of the equity markets , and have l imited scien�fic risk due to their being typical ly constructed around
commercial  products . The reduc�on in exposure reflects  a  rebalanced exposure to 4010 a9er new investors  came into the
fund and the sale and transfer of a  portion of RTW Royalty 2's  underlying assets .
 
"O ther publ ic" l i s ted companies  make up 31% of the Group's  NAV at 31 December 2024 (2023: 20%). The "other publ ic"
por1ol io segment is  des igned as  a  cash management strategy to mi�gate the drag of seVng as ide cash for future
deployment into core pos i�ons and to provide ready cash as  needed for those purchases. The 50 "other publ ic" holdings
are careful ly selected, mostly matching, on a pro-rata bas is , the long investments  held in our private funds  and general ly
rebalanced on a monthly bas is . The investments  represented in this  por1ol io are s imi larly categorised as  innova�ve
biotechnology and medical  technology companies  developing and commercial is ing poten�al ly disrup�ve and
transforma�onal  products  but are general ly later stage (both in terms of cl inical  development and dura�on as  a  publ ic
company), have larger market capital isa�ons and have greater trading l iquidity than our core publ ic pos i�ons. The
average market capital isa�on of the "other publ ic" holdings  is  8.8b at 31 December 2024. Avai lable cash at 31 December
2024 was 2%, s ignificantly lower than at the same point last year (13%). The elevated cash pos i�on at 31 December 2023
was in prepara�on for the purchase of a  stake in Arix Bioscience, which closed in January 2024. From �me to �me, we may
make use of deriva�ves  and other instruments  to manage individual  pos i�on s izing for the purpose of efficient por1ol io
management. In 2024, the use of derivatives  and hedging shorts  increased for this  reason.
 
O ur "ful l  l i fe cycle" por1ol io is  divers ified across  cl inical  s tages, capital  pos i�on (i .e., equity and royalty), treatment
modal i�es, and therapeu�c focus  giving i t mul�ple, differen�ated return levers  and horizons. By construc�ng the por1ol io
in such a way, investors  get exposure to the most innova�ve parts  of a  highly specia l ised sector with the explos ive
potentia l  of companies  that successful ly navigate cl inical , regulatory or commercial  inflection points .
 
W hi le the por1ol io is  s�l l  majori ty invested in US-based companies , we are commiUed to adding UK  and EU investments  in
an effort to support the best assets  across  the globe and help foster local  biotech ecosystems. W hen we first came to
market in O ctober 2019, we had zero exposure to the UK , now two of our top ten pos i�ons are based in the UK : I mmunocore
(publ ic: "IMCR") and Artios  (private).
 
Looking forward, we expect the total  por1ol io sector a l loca�on to remain close to 80% biopharmaceu�cal  assets  and 20%
medical  technology assets . I n l ine with prospectus  guidance, we an�cipate two-thirds  of new private investments  wi l l  be
made in mid- to later-stage venture companies  and one-third focused on active company bui lding around the discovery and
development or l icens ing and distribution of promis ing assets . Royalty investments  wi l l  be l imited to approximately 15% of
NAV. 
 
Table 3. Top ten core portfolio positions as of 31 December 2024¹
 

Portfolio Company Description Ticker Therapeutic Area Clinical stage Expected upcoming catalyst % NAV

Corxel

RTW Investments incubated biotech
committed to bringing innovative
therapies to underserved patients
with cardiometabolic diseases.

Private Cardiovascular Phase 3 CX11 global Ph2 trial begins
Q2 2025

8.5%

Avidity
Antibody conjugated RNA medicines
company. Lead program for myotonic
dystrophy.

RNA Rare Disease Phase 3 FSHD trial update in H1 2025 7.3%

Tarsus
Biotech developing first-in-class
therapeutics for ophthalmic
conditions.

TARS Ophthalmology Commercial Q1 earnings in April 6.0%

Akero

Clinical-stage company developing
treatments for patients with serious
metabolic diseases, including non-
alcoholic steatohepatitis.

AKRO Metabolic Phase 3 Ph3 SYNCHRONY data H1 2026 5.2%

Rocket

Gene therapy platform company for
rare paediatric diseases. Four
clinical programs for Fanconi
anaemia, Danon, LAD, and PKD

RCKT Rare Disease Phase 3 Danon patient dosing and
PKP2 data H1 2025

5.1%

Artios

Developing breakthrough cancer
treatments that target DNA Damage
Response pathways. RTW Bio
position increased as part of Arix
transaction. 

Private Oncology Phase 2 ART0380 Ph1 data in Q2 4.9%

Kailera

RTW Investments new company
creation based on a pipeline of
injectable GLP-GIP and oral GLP drugs
in-licensed from Jiangsu Hengrui
Pharmaceuticals, one of China's
leading biopharma companies.

Private Metabolic Phase 3 June 2025 - high dose KAI7535
China data

3.4%

Ensoma

Genomic medicines company
developing one-time, in
vivo treatments that precisely
engineer any cell of the
hematopoietic system for immuno-
oncology, genetic disease and other
therapeutic applications.

Private Rare Disease Preclinical
Chronic granulomatous

disease Phase 1 Q2 2025 2.6%

Immunocore
T-cell receptor therapy company
focused on oncology and infectious IMCR Oncology Commercial HIV MAD H125 2.3%



Immunocore focused on oncology and infectious
disease.

IMCR Oncology Commercial HIV MAD H125 2.3%

RTW Royalty Fund

RTW Investments-created private
fund aimed at generating returns
from rights to royalty stream
distributions from biopharma &
medtech life sciences companies.

Private Neurology Commercial
Quarterly earnings for
underlying companies 2.0%

1 Positions are shown on a net basis. Any differences with the Schedule of Investments are due to short holdings.
 
Table 4. New core portfolio investments greater than 50bps in 2024¹
Company name Public/Private Description % NAV

Kailera Private

RTW Investments new company
creation based on a pipeline of
injectable GLP-GIP and oral GLP drugs
in-licensed from Jiangsu Hengrui
Pharmaceuticals, one of China's leading
biopharma companies.

3.4%

Ensoma² Private

Genomic medicines company
developing one-time, in
vivo treatments that precisely engineer
any cell of the hematopoietic system
for immuno-oncology, genetic disease
and other therapeutic applications.

2.6%

Evommune² Private

Clinical stage biotechnology company
developing novel therapies to treat
immune-mediated chronic
inflammatory diseases.

1.1%

Aktis Private

Developing a proprietary pipeline of
novel targeted alpha
radiopharmaceuticals to treat a broad
range of solid tumours.

0.8%

Jade Private

Developing a pipeline of therapies
aimed at transforming the standard of
care for patients living with
autoimmune diseases.

0.6%

Ottimo Private
Biotech company focused on the
development of cancer therapies for
solid tumours. 

0.5%

Akero Public

Clinical-stage company developing
treatments for patients with serious
metabolic diseases, including
metabolic dysfunction-associated
steatohepatitis (MASH).

5.2%

89Bio Public

Clinical-stage biopharmaceutical
company developing innovative
therapies to treat patients with liver
and cardiometabolic diseases.

1.2%

Merus Public

Public, clinical-stage oncology company
developing full-length human bispecific
and trispecific antibody therapeutics
with a broad application for human
disease, with a focus on head and neck
cancer.

0.8%

1 Includes new privates, re-designations   from "other public" to core public and Arix acquisition positions.
2 Arix-acquired position
 
 
Royalty Financing
 
What is royalty financing?
Financing based on royalty payments . I n exchange for an upfront payment, investors  receive quarterly cash payments
based on a pre-determined percentage of the future revenues of a  specified product or asset. W ithin healthcare, royalty
financing is  a  growing source of funding for smal l  and medium-s ized companies  launching new drugs. A bespoke solu�on
that a l igns  the interest of the provider/investor with the company through revenue par�cipa�on, whi le avoiding some of
the negatives  of debt (i .e. covenants , refinancing, warrant coverage etc.) i s  an increas ingly popular one.
 
How does RTW Bio gain exposure to royalty financing?
Historical ly, RTW  Bio has  made royalty investments  directly a longs ide other RTW  I nvestments  funds  through individual
vehicles  such at RTW  Royalty 1, which held the Mavacamten royalty that was  subsequently sold to Bristol  Myers  Squibb.
Since 2023, RTW  Bio has  gained exposure to royal�es  through the RTW  I nvestments-managed 4010 Royalty Fund ("4010")
on a no fee bas is . I t i s  expected that RTW  Bio wi l l  con�nue to gain exposure to royal�es  through successor vintages  of
4010. Investing through a co-mingled drawdown fund has  several  benefi ts  from a cost and administration perspective.
 
The 4010 Royalty Fund
The 4010 Royalty Fund is  looking to generate uncorrelated, income-oriented returns  for investors  by targe�ng a gap in
financing avai lable to smal l  and medium-s ized companies  launching first-in-class  or best-in-class  products  with high
unmet needs. RTW  I nvestments ' ful l  l i fe cycle investment pla1orm provides  4010 with several  advantages  by seeing more
royalty opportuni�es  earl ier and with greater underwri�ng ins ight. These advantages  combined with RTW  I nvestments ' in-
house transac�onal  capabi l i�es  a l low i t to offer hol is�c financing solu�ons to companies  and to structure innova�ve
deals  to protect downside for investors .
 
Table 5. NAV capital breakdown as of 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023
 
Portfolio grouping % of NAV at 31 Dec 2024 % of NAV at 31 Dec 2023

Core private 30.3% 17.6%

Core publ ic 34.1% 39.3%



Royalties 2.7% 9.8%

Other publ ic 30.5% 20.4%

Avai lable Cash¹ 2.3% 12.9%

Total 100% 100%
1 As defined in Alternative Performance Measures.
 
 
F igure 1. Core porAolio breakdown, by (A ) Modality, (B) TherapeuDc focus, (C ) C linical stage and (D) Geography as of 31
December 2024. Except for clinical stage, these breakdowns do not include royalty vehicles.
 
 

 
               
 

 



 

Table 6. Core portfolio positions greater than 50 bps, as of 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 ¹̛  ⁵
 

Portfolio Company Private or
Public²

% of Group's net
assets at 31/12/2024

% of Group's net
assets at 31/12/2023

Corxel Private 8.5% 7.9%
Avidity3 Publ ic 7.3% 1.4%
Tarsus Publ ic 6.0% 1.5%
Akero Publ ic 5.2% 0.0%
Rocket Publ ic 5.1% 17.9%
Artios Private 4.9% 0.2%
Kai lera Private 3.4% 0.0%
Ensoma  Private 2.6% 0.0%
Immunocore Publ ic 2.3% 7.4%
RTW Royalty Fund Private 2.0% 6.1%
Milestone3 Publ ic 1.7% 2.0%
Beta Bionics Private 1.5% 1.7%
Cargo Publ ic 1.4% 4.0%
89Bio Inc. Publ ic 1.2% 0.0%
Evommune Private 1.1% 0.0%
Lycia Private 1.0% 0.2%
Apogee Therapeutics Publ ic 1.0% 1.8%
Ancora Private 0.9% 1.1%
Aktis Private 0.8% 0.0%
Merus Publ ic 0.8% 0.0%
RTW Royalty 2 Private 0.7% 3.7%
NiKang Private 0.7% 1.4%
Magnol ia Private 0.6% 0.7%
Orchestra⁴ Publ ic 0.6% 2.1%
Jade Private 0.6% 0.0%
Ottimo Private 0.5% 0.0%
1 The aggregate exposure of names below 50 bps, consisting of 26 positions, is 4.8% of the Group's NAV.
2 Names in which the fund owns both private and public securities of a public company are categorised as
public.                                                                                        
3 Includes pre-funded warrants.
4 Includes shares held in the initial SPAC vehicle (HSAC2) that merged with Orchestra in January 2023.
5 Positions are shown on a net basis. Any differences with the Schedule of Investments are due to short holdings.
 
 
Table 7. RTW Investments representation on portfolio company boards as of 31 December 2024
 
Portfolio company¹ RTW representative on the board
Corxel Rod Wong, Peter Fong, Gotham Makker
Magnol ia Ovid Amadi
Nikang Chris  Liu
Rocket Rod Wong, Gotham Makker, Naveen Yalamanchi
Yarrow Rod Wong, Peter Fong, Gotham Makker
RTW Royalty 2 Matthew Bieret
Kai lera Gotham Makker
Ensoma Piratip Pratumsuwan
Artios Chris  Liu
1 In aggregate these represented 26.7% of the Group's NAV at 31 December 2024.
 
 
Table 8. Top 5 "Other Public" portfolio segment holdings as of 31 December 2024¹
 

Position Ticker % of
NAV

Description

Madrigal
Pharmaceuticals  Inc.

MDGL 5.9%

Commercial -stage biopharmaceutical  company focused on
improving care for patients  with non-alcohol ic steatohepati tis
(NASH) and metabol ic dysfunction associated steatohepati tis
(MASH).

Dyne Therapeutics  Inc. DYNE 4.1% Biotechnology company developing ol igonucleotide therapies  for
rare diseases  that affect muscle tissue.

Stoke Therapeutics  Inc. STOK 2.3% Cl inical  s tage biotech developing RNA treatments  for severe
genetic diseases.

PTC Therapeutics  Inc. PTCT 2.0% Commercial -stage global  biopharma developing therapies  for
people l iving with rare neurological  and metabol ic diseases. 
Commercial -stage global  immunology company developing



Argenx SE ARGX 2.0% Commercial -stage global  immunology company developing
treatments  for severe autoimmune diseases.

Total 16.3%
1 Positions are shown on a net basis. Any differences with the Schedule of Investments are due to short holdings.
 
Private Portfolio Valuations and Cash Runway Analysis
 
The core private pos i�ons are the founda�on of the Group's  strategy. They are bui l t on our rigorous  assessment of the best
investment opportuni�es  we can find. We have always  been highly selec�ve in this  area, focus ing only on companies  with
both wel l -founded science and aUrac�ve commercial  opportuni�es. We have benefited from this  discipl ine as  we con�nue
to emerge from a chal lenging capital  markets  environment. We have a private portfol io that i s  wel l -s ized and wel l -funded.
 
As  of 31 December 2024, the average cash runway of our core private companies  was  s l ightly over two years , which
provides  them with sufficient �me to focus  on cl inical  development plans. About a  fi9h have less  than s ix months  of
runway, one of which is  an RTW  I nvestments  company crea�on, which is  by des ign, as  the I nvestment Manager's  funds
have the flexibi l i ty to inject cash when necessary. The remainder are working on various  capital  ra is ing solutions.
 
We hold our private company investments  at 'fa i r value' i .e., the price that would be received to sel l  an asset or paid to
transfer a  l iabi l i ty in an orderly transac�on between market par�cipants . This  i s  assessed in accordance with US GAAP,
u�l is ing valua�on techniques  cons istent with the I nterna�onal  P rivate Equity and Venture Capital  Guidel ines  including,
but not l imited to, the income approach and the market approach. Valua�ons are adjusted both during regular valua�on
cycles  and on an ad hoc bas is  in response to 'trigger events ', which may include changes  in fundamentals , an inten�on to
carry out an I P O, or changes  to the valua�ons of comparable publ ic companies . O ur valua�on process  ensures  that
private companies  are valued in both a fa i r and timely manner.
 
The Board delegates  valua�on of the private investments  to the I nvestment Manager whi le the Board's  Audit CommiUee
oversees  the integri ty of the valua�on process  and conducts  an independent review of the I nvestment Manager's  valua�on
pol icies  and procedures  twice a  year when the interim and annual  statements  are produced and also on an ad hoc bas is
when appropriate.
 
The process  is  overseen at the I nvestment Manager by the RTW  I nvestments  Valua�on CommiUee. The CommiUee is
supported by RTW  I nvestments ' valua�on team that is  independent from the investment team and receives  advice from two
independent third-party valua�on firms. The Valua�on CommiUee approves  valua�ons of private company investments  on
a monthly bas is  and u�l ises  the analys is  of an independent third-party valua�on firm no less  frequently than twice a  year
in helping to determine the fa ir value of each materia l  private investment.
 
Thirty core private and royalty pos i�ons saw a total  of seventy-one valua�on adjustments  in 2024 with an average of two
adjustments  per pos i�on. Fourteen pos i�ons (not including the Arix pos i�ons) were marked up by an average of 38.3%
(excluding Numab, which was marked up by 264% to reflect the deal  with Johnson & Johnson, the average was 21.0%); 11
posi�ons (not including Arix pos i�ons) were marked lower by an average of -20.1%. The balance remained unchanged. 29%
of the markdowns were primari ly driven by changes  to rela�ve comparables  or market-based inputs . 38% of the markups
were primari ly driven by comparables , and 62% were primari ly driven by idiosyncra�c company performance, a  financing
round or transac�on. At year end, the average �me s ince the last third-party valua�on was seven weeks  and an average of
twelve months  had elapsed s ince the last financing round.
 
O f the pos i�ons acquired from Arix, we wrote up the values  of Ar�os, Evommune and Ensoma and we look forward to
seeing them develop further in the future. We wrote down the values  of Depixus, Sorriso and Amplyx which are immateria l
in the context of the whole portfol io.
 
We bel ieve that the value of the private por1ol io is  best demonstrated by go-publ ic events  or transac�ons. The five such
go-publ ic events  in 2024 (including the Numab acquis i�on) saw an average step up from our holding value to the event of
8%. The average MOIC to the event was  1.7x. This  i s  cons istent with our historical  averages  (Figure 2).
 
 
Figure 2. New private investments, private liquidity events¹ and private MOIC²



 
 
1 Liquidity event = IPO, SPAC merger, reverse merger, acquisition from private.
2 Multiple of Invested Capital ("MOIC") represents the ratio of total value to the corresponding amount of total capital invested, expressed  
   as a multiple. Gross MOIC is utilised, which is calculated before giving effect to management fees, carried interest, taxes and other 
   expenses, which would reduce performance and the rate of return.
 
 
Figure 3. Core private portfolio - approximate cash runway as of 31 December 2024
 

 
Table 9. Private Valuation Statistics for 2024
 
Statistic 2024

Number of revaluations  in 2024 71

Average revaluations  per investment 2
Average time s ince last third-party valuation
(weeks)

7

Average time s ince last financing round (years) 1.0

Average valuation change¹ +10.9%

Average mark-up¹ +38.3%

Average mark-down¹ -20.1%

Average step-up to real isation event +7.9%

Average MOIC to real isation event 1.7x
1 Does not include positions acquired in the Arix transaction
 
Sector review and outlook
 
The Russel l  2000 Biotech I ndex and the Nasdaq Biotech I ndex (NBI ) returned +2.5% and -1.4%, respec�vely, in 2024. The
Russel l  2000 Biotech I ndex remains  below levels  first reached in 2018. I nterest rate worries  dominated for much of the
year and con�nued to a9er the US Federal  Reserve's  latest shi9 in December. W hi le the results  of the first round of
I nfla�on Reduc�on Act (I R A) drug nego�a�ons were on the beUer end of expecta�ons, the uncertainty surrounding R F K  Jr's
nomina�on and subsequent appointment as  Trump's  Secretary of Health and Human Services  became a new reason for
some to stay on the s idel ines. Coming into 2024, the biotech sector had already underperformed the S&P  500 by a  record
amount and this  con�nued through the year with -26% and -22% rela�ve performance for the NBI  and the Russel l  2000
Biotech I ndex, respec�vely. El i  Li l ly bas ical ly carried biopharma, genera�ng ~US 200B in market cap whi le the rest of
pharma (-US 180B) and biotech (+US 20B) combined, lost value. The total  market cap of smal l  and midcap biotech is  only
US 700bn, less  than Li l ly a lone and about the same value as  the market cap that Nvidia  lost on "DeepSeek Monday" (i .e.
27th January 2025). I f some flows are diverted from AI -tech to biotech, the impact on biotech could be s ignificant given the
relative market caps  we see these days.
 
Figure 4. Russell 2000 Biotechnology index value

 



 
M&A was too smal l  to get things  going. W hi le five-hundred-mi l l ion-dol lar-plus  acquis i�on volumes remain near record
highs  (27 vs  last year's  record 26), dol lar value dropped to US 44 bi l l ion vs  US 140 bi l l ion in 2023. This  was  the first year
in twenty that we did not see an M&A deal  over US 5 bi l l ion in value as  there was a  shi9 towards  earl ier stage assets  as
some buyers  (namely Li l ly, Novo, AbbVie, and Astra Zeneca) are focused on revenues beyond 2030. To compound maUers ,
China's  bear market has  increased the supply of early-stage assets  looking for capital , giving buyers  more op�ons. Despite
this  dynamic, we don't think this  spel ls  the end for larger late-stage deals . Merck, Bristol , Roche, Novar�s, and Sanofi are
s�l l  on the hunt for revenues this  decade and Li l ly and Novo are sure to get more aggress ive as  their obes ity revenues grow.
Several  large pharma companies  face losses  of exclus ivi ty patent cl iffs  total l ing approximately US 500bn over the next
decade and currently have approximate US 1 tri l l ion of dry powder (cash plus  debt capacity) to make acquis i�ons. O nly
western biotech companies  have the late-stage assets  needed to fil l  their needs  and a more friendly Federal  Trade
Commiss ion (FTC) in the US should lower the barriers  that have discouraged bigger deals  in recent times.
 
Figure 5. US biotech M&A deal volumes and value
 

 
Source: Jefferies Biotech M&A Report 2008-2004 as of 31 December 2024
 
I P O s made incremental  progress  towards  normal isa�on. 17 companies  made i t out this  year versus  12 last year. This  i s
cons istent with a  s low trans i�on from a bear market (less  than 10) to a  healthy one (more than 30). Consol ida�on also
con�nued. A9er peaking in 2021 at 590 publ icly traded smal l  and mid-caps, the number is  now 547. Most smal l  and mid-
cap companies  have been discipl ined around spending, with cash burn trending lower to extend runways. P ubl ic fol low-on
financing ac�vity returned to near record levels  as  companies  with good data were able to raise the capital  they needed.
Venture financing is  extremely robust. Every category from Series  A to D surged in 2024 supported by many "mega-rounds"
(i .e. more than US 250m) in the As  and Bs , the fuel  for future waves  of innovation.
 
Figure 6. US Biopharma Financing Market - IPOs and Follow-Ons
 

 
Source: Bloomberg and Lazard 2024 Life Sciences US Equity Issuance Recap report as of 31 December 2024.
 
 
The F DA approved 56 novel  drugs  this  year, shy of last year's  record-seVng 61, but s�l l  one of the highest in history. Novel
modal i�es  made up 10 vs  14 last year, including two gene therapies , four cel l  therapies , one R NA medicine, and three
bispecifics . 2024 saw notable breakthroughs across  therapeu�c areas  with the first approval  for NAS H (the most severe
form of nonalcohol ic faUy l iver disease), the first cel l  therapy approved for sol id tumours , bispecific data that could
poten�al ly chal lenge Keytruda's  dominance in sol id tumours  and compel l ing C D19 C AR-T data demonstra�ng the
poss ibi l i ty of drug-free remiss ion in autoimmunity, not to men�on the s ignificant advances  in obes ity (more below). I t's
worth no�ng that 56% of last year's  approvals  came from biotech companies  under 5bn in market capital isa�on. This  i s
where the innova�on is . 2025 holds  the poten�al  to be on par with record-seVng 2023 with many highly probably P D UFA
dates  set.
 
Figure 7. The FDA approved 56 novel drugs in 2024



Source: FDA.gov website (CDERS and CBER)
NME = new molecular entity
GtX = gene therapy
 
 
We are tracking how the Department of Human and Health Services  (H H S) could look under R F K  Jr's  leadership. Considering
the scope of the job, guardrai ls , and players  surrounding him, we currently don't expect a  change in direc�on when i t
comes to F DA's  pro-innova�on trend. I nnova�on momentum could go ei ther way, depending more on Dr Marty Makary and
other staff. Separately, we are op�mis�c we could see pharmacy benefit manager (P BM) and insurance reform. I f and when
R F K  Jr uncertainty decl ines , we would note that the sector outperformed the S&P  500 in two of the past three Republ ican
fi rst terms, and we would expect no di fferent an outcome today, given the promis ing science our team is  evaluating dai ly.
 
From a modal i ty or therapeu�c area perspec�ve, oncology, immunology, rare disease and obes ity remain a  focus  with next
genera�on obes ity drugs  probably offering the most exci�ng opportuni�es. We cal l  i t "the 1 tri l l ion GLP-1 revolu�on"
because i t i s  the first innova�on in healthcare - not just drugs, a l l  of healthcare - to create about US 1 tri l l ion in value.
O besity i s  the most common disease in Western society with over 100m obese people in America a lone. I t i s  highly l inked
to three of the top ten causes  of death: cardiovascular, s troke and diabetes. I t i s  a lso strongly associated with other
diseases  l ike cancer, kidney disease and maybe even demen�a. Recent outcome studies  from some of the GLP-1s  are
showing 20-30% improvements  in these other associated diseases  and condi�ons. I t i s  probably the most s ignificant
medical  advance in terms of the sheer impact that we have seen in recent history (more below in the I mpact sec�on). I f you
want to learn more about the science, impact, evolving compe��ve landscape, and the opportuni�es  we see, please check
out The RTW Podcast: "The 1 Tri l l ion GLP-1 Revolution". You can find i t on al l  the main podcast platforms.
 
I n the here and now of pol icy specula�on and publ ic share prices , i t i s  easy to lose s ight of the dras�c longer-term need for
a healthy, innova�ve healthcare system. Global ly, senior popula�ons (i .e. over 65 years  old) are expected to double from
800m in 2024 to 1.6bn in 2050. I n the US, people over 65 represent 18% of the current popula�on but 36% of the health
spending. Innovation is  part of the solution.
 
Figure 8: Percentage of US small- and midcap biotech companies trading at less than cash on their balance sheets at 31
December 2024
 
 
 
 

 
Post period-end updates and other key portfolio company events
 
The following events all occurred in January 2025:
 
Kai lera announced pos i�ve topl ine data from the 8 mg dose of Hengrui  P harmaceu�cals ' P hase 2 cl inical  tria l  (H RS9531-
203) of H RS9531, a  GLP-1/GI P  receptor dual  agonist, in individuals  l iving with obes ity or who are overweight. The cl inical
tria l  results  showed that a  once-weekly subcutaneous injec�on of the 8 mg dose demonstrated a sta�s�cal ly s ignificant
placebo-adjusted mean weight loss , with no plateau. Addi�onal ly, 59% of treated par�cipants  achieved a weight loss
greater than 20%. The tria l  results  a lso demonstrated a favourable safety profile. These results  increase our confidence
that Kai lera is  one of the leading players  in next-genera�on obes ity management and bode wel l  for Kai lera's  planned
global  Phase 3 tria l .
 
Akero (Nasdaq: AK RO ) released prel iminary topl ine results  from i ts  P hase 2b study evalua�ng the efficacy and safety of i ts
lead product candidate efruxi fermin (EFX ) in pa�ents  with compensated ci rrhos is  due to metabol ic dysfunc�on-associated
steatohepa��s M AS H. Treated pa�ents  demonstrated a sta�s�cal ly s ignificant improvement in fibros is  with no worsening
of M AS H, represen�ng a 24% effect s ize over placebo at 15%. Upon the news, shares  in Akero, a  5.2% pos i�on at year end,
rose 100%.
 
Cargo Therapeu�cs  announced i t was  hal�ng work on i ts  lead candidate a9er a  fa i led P hase 2 study, fol lowed a couple
months  later by the discon�nua�on of i ts  en�re pipel ine, and the announcement that i t would lay off most of i ts  staff and
seek a reverse merger or other bus iness  combination.
 
Beta Bionics  went publ ic on 30 January, i ssuing 12 mi l l ion shares  of common stock at US 17.00 each, ra is ing proceeds of

https://www.rtwfunds.com/news-events/insights/the-1-trillion-glp-1-revolution-with-rod-wong/


US 204 mi l l ion. The shares  now trade on the Nasdaq Global  Market under the ticker symbol  "BBNX".
 
RTW Investments, LP
28 March 2025
 
 

RTW Bio's Long-Term Strategy
 
Transforming the lives of millions
RTW  Bio's  long-term strategy is  anchored in iden�fying sources  of transforma�onal  innova�ons with s ignificant
commercial  poten�al  by engaging in deep scien�fic research and a rigorous  idea genera�on process , complemented by
years  of investment, company bui lding, and both transactional  and legal  expertise.
 
Identify
Identi fy transformational  innovations
 
The I nvestment Manager has  developed exper�se through a comprehensive study of industry and academic efforts  in
targeted areas  of s ignificant innova�on. Thanks  to the decoding of the human genome, there is  more clari ty around the
causes  of disease. Coupled with exci�ng new modal i�es  that can address  gene�c diseases  in a  targeted way, drug
innovation is  accelerating.
 
Engage
Engage in deep research to unlock value
The I nvestment Manager has  developed repeatable internal  processes , combining technology and manpower to
comprehensively cover cri�cal  drivers  of innova�on across  the globe. We seek to iden�fy, through rigorous  scien�fic
analys is , biopharmaceu�cal  and medical  technology assets  that have a high probabi l i ty of becoming commercial ly viable
products , drama�cal ly changing the course of treatment, and bringing effec�ve, or in some cases, even ful ly cura�ve
outcomes to patients .
 
Build
Bui ld new companies  around promis ing academic l icences
The I nvestment Manager has  capabi l i�es  to partner with univers i�es  and in-l icense academic programmes, by providing
capital  and infrastructure to entrepreneurs  to advance scien�fic programmes. Par�cularly in rare disease, there is  o9en
l i ttle existing research and few treatment options, so forming a rare disease-focused company is  a  way of shining a  l ight on
this  space and creating a  roadmap to developing potentia l ly curative treatments .
 
Support
Support investments  through the ful l  l i fe cycle
A key part of the I nvestment Manager's  compe��ve advantage is  the abi l i ty to determine at which point in a  company's  l i fe
cycle we should support the target asset or pipel ine. As  a  ful l  l i fe cycle investor, RTW  I nvestments  provides  growth capital ,
crea�ve financing solu�ons, capital  markets  exper�se, and guidance. Taking a  long-term, ful l  l i fe cycle approach and
having an evergreen structure enables  us  to avoid the pi1al ls  and structural  constraints  of venture-only or publ ic-only
vehicles . RTW  I nvestments ' focus  is  on becoming the best investors  and company bui lders  we can be, del ivering
exceptional  results  to shareholders  and making a  pos itive impact on patients ' l ives .
 
 

Strategy in Action
 
 
Impact Focus: Treating Obesity and Related Conditions
 
Obesity is the most common disease in Western society
O besity affects  more than 100 mi l l ion US adults , more than 764 mi l l ion people global ly and is  the most common disease in
Western society.
 
What are GLP-1 drugs?
GLP-1 drugs, a lso known as  GLP-1 receptor agonists  or incre�n mime�cs, mimic the ac�on of a  natural ly occurring
hormone cal led glucagon-l ike pep�de-1 (GLP-1), which is  produced in the intes�nes. GLP-1 plays  a  crucia l  role in
regula�ng blood sugar levels  by s�mula�ng insul in release, s lowing stomach emptying and reducing appe�te. GLP-1 drugs
work by binding to the same receptors  as  the natural  GLP-1 hormone, triggering these same ac�ons. This  can help improve
blood sugar control  in people with type 2 diabetes  and promote weight loss  in people with obes ity or who are overweight.
The term "GLP-1 drugs" has  become shorthand for a  broader category of (incre�n mime�cs) drugs  that are used to treat
obes ity, so are informal ly known as  "obes ity drugs".



Note: * BMI ≥30kg/m2; ** BMI ≥40kg/m2
Source: World Obesity Atlas, March 2023 report; S�erman 2021 Na�onal Health Sta�s�cs Report; Prospec�ve Studies Collabora�on 2009
Lancet
 
 
Obesity Drugs: the most significant medical advance in terms of the sheer impact that we have seen in recent history
GLP-1 drugs  l ike Wegovy and Mounjaro have gained s ignificant populari ty for weight loss  s ince 2021 when the F DA
approved semaglu�de (Wegovy) for chronic weight management in adults  with obes ity or who are overweight with weight-
related condi�ons. GLP-1 drugs  were ini�al ly developed to treat type 2 diabetes. I n fact, Wegovy is  a  higher-dose
formula�on of Ozempic, a  drug that was  a lready marketed for diabetes. The first GLP-1 agonist, exena�de (ByeUa), was
approved by the F DA in 2005 and i tera�ve innova�on over the subsequent twenty years  has  brought us  to where we are
today.
 
O besity i s  a  major risk factor for a  number of chronic diseases  l ike diabetes , hypertens ion and l iver disease, as  wel l  as
cardiovascular diseases  such as  heart disease and stroke, which are the leading causes  of death worldwide. So, the health
impacts  of the obes ity drugs  go wel l  beyond diabetes  and weight loss . I n fact, recent outcome studies  from some of the GLP-
1s  are showing 20-30% improvements  in some of these diseases.

 
Groundbreaking data from SELECT tria l : GLP-1s  shown to improve MACE¹ outcomes in overweight or obese adults

 
Source: Lincoff AM, Brown-Frandsen K, Colhoun HM, et al. Semaglutide and cardiovascular outcomes in obesity without diabetes. N Engl J Med
2023;389:2221-32. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2307563
 
1 MACE, or major adverse cardiovascular events, refers to cardiovascular death, myocardial infarction (heart attack), stent thrombosis (blood
clot in a coronary artery stent), repeat revascularisation (bypass surgery), ischemic stroke.
 
 
RTW Bio and obesity drugs / GLP-1s
Currently, El i  Li l ly and Novo Nordisk are leading the way with their GLP-1 drugs  with the only currently approved drugs.
However, their rates  of adverse s ide effects  are not op�mal , and there are a  lot of ways  in which these drugs  can be
improved. We are s�l l  early in the current cycle of obes ity drug development and the next genera�on of drugs  are targe�ng
many of the shortcomings  of the incumbents .
 
O besity (and i ts  related condi�ons) i s  a  large and growing focus  for RTW  Bio, and we are at forefront of the second wave of
the obes ity revolu�on, leveraging cuVng-edge science and strategic partnerships  to invest in exci�ng assets .  W ith a
por1ol io of private obes ity investments , RTW  Bio is  unique among l i s ted investment companies  for shareholders  looking
for exposure on the private s ide to the area.
 
 
 

 
https://www.corxelbio.com/
 
Corxel  Pharmaceuticals
8.5% of NAV (2023: 7.9%)
 
Corxel  i s  a  leading biotech company headquartered in the US and China, focused on developing innovative cardiometabol ic
therapies  global ly. Backed by RTW  I nvestments , LP, Corxel  (formerly Ji  X ing) was  founded in 2019 and has  been commiUed
to bringing innova�ve science and medicines  to underserved pa�ents  around the world. W ith a  strong and further
developing asset pipel ine, industry leading ta lent, and pa�ent-centric focus, Corxel  i s  dedicated to del ivering meaningful
and lasting impact on patients .  
 
I n December, Corxel  announced the acquis i�on of C X 11, an oral  smal l  molecule glucagon-l ike pep�de-1 receptor agonist
(GLP-1 R A), for worldwide (excluding Greater China) development and commercial isa�on, from Vincentage. C X 11 is  an
inves�ga�onal , oral  smal l  molecule GLP-1 R A for the treatment of cardiometabol ic diseases, including obes ity and type 2
diabetes. GLP-1 R As have been shown to lower body weight, improve insul in sens i�vity, and reduce glucose and overal l
appe�te. C X 11, in a  once dai ly, oral ly avai lable formula�on, could offer convenience and access ibi l i ty to pa�ents , and
lower the cost of manufacturing compared to injectables . I n a  P hase 2 cl inical  tria l  conducted in China, C X 11
demonstrated compe��ve weight loss  with Li l ly's  O rforgl ipron, the leading smal l  molecule in development. The
registra�onal  P hase 3 study in obese and overweight pa�ents  in China was ini�ated in November 2024. Corxel  plans  to
initiate a  global  (excluding Greater China) Phase 2 study in 2025.
 

https://www.corxelbio.com/


 
We are exci ted about the poten�al  of C X 11, which has  shown impress ive efficacy in weight reduc�on, making i t a  poten�al
best-in-class  oral  smal l  molecule GLP-1 R A. There are currently no oral  smal l  molecule GLP 1's  avai lable. The oral  pep�de
Rybelsus  has  l imited efficacy and is  cumbersome to take, requiring 30 minutes  of fas�ng, no drinking, and no other
medica�ons taken at the same �me. Li l ly i s  l ikely to be the first to bring one to market and we would expect C X 11 to be
second or third. We bel ieve this  i s  not a  "winner takes  a l l  market", and there is  room for several  players  given the very
large market potentia l .
 
 

 
https://www.kai lera.com/
 
Kai lera Therapeutics
3.4% of NAV (2023: N/A)
 
Kai lera is  a  cl inical -stage biopharmaceu�cal  company developing a  broad and advanced therapeu�c pipel ine that i s
poised to del iver differen�ated treatment op�ons for obes ity and related condi�ons. Kai lera is  commiUed to developing
therapies  that give people the power to transform their l ives  and elevate their overal l  health. The company was founded in
2024 and backed by RTW  I nvestments  a long with Atlas  Venture and Bain Capital  Li fe Sciences  with par�cipa�on from Lyra
Capital .
 
I n January 2025, Kai lera's  injected GLP-1/GI P  dual  agonist K AI -9531 demonstrated poten�al ly best-in-class  obes ity data in
a P hase 2 tria l  in China conducted by Jiangsu Hengrui  P harmaceu�cals . K AI -9531 was one of three assets  Kai lera l icensed
from Hengrui  at i ts  launch, acquiring the worldwide rights  (excluding Greater China) to develop the drugs. W ith 22.8%
addi�onal  weight loss  compared to placebo treatments  at 36 weeks, i t beats  the 21% shown by El i  Li l ly's  Retatru�de.
Kai lera is  preparing for i ts  upcoming global  P hase 3 study of the same asset. These data increase our confidence that
Kai lera is  one of the leading players  in next-generation obes ity management.
 
Kai lera's  K AI -9531 is  compe�ng for best-in-class  injectable efficacy with a  favourable gastro-intes�nal  adverse effects
profi le.
 

 
1 With placebo adjustment.
Amycretin and Semaglutide are Novo Nordisk drugs; Retatrutide and Tirzepatide are Eli Lilly drugs.
Sources: KAI9531 and Amycre�n data from company press releases; Retratru�de data from ADA 2023 mee�ng; Tirzepa�de and Semaglu�de
data from DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2206038 and DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2032183.
 
 

Operational and Financial Review for the Year
Innovative asset growth

 
MARKET CAPITALISATION
The Company's  market capital isa�on increased from U 295 mi l l ion at 31 December 2023 to US 470 mi l l ion at 31 December
2024. The Company issued 181,901,165 shares  in 2024 in conjunc�on with the Arix acquis i�on and repurchased
8,500,000 shares , so the 59% increase in market capital isa�on was due to the increase in the shares  outstanding s ince the
share price was  marginal ly down from 2023 to 2024.
 
ORDINARY NAV
The O rdinary NAV increased from US 399 mi l l ion to US 607 mi l l ion during the year, which was due largely to the
acquis i tion of the assets  of Arix Bioscience.
 
NAV PER ORDINARY SHARE
The NAV per share decreased from US 1.90 per share to US 1.81 per share. The main driver of this  decrease was the share
price performance of Rocket P harmaceu�cals  (-7.0%), I mmunocore (-3.1%) and Cargo (-1.5%) as  wel l  as  the other publ ic
portfol io (-3.4%) and the di lution from the Arix transaction (-5.0%).
 
PREMIUM / DISCOUNT
The Company's  shares  traded on average at a  c.24% discount to NAV due to reduced market demand for growth and venture
capital  assets  during the repor�ng period. At year end, the Company's  O rdinary Shares  were trading at a  23% discount to
NAV (2023: 26% discount to NAV).  The modest reduc�on in US and UK  interest rates  during the period was offset by ris ing
US treasury and gi l t yields  resulting in only a  modest improvement in the rating of the company's  shares.
 
TOTAL RETURN TO SHAREHOLDERS BASED ON ORDINARY NAV
As the Company has  not paid dividends, the total  return for the year of -4.6% (2023: +23.5%) equates  to the decrease in NAV
per Ordinary Share.
 

https://www.kailera.com/


 
TOTAL RETURN TO SHAREHOLDERS BASED ON SHARE PRICE
The share price return of -0.6% was the result of the decl ine in the company's  NAV per share being offset by a  modest re-
rating of i ts  discount.  The shares  remained at a  discount during the year a l though the discount modestly narrowed.
 
ONGOING CHARGES
The Group's  ongoing charges  ra�o is  1.75% (2023: 1.87%), calculated in accordance with the AI C  recommended
methodology, which excludes  non-recurring costs  and uses  the average NAV in i ts  calculation.
 
Highlights
 
Market Capital isation as  of 31 Dec 2024
2024: US 470m
2023: US 295m
2022: US 257m
 
Ordinary NAV as  of 31 Dec 2024
 
2024: US 607m
2023: US 399m
2022: US 326m
 
Discount to NAV as  of 31 Dec 2024
2024: -22.8%
2023: -26.0%
2022: -21.2%
 
Ongoing charges  as  of 31 Dec 2024
2024: 1.8%
2023: 1.9%
2022: 1.9%
 
 

Key Performance Indicators
 
Measuring our performance
 
The Board has  identi fied the fol lowing indicators  for assess ing the Group's  annual  performance in meeting i ts  objectives:
 
Financial KPIs
 
NAV Growth
PERFORMANCE
Performance of the portfol io companies  and cash management strategy net of a l l  fees  and costs
 
KEY FACTORS

·      Portfol io performance and progress ion through cl inical  tria ls
·      Cash management
·      Capital  pool  and deployment
·      Scienti fic and financial  ri sks
·      Market context including interest rates  and bond yields

 
PROGRESS
Ordinary NAV
2024: -4.6%
2023: +23.5%
 
During the repor�ng period this  was  largely driven by publ ic companies ' share price performance. A9er strong
performance in 2023, Rocket's  shares  performed poorly in 2024. The company did not del iver on cl inical  and regulatory
�mel ines  for i ts  two lead programs, but despite the setbacks , we think both the Danon and Fanconi  anaemia programs
con�nue to have transforma�ve poten�al  for pa�ents . I mmunocore reported melanoma data at AS CO  showing a
disappoin�ng sub-20% response rate. There was no materia l  fundamental  news on Cargo during the financial  year, but
with the next catalyst not forecast un�l  2025, the share price gave back much of the gains  i t made s ince i ts  I P O  in
November 2023. A9er period end, Cargo announced i t would discon�nue i ts  en�re pipel ine, lay off most of i ts  staff and
seek a reverse merger or other bus iness  combination.
 
FUTURE INTENT
Achieve superior long-term capital  appreciation; target an annual ised total  return of 20% over the medium term
 
LINK TO STRATEGY
Identi fying
Engaging
Bui lding
Supporting
 
LINK TO PRINCIPAL RISKS
Fai lure to achieve investment objective
Exposure to global  pol i tical  and economic risks
Cl inical  Development & Regulatory Risks
 
 
Total shareholder return
PERFORMANCE
Del ivering value to the shareholders
 
KEY FACTORS

·      Portfol io performance



·      Portfol io performance
·      Liquidity of RTW Bio shares
·      General  market sentiment

 
PROGRESS
Share Price Return
2024: -0.6%
2023: +16.0%
 
The company's  share price recorded a smal ler decl ine than i ts  NAV as  fa l l ing interest rates  led to an increase in demand
for early stage and venture capital  investments  despite muted returns  from the Biotech sector.
 
FUTURE INTENT
Achieve superior long-term capital  appreciation; target an annual ised total  return of 20% over the medium term.
 
LINK TO STRATEGY
Identi fying
Engaging
Bui lding
Supporting
 
LINK TO PRINCIPAL RISKS
Fai lure to achieve investment objective
Exposure to global  pol i tical  and economic risks
Cl inical  Development & Regulatory Risks
 
 
Premium/Discount to NAV
 
PERFORMANCE
The level  of supply and demand for the Company's  shares
 
KEY FACTORS (in order of impact at year end)

·      The percentage of private growth assets  within the Group's  portfol io
·      Portfol io performance
·      Liquidity of the Company's  shares
·      Increased vis ibi l i ty with key UK shareholder audience (London office, UK distribution partner)

 
PROGRESS
Premium/discount to NAV (average during the year)
2024: -24%
2023: -25%
 
The discount moderately narrowed during the year. US and UK interest rates  moved in the right direction, but unfortunately
this  was  offset by ris ing US treasury and gi l t yields .
 
FUTURE INTENT
Return to a  premium to NAV such that total  shareholder returns  match or exceed NAV performance
 
LINK TO STRATEGY
Identi fying
Engaging
Bui lding
Supporting
 
LINK TO PRINCIPAL RISKS
Fai lure to achieve investment objective
Exposure to global  pol i tical  and economic risks
 
 
Percent of NAV invested in core portfolio companies
PERFORMANCE
Level  of capital  deployment into core portfol io companies
 
KEY FACTORS

·      Level  of capital  deployment and investment pace, as  wel l  as  avai labi l i ty of funds  to be deployed into new portfol io
companies  and fol low-on investments

 
PROGRESS
NAV invested in core portfol io
2024: 67%
2023: 67%
Deployed into core portfol io companies
 
FUTURE INTENT
Identi fy transformative assets  with high growth potentia l  across  the biopharmaceutical  and medical  technology sectors
 
LINK TO STRATEGY
Identi fying
Engaging
Bui lding
Supporting
 
LINK TO PRINCIPAL RISKS
Cl inical  Development & Regulatory Risks
The Investment Manager rel ies  on key personnel
Exposure to global  pol i tical  and economic risks
 



 
 
Non-financial KPIs
 
Geographically & therapeutically diversified portfolio
 
PERFORMANCE
Measures  the Group's  commitment to invest in best-in-class  science and innovative assets  worldwide
 
KEY FACTORS

·      Continue to divers i fy within the l i fe sciences  sector and support local  biotech ecosystems across  the globe
 
PROGRESS
Therapeutic areas  addressed
2024: 11
2023: 10
Core portfol io companies ' focus  spans  multiple therapeutic areas, treatment modal i ties  and geographies . In 2024,
metabol ic diseases  were added as  a  core therapeutic area, as  the Group pivoted toward a strong focus  on obes ity.
 
FUTURE INTENT
Continue investing in and supporting companies  developing next generation therapies  and technologies  that can
s igni ficantly improve patients ' l ives
 
LINK TO STRATEGY
Identi fying
Engaging
Bui lding
Supporting
 
LINK TO PRINCIPAL RISKS
Cl inical  Development & Regulatory Risks
Exposure to global  pol i tical  and economic risks
 
 
Active and robust pipeline
 
PERFORMANCE
Del ivers  transformational  new treatments  to patients  in need.
 
KEY FACTORS

·      Balance and breadth of the pipel ine across  a l l  cl inical  s tages
·      Data readouts  and progress  through multiple cl inical  s tages
·      Commercial  opportunity and competitive landscape

 
PROGRESS
Core portfol io companies  that have leading programs in a  cl inical  s tage
2024: 30 of 54
2023: 22 of 36
Capturing a  spectrum of early-stage Phase 1 to late stage Pivotal
 
FUTURE INTENT
Progress  towards  del ivering transformational  treatments  to patients  in areas  of high unmet need.
 
LINK TO STRATEGY
Identi fying
Engaging
Bui lding
Supporting
 
LINK TO PRINCIPAL RISKS
Cl inical  Development & Regulatory Risks
Exposure to global  pol i tical  and economic risks
Imposition of pricing controls
 
 

Risk Management
Applying deep scientific expertise with a long-term investment horizon

 
RTW  Bio's  long-term strategy is  anchored in iden�fying transforma�ve assets  with high growth poten�al  across  the
biopharmaceu�cal  and medical  technology sectors . Driven by a  deep scien�fic understanding and a long-term approach to
supporting innovative bus inesses , we invest in companies  developing next-generation therapies  and technologies  that have
the potentia l  to s igni ficantly improve patients ' l ives . With this  s igni ficant opportunity a lso comes risk.
 
RTW  Bio's  risk framework is  overseen by the Audit CommiUee under delega�on from the Board. Mul�ple par�es  contribute
to managing risk, including the Board, the RTW Investments  team, and the Group's  advisers .
 
Risk framework
The risk framework begins  with the Board who oversee the process  to ensure a  robust assessment of principal  risks ,
cons ider current and poten�al  risks , and receive an update from the I nvestment Manager at each Board mee�ng. A risk
register i s  maintained that sets  out principal  risks , their probabi l i�es  and an impact assessment. The RTW  I nvestments
team is  responsible for day-to-day opera�ons and overs ight of the risk framework. The I nvestment Manager has  a  culture
of transparency, ensuring that developments  are shared and addressed �mely, with the benefit of input from mul�ple team
members , and reported to the Board as  appropriate. The Group rel ies  on having highly experienced personnel  at the
Investment Manager to support and manage issues  as  they arise.
 
The Audit CommiUee oversees  and monitors  the risk framework, including reviewing the risk register regularly to ensure i t
properly captures  principal  risks , con�nuously iden�fying poten�al  risks , reviewing the ongoing opera�on and



properly captures  principal  risks , con�nuously iden�fying poten�al  risks , reviewing the ongoing opera�on and
effec�veness  of the control  environment, and ensuring that proposed ac�ons are implemented by the RTW  I nvestments
team. This  process  drives  continuous improvement in risk identi fication and monitoring.
 
Identifying principal risks
The Board uses  both top-down and boUom-up inputs  to evaluate principal  risks . O ver the past year, the Board and the
I nvestment Manager had ongoing discuss ions  to cons ider the Group's  risks . The discuss ions  generated ins ights  into
potentia l  emerging risks  and have helped to focus  attention on additional  areas  for monitoring.
 
The RTW  I nvestments  team carries  out a  boUom-up review, cons idering each por1ol io company, as  wel l  as  internal
opera�ons, both as  a  specific exercise and on an ongoing bas is . The team also draws on assessments  made by
management teams of por1ol io companies . These inputs  are brought together in the risk register, which is  reviewed by the
Audit CommiUee in detai l  each quarter The principal  risks  iden�fied by the Board are set out below. These have not
substan�al ly changed in the last year. The Board also monitors  future risks  that may arise, including the longer-term risks
of changes  to US pharmaceutical  drug pricing and US FDA productivi ty.
 
Risk management structure
 
Board of Directors
Risk management leadership; risk appeti te
 
Audit Committee
Reviews and monitors  the risk framework
 
RTW Investments Team
Risk management is  integral  to the investment process  and financial  management
Implementing and monitoring risk controls ; ri sk reporting
 
Other advisers
Risk identi fication; risk reporting
 
Portfolio companies' management teams
 Risk identi fication and mitigation
 
Risk appetite
The Board is  wi l l ing to accept a  certain level  of risk in order to achieve strategic goals . W here a risk i s  approaching or
moves beyond i ts  target, the Board wi l l  cons ider the actions  being taken to manage i t. This  year the Audit Committee carried
out a  detai led review of the defined risk types, to ensure that they con�nue to reflect the understanding of the Board
and accurately reflect relevant risks . Fol lowing that review, the Audit CommiUee advised the Board that the risk appe�te
remained appropriate, and the Board has  accepted that assessment.
 
 

Principal and Emerging Risks and Uncertainties
Principal risks and how we mitigate them

 
Under the FCA's  Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules , the Directors  are required to identi fy the materia l  ri sks  to
which the Group is  exposed and the steps  taken to mitigate those risks .
 
The Group has  five categories  of risk in i ts  risk register, namely:

·      Investment Risks
·      Operational  Risks
·      Governance/Reputational  Risks
·      External  Risks
·      Emerging Risks

 
 
Investment Risks
1. FAILURE TO ACHIEVE THE INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE
 
RISK DESCRIPTION
The Group's  target return on net assets  i s  not guaranteed and may not be achieved.
 
RISK CONTROL MEASURES
The Board wi l l  monitor and supervise the Group's  performance compared to the target return, s imi lar investment funds  and
broader market condi�ons. W here performance is  unsa�sfactory, the Board wi l l  discuss  the appropriate response with the
Investment Manager.
 
STABLE
 
STRATEGIC LINK
Identi fy
Engage
Support
 
 
Operational Risks
 
2. UNFAVOURABLE TAX EXPOSURE
 
RISK DESCRIPTION
W ith the prior year acquis i�on of Arix Bioscience, the Group's  structure became more complex, and along with this
complexity came the poten�al  for new tax-related risk. As  of year-end, subs idiaries  acquired or created for the transac�on
were ei ther in l iquidation or in the process  of winding up.
 
RISK CONTROL MEASURES
The Group consulted throughout the planning and execu�on of the acquis i�on with legal  counsel  having exper�se in
corporate structure and tax maUers . The I nvestment Manager's  team dedicated to the transac�on, a long with the Board,
received advice and evaluated structural  options  at every step, and continues  to do so as  the structure evolves.



received advice and evaluated structural  options  at every step, and continues  to do so as  the structure evolves.
 
STABLE
 
STRATEGIC LINK
Identi fy
Engage
 
3. COUNTERPARTY RISK
 
RISK DESCRIPTION
The Group has  the potentia l  to be exposed to the creditworthiness  of trading counterparties  in OTC derivatives  contracts , i ts
prime broker in the event of re-hypotheca�on of i ts  investments , and any counterparty where col lateral  or cash margin is
provided or where cash is  deposited in the normal  course of bus iness .
 
RISK CONTROL MEASURES
The Group uses  Goldman Sachs, Morgan Stanley, Bank of America Merri l l  Lynch, JP  Morgan and Jefferies  as  prime brokers
and Cowen, UBS, Bank of America Merri l l  Lynch, Goldman Sachs, Jefferies , and Morgan Stanley as  I S DA counterpar�es. To
monitor counterparty risk, the I nvestment Manager monitors  fluctua�ons in share prices , percentage changes  in dai ly,
monthly, and annual  5-year C D S spreads  and S&P  credit ra�ngs. I f a  counterparty group share price moves  up or down in
excess  of 20%, the trader at the I nvestment Manager is  a lerted immediately. I n case of an alert, the trader no�fies RTW
I nvestments ' Chief Compl iance O fficer. There has  been no disrup�on in opera�ons with the Group's  counterpar�es  to date.
The Group's  bankers  are an offshore branch of Barclays  Bank P LC and are a lso included in the I nvestment Manager's  C D S
monitoring program.
 
STABLE
 
STRATEGIC LINK
Identi fy
Engage
Bui ld
Support
 
 
Governance/Reputational Risks
4. THE INVESTMENT MANAGER RELIES ON KEY PERSONNEL
RISK DESCRIPTION
The Investment Manager rel ies  on i ts  founder, Roderick Wong M.D. Roderick Wong is  a  key figure at the Investment Manager
and is  extens ively involved in investment decis ions.
 
RISK CONTROL MEASURES
I n the event that Roderick Wong was to no longer work for the I nvestment Manager or was  incapacitated, the Board is  able
to terminate the I nvestment Management Agreement within 180 days  i f a  suitable replacement has  not been found and
would cons ider whether i t would be appropriate to wind up the Group and return capital  to shareholders , or to appoint a
new Investment Manager.
 
STABLE
 
STRATEGIC LINK
Identi fy
Engage
Bui ld
Support
 
5. PORTFOLIO COMPANIES AND INVESTMENT MANAGER MAY BE SUBJECT TO LITIGATION
RISK DESCRIPTION
Por1ol io Companies  may be subject to product l iabi l i ty cla ims. Such l iabi l i ty cla ims would have a direct financial  impact
and may impact market acceptance even i f ul�mately rebuUed. The I nvestment Manager may be swept up in class  ac�on
suits  against companies  that include major shareholders .
 
RISK CONTROL MEASURES
The I nvestment Manager's  due di l igence process  includes  cons idering the risk that innova�ve therapies  may have
unforeseen s ide effects , based on the Investment Manager's  extens ive sector knowledge and experience, publ ished research,
and publ icly avai lable informa�on. The I nvestment Manager maintains  Directors  & O fficers  as  wel l  as  Errors  & O miss ions
insurance pol icies .
 
STABLE
 
STRATEGIC LINK
Identi fy
Engage
Bui ld
Support
 
 
External Risks
6. EXPOSURE TO GLOBAL POLITICAL AND ECONOMIC RISKS
 
RISK DESCRIPTION
I t i s  an�cipated that approximately 75% on average of investments  wi l l  be in US companies  or l icens ing agreements  with
US ins�tu�ons, and 25% of investments  wi l l  be made outs ide of the US. The Group's  investments  wi l l  be exposed to foreign
exchange, and global  pol i�cal , economic, and regulatory risks , including those associated with current conflicts  in
Ukraine, I srael/Pales�ne, and the Middle East more broadly. The core por1ol io currently has  approximately 64% exposure
to the US and Canada, 21% to the UK  and Europe, and 15% to the rest of the world, including 3.7% to I srael  and none to
other Middle Eastern countries , Ukraine or Russ ia. Israel  exposure derives  from Urogen P harma, which has  R&D in Israel
but is  headquartered and maintains  i ts  broader team in Princeton, New Jersey.
 
RISK CONTROL MEASURES



RISK CONTROL MEASURES
The I nvestment Manager has  extens ive experience transac�ng across  the global  healthcare marketplace and wi l l  be
responsible for identi fying relevant events  and updating investment plans  appropriately.
 
INCREASING
 
STRATEGIC LINK
Identi fy
Engage
Bui ld
Support
 
 
7. CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT & REGULATORY RISKS
 
RISK DESCRIPTION
New drugs, medical  devices  and procedures  are subject to extens ive regulatory scru�ny before approval , and approvals
can be revoked.
 
RISK CONTROL MEASURES
The I nvestment Manager's  due di l igence process  includes  a  rigorous  process  of assess ing precl inical  and cl inical  assets
and their probabi l i�es  of success , u�l is ing scien�fic, cl inical , commercial  and regulatory benchmarks. Addi�onal ly, the
I nvestment Manager's  process  includes  assess ing the l ikely aVtudes of regulators  towards  a  poten�al  new therapy. The
due di l igence wi l l  a lso cons ider the unmet need of the disease and whether the therapy offers  advantages  over the current
standard of care.
 
STABLE
 
STRATEGIC LINK
Identi fy
Engage
Bui ld
Support
 
 
8. IMPOSITION OF PRICING CONTROLS FOR CLINICAL PRODUCTS AND SERVICES
 
RISK DESCRIPTION
Por1ol io company products  may be subject to price controls , price gouging cla ims, and other pricing regula�on in the US
and other major markets . Government healthcare systems may be major purchasers  of the products .
 
RISK CONTROL MEASURES
W hile future pol i�cal  developments  cannot be rel iably forecast, the I nvestment Manager's  due di l igence process  includes
an assessment of pol i tical  ri sk and the l ikely acceptabi l i ty of the investee's  pricing intentions.
 
STABLE
 
STRATEGIC LINK
Bui ld
Support
 
 
9. INFLATION
 
RISK DESCRIPTION
Global  infla�on is  general ly trending downwards; however, i t remains  a  complex and somewhat vola�le s i tua�on with
differing regional  experiences. W hi le headl ine infla�on (which includes  vola�le food and energy prices) i s  modera�ng,
core infla�on (which excludes  them) is  proving more stubborn in some regions, par�cularly due to service sector infla�on
and wage growth. Uncertainty about the infla�on outlook and central  bank ac�ons is  l ikely to contribute to market
volati l i ty.
 
 
RISK CONTROL MEASURES
The crea�on of value through innova�on in the biotechnology sector outweighs  the s ingular and/or short-term adjustment
to valua�on levels  aris ing from changes  in discount rates  as  a  result of ris ing infla�on. The I nvestment Manager holds
investments  that have current earnings  and cash-flows and has  s igni ficant exposure to Phase 3 products  which have a high
probabi l i ty of achieving cash-flows in the near-term. W hi lst interest rates  have been reduced in the US and UK  in reac�on
to reduc�ons in infla�on, i t i s  not poss ible to say that this  risk i s  reducing yet, as  infla�onary risks  such as  tariffs  and
restrictions  on global  trade are beginning to emerge fol lowing the election of a  new administration in the US.
 
STABLE
 
STRATEGIC LINK
Identi fy
Engage
Bui ld
Support
 
 
Emerging Risks
10. AVAILABILITY OF CAPITAL
 
RISK DESCRIPTION
I P O s made incremental  progress  towards  normal isa�on this  year (17 in 2024 vs  12 last year). This  i s  cons istent with a
s low trans i�on from a bear market (less  than 10) to a  healthy one (more than 30). P ubl ic fol low-on financing ac�vity
returned to near record levels  as  companies  with good data were able to raise the capital  they needed.
 
 



 
RISK CONTROL MEASURES
The I nvestment Manager is  experienced in iden�fying poten�al  in companies  that have strong fundamentals  at aUrac�ve
valua�ons that create an asymmetric and aUrac�ve risk/reward profile. The Board reviews the financing status  of the
Group's  private por1ol io with the I nvestment Manager at least twice each year. Approximately 10% of the Group's  NAV is
exposed to companies  that wi l l  need refinancing within the next 12 months. Most of these companies  have re-financing
plans  in place.
 
REDUCING
 
STRATEGIC LINK
Identi fy
Engage
Bui ld
Support
 
 
11. SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING
 
RISK DESCRIPTION
Sustainabi l i ty repor�ng standards  are evolving rapidly and investors  may require more detai led sustainabi l i ty disclosures
to maintain or add new positions  in our shares.
 
RISK CONTROL MEASURES
The Board monitors  sustainabi l i ty repor�ng standards  and is  advised by the Group's  service providers , including an
external  sustainabi l i ty consultant. The Group has  adopted a responsible investment pol icy a lso appointed a Sustainabi l i ty
Committee to provide overs ight and advice in relation to the Company's  responsible investment strategy.
 
STABLE
 
STRATEGIC LINK
Identi fy
Engage
Bui ld
Support
 

Longer Term Viability Statement
 
Real is ing a  robust and res i l ient company
 
ASSESSING THE PROSPECTS OF THE GROUP 
The corporate planning process  is  underpinned by scenarios  that encompass  a  wide spectrum of poten�al  outcomes. These
scenarios  are des igned to explore the res i l ience of the Group to the potentia l  impact of s igni ficant risks  set out below. 
 
The scenarios  are des igned to be severe but plaus ible and take ful l  account of the avai labi l i ty and l ikely effec�veness  of
the mi�ga�ng ac�ons that could be taken to avoid or reduce the impact or occurrence of the underlying risks  and which
would real is�cal ly be open to management in the ci rcumstances. I n cons idering the l ikely effec�veness  of such ac�ons, the
conclus ions  of the Board's  regular monitoring and review of risk and the I nvestment Manager's  internal  control  systems, i s
taken into account. 
 
The Board reviewed the impact of stress  tes�ng the quan�fiable risks  to the Group's  cash flows as  detai led in risk factors
1-5 and concluded that the Group, would have sufficient working capital  to fund i ts  opera�ons in the fol lowing extreme
scenario:
(1) The Group incurred NAV losses  of 39% of NAV over a  three-year period ending 28 February 2028. 
(2) No new capital  was  raised. 
(3) US 152 mi l l ion of private investments  were funded from cash and by sel l ing publ ic por1ol io investments  over the three-
year period ending 28 February 2028.
 
To provide some context for this  scenario the worst-case annual  losses  for the NAS DAQ  Biotech I ndex (NBI ) in the last 10
years  were 10.9% in 2022 and 21.4% in 2016 respec�vely. The Group's  three-year loss  scenario exceeds the cumula�ve
impact of both of these worst-case years  of 32.3% spread over three years . The annual ised vola�l i ty of the NBI  I ndex for the
last 10 years  is  24.5% and the index has  an annual ised return of 3.7% for this  period, so an annual  loss  of 40% or more is
only l ikely to occur every twenty years  i f the index returns  are normal ly distributed. Considering this  context, a  cumula�ve
loss  of between 32.3% and 40% is  therefore assumed to be a reasonable stress  test. 
 
The Board cons iders  that this  stress  tes�ng-based assessment of the Group's  prospects  i s  reasonable in the ci rcumstances
of the inherent uncertainty involved. 
 
THE PERIOD OVER WHICH WE CONFIRM LONGER TERM VIABILITY 
W ithin the context of the corporate planning framework discussed above, the Board has  assessed the prospects  of the
Group over a  three-year period ending 28 February 2028. W hi lst the Board has  no reason to bel ieve the Group wi l l  not be
viable over a  longer period, given the inherent uncertainty involved, the period over which the Board cons iders  i t poss ible
to form a reasonable expecta�on as  to the Group's  longer-term viabi l i ty, based on the stress  tes�ng scenario planning
discussed above, i s  the three-year period to March 2028. This  period is  used for the I nvestment Manager's  bus iness  plans
and has  been selected because i t presents  the Board and therefore readers  of the Annual  Report with a  reasonable degree
of confidence whi lst s ti l l  providing an appropriate longer-term outlook. 
 
CONFIRMATION OF LONGER-TERM VIABILITY 
The Board confirms that i t has  carried out a  robust assessment of the emerging and principal  risks  facing the Group,
including those that would threaten i ts  bus iness  model , future performance, solvency or l iquidity. Based upon the robust
assessment of the principal  and emerging risks  facing the Group and i ts  stress  tes�ng-based assessment of the Group's
prospects , the Board confirms that i t has  a  reasonable expecta�on that the Group wi l l  be able to con�nue in opera�on and
meet i ts  l iabi l i ties  as  they fa l l  due over the period to February 2028.
 
On behalf of the Board
Wil l iam Simpson
Chair
28 March 2025
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Engaging with Stakeholders (Section 172)
Close collaborators and committed partners

 
The AI C  Code requires  that the maUers  set out in Sec�on 172 of the Companies  Act 2006 are reported on by a l l  companies ,
i rrespective of domici le, provided this  does  not confl ict with local  company law.
 
Sec�on 172 recognises  that directors  are responsible for ac�ng in a  way that they cons ider, in good fa i th, to be most l ikely
to promote the success  of the Group for the benefit of a l l  shareholders . I n doing so, they are a lso required to cons ider the
broader impl ica�ons of their decis ions  and the Group's  opera�ons on key stakeholders , the wider community, and the
environment. Key decis ions  are those that are ei ther materia l  to the Group or are s ignificant to any of the Group's  key
stakeholders . The Group's  engagement with key stakeholders  and the key decis ions  that were made or approved by the
Directors  during the year are described below.
 
 
Stakeholder group Methods of engagement Benefits of engagement
Shareholders
 
Con�nued access  to capital  i s  vi ta l  to
the Group's  longer term growth
objec�ves, and therefore, in l ine with
its  objec�ves, the Group seeks  to
maintain shareholder sa�sfac�on
through:
 

-       Posi�ve risk-adjusted
returns

-       Con�nuous communica�on
of portfol io updates

-       Regular access  to Investment
Manager commentary on
por1ol io decis ions  and
outlook

 
 

 
 
The Group engages  with i ts
shareholders  through the issuance of
regular por1ol io updates  and monthly
NAV and factsheet releases  in the form
of RNS announcements .
 
The I nvestment Manager hosts  mid-year
and year end webinars  and Q &A
sess ions  and in 2024 hosted i ts  second
Investor Day in London.
 
The Group provides  in-depth
commentary on the investment
por1ol io, corporate governance and
corporate outlook in i ts  Annual  and
I nterim Reports  and financial
statements .
 
The Board receives  quarterly feedback
from i ts  brokers  and distribu�on
partner in respect of investor
engagement and investor sentiment.
 
I n 2024 the Group's  distribu�on and
investor rela�ons partner, Cadarn
Capital , was  a lso engaged as  i ts  P R and
Communica�ons partner to improve the
flow of informa�on to current and
potentia l  shareholders .
 

 
 
The Group enjoys  a  suppor�ve
shareholder base that understands
the investment strategy as  a  result of
our ac�ve programme of events  and
meetings.
 
The Group has  bui l t a  large pool  of
poten�al  investors  to support i ts
future growth.
 
 

Service providers
 
The Group works  closely with a
number of service providers  (the
I nvestment Manager, Administrator,
Sub-Administrator, Corporate
Secretary, auditor, third party
valua�on agents , corporate brokers ,
distribu�on partner, and other
profess ional  advisers).
 
The independence, qual i ty and
�mel iness  of their service provis ion
is  cri tical  to the success  of the Group.

 
 
The Group has  iden�fied i ts  key service
providers  and on an annual  bas is
undertakes  a  review of performance
based on a ques�onnaire through
which i t a lso seeks  feedback.
 
Furthermore, the Board and i ts  sub-
commiUees engage regularly with
service providers  on a formal  and
informal  bas is .
 
The Group regularly reviews al l
materia l  contracts  for service qual i ty
and value.
 
 

 
 
Feedback given by service providers
is  used to review the Group's  pol icies
and procedures, to ensure open l ines
of communica�on, and opera�onal
efficiency.
 
Performance reviews ensure the
Board's  confidence that the Group is
being serviced and advised by high
qual i ty service providers .

Portfolio Companies
 
The Group is  currently invested in 54
Core Portfol io Companies .
 
               

 
 
The I nvestment Manager engages  on a
regular bas is  with i ts  por1ol io
companies  in order to conduct on-going
due di l igence and to meet obl iga�ons i f
the I nvestment Manager holds  a  board
seat.
 

 
 
Honesty, fa i rness  and integri ty of the
management teams of the por1ol io
companies  are vi ta l  to the long-term
success  of the Group's  investments .

HM Government The Group funds assets  developed in UK
academic and private sector
laboratories , from concep�on to
commercial isation.

By suppor�ng the local  biotech
ecosystem in the country where the
Group is  l i s ted, UK  government pol icy
ini�a�ves  are supported and
promoted.

Community & Environment
The Group does  not have direct
employees  and does  not an�cipate
any materia l  impact to i ts  bus iness
model  from cl imate change but a ims
to be a good steward, in l ine with i ts

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The Group and the Directors  minimise
air travel  by making maximum use of
video conferencing for Company
related matters . 



to be a good steward, in l ine with i ts
socia l ly-a l igned investment objective.
 
 
RTW  Chari table Founda�on was
created by the I nvestment Manager
with the vis ion to work towards  a
world free of ul tra-rare disease. The
founda�on funds research of rare
condi�ons that do not aUract
s ignificant outs ide investment due to
l imited commercial  opportunity.

 
 
 
 
 
RTW  Chari table Founda�on represents
an extens ion of the I nvestment
Manager's  miss ion. I ts  research
process  helps  the I nvestment Manager
iden�fy important causes  of human
suffering and introduces  the firm to
individuals  and organisa�ons trying to
make a di fference.

related matters . 
 
 
 
Ac�ng and inves�ng responsibly
provides  the necessary foundation for
the long-term sustainabi l i ty of
investment success .
 
To research grant recipients , RTW
Charitable Founda�on offers
financial  support and guidance
gleaned from the I nvestment
Manager's  experience in drug
development and company bui lding.
The Founda�on also offers  support to
humanitarian causes, ini�a�ves  that
raise disease awareness , and
programs with direct local
community impact, including days  of
action and youth mentorship.

 
 

Responsible Investment
 
 
The Group aims to achieve superior long-term capital  apprecia�on, focus ing on forming, bui lding, and suppor�ng world-
class  l i fe sciences, biopharmaceu�cal , and medical  technology companies . The Group's  primary cons idera�on is  to
support companies  that promote health and wel l -being by bringing drugs  and devices  to market that are expected to save
or extend l i fe, improve qual i ty of l i fe, or revolu�onise the course of treatment for diseases  and condi�ons that afflict
people. The I nvestment Manager's  team of scien�sts  and researchers  work �reless ly to evaluate the science behind
thousands of treatments  and poten�al  cures  for diseases  and condi�ons in order to improve qual i ty of l i fe across  the
globe.  As  a  guiding principle, they priori�se overal l  pos i�ve impact on pa�ents  and long-term meaningful  outcomes to
society and bel ieve this  i s  the foundation of the Group's  success .
 
As a long-term investor, the Group (via  the I nvestment Manager) seeks  to meet regularly with the management teams of
por1ol io companies . This  approach fosters  long-term rela�onships  with company management teams. This  ongoing
dialogue enables  open discuss ions  on issues  that could affect long-term returns. The decis ion to engage with a  por1ol io
company depends on both the materia l i ty of the issue and the s ize of the holding.
 
P re-investment, the Group adopts  a  pos i�ve screening methodology. Poten�al  investments  are screened to ensure
al ignment with investment objectives .
 
The Group's  Board of Directors  has  establ ished a Sustainabi l i ty CommiUee which meets  with the I nvestment Manager bi -
annual ly where they are briefed on updates  to process , pol icy, and por1ol io engagement. The Sustainabi l i ty CommiUee
provides  overs ight on behalf of and advice to the Board in rela�on to the Company's  Responsible I nvestment strategy and
ensures  that a l l  s takeholders  receive appropriate related informa�on. The CommiUee ass ists  the Board in overseeing the
development of the Responsible I nvestment Pol icy and reviews relevant maUers  to be presented in this  annual  report,
maintaining overs ight of and making recommendations  to the Board regarding upcoming reporting requirements . 
 
The I nvestment Manager espouses  a  strong culture of compl iance, risk management and ethical  behaviour. I t a ims always
to act in the best interests  of shareholders , employees  and stakeholders . I ts  corporate code of ethics  addresses  the largest
areas  of risk pertaining to the al terna�ve asset management industry, including but not l imited to conflicts  of interest,
an�-bribery, employee inves�ng, ins ider trading and pol i�cal  contribu�ons. Furthermore, i t seeks  to ensure that
investments  do not lead to nega�ve impacts  on publ ic health or wel l -being or contribute to human or labour rights
viola�ons, corrup�on, serious  environmental  harm or other ac�ons which may be perceived to be unethical . I t seeks  long-
term investment partners  that evidence equivalent profess ional  and ethical  rigour. 
 

 
Consolidated Statement of Assets and Liabilities
as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023

(Expressed in United States  Dol lars)
2024  2023

    
ASSETS:    
Investments  in securi ties , at fa i r value (cost at 31 December 2024:
529,516,651; 31 December 2023: 244,056,637)                                          

 
611,011,096

 
367,611,231

Derivative contracts , at fa i r value (cost at 31 December 2024: 60,427,785;
31 December 2023: 6,271,193)

 
110,177,172

 
 15,463,820

Cash and cash equivalents 5,360,022  2,721,553

Due from brokers 27,990,478  57,887,214

Receivable from unsettled trades 4,237,674 -

Other assets 1,239,967 2,550,609

TOTAL ASSETS  760,016,409  446,234,427

LIABILITIES:
Securi ties  sold short, at fa i r value (proceeds at
31 December 2024: 102,512,585; 31 December 2023: 1,399,242)

 
95,151,493

 
1,197,921

Derivative contracts , at fa i r value (proceeds at
31 December 2024: ni l ; 31 December 2023: ni l )

 
7,799,422

 
8,390,327

Due to brokers 23,570,906  5,329,681
Accrued expenses 850,903 2,293,541 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 127,372,724 17,211,470
 



TOTAL NET ASSETS 632,643,685  429,022,957

    
NET ASSETS attributable to Ordinary Shares (shares at
31 December 2024: 335,713,649; 31 December 2023: 210,635,347) 606,921,161  399,283,811

NET ASSETS attributable to Non-Controlling Interest  25,722,524  29,739,146
     
 
NAV per Ordinary Share 1.8079 1.8956
 
The audited consol idated financial  s tatements  of the Group were approved and authorised for i ssue by the Board of
Directors  on 28 March 2025 and s igned on i ts  behal f by:
 
 
 
William Simpson                                                  Paul Le Page
Chair                                                                       Director
 
See accompanying notes  to the consol idated financial  s tatements .
 
 

Consolidated Condensed Schedule of Investments
as at 31 December 2024

(Expressed in United States  Dol lars)

Descriptions
Number of

Shares  Cost  Fair Value

 
Percentage of

Net Assets

 

Investments  in securi ties , at fa i r
value

Common stocks
United States
Healthcare
   Madrigal  Pharmaceuticals ,
Inc.

214,826 49,317,124 66,288,859 10.48

   Akero Pharmaceuticals , Inc. 1,191,010 26,909,569 33,133,898 5.24
   Rocket Pharmaceuticals , Inc. 2,400,755 8,188,796 30,177,490 4.77
   Tarsus  Pharmaceuticals , Inc. 401,308 8,874,464 22,220,424 3.51
   Avidity Biosciences, Inc. 369,865 6,102,773 10,755,674 1.70
   Others* 190,069,145 174,522,722 27.58
Total United States 289,461,871  337,099,067  53.28
         
Netherlands         
Healthcare   12,693,165  16,077,163  2.55  
         
Ireland         
Healthcare   10,013,472  8,557,542  1.36  
         
China         
Healthcare         

Corxel  Pharmaceuticals  Ltd.
(formerly Ji  Xing
Pharmaceuticals  Ltd.) 541,205   216,482  835,037  0.13  

         
Canada         
Healthcare   2,879,914  518,365  0.08  
         
Denmark         
Healthcare   301,757 305,536 0.05
         
Singapore         
Healthcare   191,496  296,101  0.05  
         
France         
Healthcare   3,930,888  79,772  0.01  
         
Cayman Islands         
Healthcare   77,953  73,384  0.01  

     
Japan      
Healthcare   64,326  70,334  0.01  

     
Switzerland         
Healthcare   2,496  17,811  0.00  

     
United Kingdom         
Healthcare   4,992  17,413  0.00  

     
Total common stocks   319,838,812  363,947,525  57.53  
         
* No individual  investment securi ty or contract consti tutes  greater than 5 per cent. of net assets .

See accompanying notes  to the consol idated financial  s tatements .



See accompanying notes  to the consol idated financial  s tatements .
 

Consolidated Condensed Schedule of Investments (continued)
as at 31 December 2024

(Expressed in United States  Dol lars)

Descriptions
Number of

Shares  Cost  Fair Value

 
Percentage of

Net Assets

 

Investments  in securi ties , at fa i r value
(continued)

Convertible preferred stocks
United States         
Healthcare*   81,802,284 89,628,561 14.17  
         
China         
Healthcare         

Corxel  Pharmaceuticals  Ltd.
(formerly Ji  Xing
Pharmaceuticals  Ltd.)

14,177,776

 

25,664,114

 

34,445,874

 

5.44

 
   Others*   4,110,584  3,952,898  0.63  
Total China   29,774,698  38,398,772  6.07  
         
United Kingdom         
Healthcare*   16,347,749  34,368,669  5.44  

     
Netherlands         
Healthcare   1,166,079  1,165,404  0.18  

     
Switzerland      
Healthcare   90,748  763,629  0.12  

     
Belgium      
Healthcare   0  0  0.00  
         

Total convertible preferred stocks   129,181,558  164,325,035  25.98  
         
Convertible Notes         

China         
Healthcare         

Corxel  Pharmaceuticals  Ltd.
(formerly Ji  Xing
Pharmaceuticals  Ltd.)

1,803,339

 

18,033,384

 

18,381,736

 

2.91

 
    

Canada      
Healthcare   7,512,664  8,050,255  1.27  

    
United States      
Healthcare   8,679,051  6,312,757  1.00  

    
Total convertible notes   34,225,099  32,744,748  5.18  

    
         
* No individual  investment securi ty or contract consti tutes  greater than 5 per cent. of net assets .
         

See accompanying notes  to the consol idated financial  s tatements .
 

Consolidated Condensed Schedule of Investments (continued)
as at 31 December 2024

(Expressed in United States  Dol lars)
         

Descriptions
Number of

Shares  Cost  Fair Value

 
Percentage of

Net Assets  
      

Investments  in securi ties , at fa i r value (continued)       
         

American depository receipts         
      United Kingdom         
      Healthcare   16,687,163  17,163,590  2.72  
         
      Netherlands         
      Healthcare   9,685,018  11,905,170  1.88  
         
      China         
      Healthcare   1,616,703  1,602,514  0.25  
         

Cayman Islands         
Healthcare   102,795  53,101  0.01  

         
Total American depository receipts   28,091,679  30,724,375  4.86  
      
Investment in private investment companies     

Cayman Islands         
Healthcare   10,348,706  12,571,857  1.99  



Healthcare   10,348,706  12,571,857  1.99  
         
Ireland         
Healthcare   3,221,986  4,602,256  0.73  

     
United Kingdom         
Healthcare   4,444,220  1,920,687  0.30  

         
Total investment in private investment
companies

 
 18,014,912  19,094,800  

 
3.02

 

      
Revenue based financing agreement         

United States         
Healthcare   160,732  174,613  0.01  

      
Corporate bonds         

Bermuda         
Healthcare   3,859  0.00  0.00  
         

Total investments in securities, at fair value  529,516,651  611,011,096  96.58  
         

See accompanying notes  to the consol idated financial  s tatements .
 

Consolidated Condensed Schedule of Investments (continued)
as at 31 December 2024

(Expressed in United States  Dol lars)
         

Descriptions
Number of
contracts  Cost  Fair Value

 
Percentage of

Net Assets  

Derivative contracts  - assets , at fa i r value

Warrants         
United States
Healthcare
    Avidity Biosciences, Inc. 2,208,114 36,431,673 64,209,747 10.15
    Tarsus  Pharmaceuticals , Inc. 150,000 4,799,985 8,305,485 1.31
    Rocket Pharmaceuticals , Inc. 170,764 2,565,561 2,010,658 0.32
    Others* 11,528,056 9,877,117 1.56
Total United States 55,325,275  84,403,007  13.34

Canada
Healthcare 3,121,272 2,283,707 0.36

British Virgin Islands
Healthcare 1,349,970 1,360,602 0.22

Total warrants 59,796,517  88,047,316  13.92
 
Equity swaps

United States
Healthcare

Tarsus  Pharmaceuticals , Inc. 215,335 7,603,492 1.20
Others* 12,594,491 1.99

Total United States   20,197,983  3.19

British Virgin Islands
Healthcare 328,499 0.05

Total equity swaps   20,526,482  3.24  

Contingent value rights
 United States
 Healthcare 466,420 1,023,626 0.17
 
 Switzerland
 Healthcare 164,848 579,748 0.09
 
Total contingent value rights 631,268  1,603,374  0.26

Total derivative contracts - assets, at fair value  60,427,785  110,177,172  17.42  
 
 

* No individual  investment securi ty or contract consti tutes  greater than 5 per cent. of net assets .
 
See accompanying notes  to the consol idated financial  s tatements .
 
 

Consolidated Condensed Schedule of Investments (continued)
as at 31 December 2024

(Expressed in United States  Dol lars)

Descriptions    Proceeds  Fair Value

 
Percentage of

Net Assets

 



Securi ties  sold short, at fa i r value

Common stocks
 United States

Healthcare* 100,739,418 93,400,032 14.76

British Virgin Islands
Healthcare 1,164,515 1,141,154 0.18

Singapore
Healthcare 200,738 296,101 0.05
 

Total common stocks 102,104,671  94,837,287  14.99  
       
American depository receipts
 United Kingdom

Healthcare 304,734 261,105 0.04

Cayman Islands
Healthcare 103,180 53,101 0.01
 

Total American depository receipts 407,914  314,206  0.05  
     

Total securities sold short, at fair value   102,512,585  95,151,493  15.04  
 

Descriptions    Fair Value

 
Percentage of

Net Assets

 

Derivative contracts  - l iabi l i ties , at fa i r value

Equity swaps
 United States

Healthcare                                               7,799,422 1.23

Total derivative contracts - liabilities, at fair value  7,799,422  1.23  

* No individual  investment securi ty or contract consti tutes  greater than 5 per cent. of net assets .

See accompanying notes  to the consol idated financial  s tatements .
 
 

Consolidated Condensed Schedule of Investments
as at 31 December 2023

(Expressed in United States  Dol lars)

Descriptions
Number of

Shares  Cost  Fair Value

 
Percentage of

Net Assets

 

Investments  in securi ties , at
fa ir value

Common stocks
United States
Healthcare
   Rocket
Pharmaceuticals , Inc.

2,400,755  8,188,796  71,950,627  16.77

   Others*  87,817,542  121,224,790  28.26
Total United States  96,006,338   193,175,417   45.03
         
Netherlands         
Healthcare    5,570,915   6,878,343   1.60  
         
Ireland         
Healthcare    6,090,973   3,974,203   0.93  
         
China         
Healthcare         
   Ji  Xing Pharmaceuticals
Ltd. 541,205  

 216,482
 

 798,382
 

 0.19
 

   Others*   402,213   677,342   0.16  
Total China   618,695   1,475,724   0.35  
         
Canada         
Healthcare    2,953,012   646,323   0.15  
         
British Virgin Islands         
Healthcare    776,929  477,179  0.11
         
Cayman Islands         
Financials    46,790   51,001   0.01  
         

Total common stocks   112,063,652  206,678,190  48.18  
         



         
Convertible preferred stocks         

China         
Healthcare         
   Ji  Xing Pharmaceuticals
Ltd. 14,177,776  

 25,664,114
 

 33,052,656
 

 7.70
 

   Others*    4,110,584   4,168,056   0.97  
Total China    29,774,698   37,220,712   8.67  

         
United States         
Healthcare*   40,654,612  36,321,860  8.47  
         
Ireland         
Healthcare   1,093,042  1,854,238  0.43  

         
* No individual  investment securi ty or contract consti tutes  greater than 5 per cent. of net assets .

See accompanying notes  to the consol idated financial  s tatements .
 
 

Consolidated Condensed Schedule of Investments (continued)
as at 31 December 2023

(Expressed in United States  Dol lars)

Descriptions
Number
of Shares  Cost  Fair Value

 
Percentage of Net

Assets

 

Investments  in securi ties , at fa i r value
(continued)

Convertible preferred stocks
Switzerland         
Healthcare   1,729,518  1,723,249  0.40  
         
United Kingdom         
Healthcare   774,317  760,071  0.18  
         

Total convertible preferred stocks   74,026,187  77,880,130  18.15  
         
Investment in private investment
companies         

Cayman Islands         
Healthcare         
   4010 Royalty Offshore FNT Fund,
LP  

23,892,852
 

25,982,258
 

  6.06
 

         
Ireland         

Healthcare   11,814,933  15,873,635  3.70  
         
Total investment in private
investment companies   35,707,785  41,855,893  9.76  
         
American depository receipts         
 United Kingdom         
 Healthcare         
 Immunocore Holdings  plc 462,249   11,872,691   31,580,852   7.36  
          
 Netherlands         
 Healthcare    1,331,626   1,434,221   0.33  
          
 Ireland         
 Healthcare    161,953   198,555   0.05  
          
Total American depository receipts   13,366,270  33,213,628  7.74  
          
  
         

See accompanying notes  to the consol idated financial  s tatements .

 
Consolidated Condensed Schedule of Investments (continued)

as at 31 December 2023
(Expressed in United States  Dol lars)

         

Number of
 

Percentage of



Descriptions
Number of

Shares  Cost  Fair Value
Percentage of

Net Assets  
      

Investments  in securi ties , at fa i r value (continued)       
         

Convertible notes         
Canada         
Healthcare    7,512,664   7,566,259   1.76  
         
United States         
Healthcare    1,380,079   417,131   0.10  

         
Total convertible notes   8,892,743  7,983,390  1.86  

         
Total investments in securities, at fair value  244,056,637  367,611,231  85.69  

         
See accompanying notes  to the consol idated financial  s tatements .

 
 

Consolidated Condensed Schedule of Investments (continued)
as at 31 December 2023

(Expressed in United States  Dol lars)
         

Descriptions

Number
of

Contracts  Cost  Fair Value

 
Percentage of

Net Assets  

Derivative contracts  - assets , at fa i r value

Equity swaps         
United States
Healthcare 7,185,030 1.67 

United Kingdom
Healthcare

Immunocore Holdings  plc 12,498  280,979  0.07

British Virgin Islands
Healthcare  9,793  0.00  

Total equity swaps 7,475,802  1.74 
 
Warrants

United States
Healthcare

Rocket Pharmaceuticals , Inc. 170,764  2,565,561  4,800,495  1.12
Others*  1,242,926  1,764,580  0.41

Total United States  3,808,487   6,565,075   1.53

Canada
Healthcare 2,462,706 881,237 0.21 

Total warrants 6,271,193  7,446,312  1.74  

Contingent value rights
 United States
 Healthcare 541,706 0.13
 
Total contingent value rights   541,706  0.13

Total derivative contracts - assets, at fair value  6,271,193  15,463,820  3.61  
 
 

* No individual  investment securi ty or contract consti tutes  greater than 5 per cent. of net assets .  

 
See accompanying notes  to the consol idated financial  s tatements .

Consolidated Condensed Schedule of Investments (continued)
as at 31 December 2023

(Expressed in United States  Dol lars)
 

Descriptions    Proceeds  Fair Value

 
Percentage of

Net Assets

 

Securi ties  sold short, at fa i r value

Common stocks



Common stocks
 United States

Healthcare 1,353,107 1,146,920 0.28

Cayman Islands
Financials 46,135 51,001 0.01 
 

Total common stocks 1,399,242  1,197,921  0.29  
     

Total securities sold short, at fair value   1,399,242  1,197,921  0.29  
 

Descriptions    Fair Value

 
Percentage of

Net Assets

 

Derivative contracts  - l iabi l i ties , at fa i r value

Equity swaps
 United States

Healthcare                                               8,390,327 1.96   
Total United States 8,390,327 1.96   

Total derivative contracts - liabilities, at fair value  8,390,327  1.96    

See accompanying notes  to the consol idated financial  s tatements .
 
 

Consolidated Statement of Operations
For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023

(Expressed in United States  Dol lars)
 

 2024  2023

     
Investment income    

Interest income
(net of withholding taxes  of ni l ; 31 December 2023: ni l )  

 
 

6,347,583

 
 

2,419,117
Dividends (net of withholding taxes  of 82,087;
31 December 2023: 2,537)

  
390,961

 
571,473

Other income  1,451,293 1,179,964

Total investment income  8,189,837 4,170,554

 

Expenses
Management fees   7,611,701 4,269,757

Interest expense   4,772,375 1,560,429

Profess ional  fees  1,432,954 749,328

Research costs   849,452 474,511

Administrative fees  749,649 673,422

Audit fees   366,984 341,500

Directors ' fees   262,477 177,011

Other expenses   887,540 687,805
Total expenses  16,933,132                   8,933,763

Net investment income/(loss)  (8,743,295)                 (4,763,209)
 
Realised and change in unrealised gain/(loss) on investments,
derivatives and foreign currency transactions  

 

Net real ised gain/(loss) on securi ties  and foreign currency
transactions  

  
28,021,357

 
69,546,080

Net change in unreal ised gain/(loss) on securi ties  and foreign
currency trans lation  

  
 (34,485,235)

 
               29,962,442

Net real ised gain/(loss) on derivative contracts    8,239,477                (2,428,987)

Net change in unreal ised gain/(loss) on derivative contracts  
  

 41,147,665
 

(9,123,947)
   

Net realised and unrealised gain/(loss) on investments, derivatives
and foreign currency transactions  

 
42,923,264               87,955,588

   
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets resulting from operations   34,179,969               83,192,379
 
See accompanying notes  to the consol idated financial  s tatements .

 
 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended 31 December 2024

(Expressed in United States  Dol lars)
 

 Ordinary
Share Class

Non-Controlling
Interest

  



Net assets, beginning of year 399,283,811  29,739,146
   
Operations   
Net investment income/(loss) (8,743,295) -

Net real ised gain/(loss) on securi ties  and foreign currency transactions 28,021,357 -

Net change in unreal ised gain/(loss) on securi ties  and foreign currency trans lation (34,485,235) -

Net real ised gain/(loss) on derivative contracts 8,239,477 -

Net change in unreal ised gain/(loss) on derivative contracts 41,147,665 -

Income/(loss) attributable to Non-Control l ing Interest 4,016,622 (4,016,622)

  

Net change in net assets resulting from operations 38,196,591 (4,016,622)

  
Capital transactions   
Issuance of Ordinary Shares  (net of i ssuance cost of 6,473,897) 180,781,065 -
Share buyback (Gross  of 22,681 transaction costs ; 31 December 2023: 4,178) (Note 9) (11,340,306) -
Net change in net assets resulting from capital transactions 169,440,759 -

  
Net assets, end of year 606,921,161 25,722,524
 

See accompanying notes  to the consol idated financial  s tatements .

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended 31 December 2023

(Expressed in United States  Dol lars)
 Ordinary

Share Class
Non-Controlling

Interest
  

Net assets, beginning of year 326,079,521 21,844,468
   
Operations   
Net investment income/(loss)  (4,763,209) -

Net real ised gain/(loss) on securi ties  and foreign currency transactions  69,546,080 -

Net change in unreal ised gain/(loss) on securi ties  and foreign currency trans lation  29,962,442 -

Net real ised gain/(loss) on derivative contracts  (2,428,987) -

Net change in unreal ised gain/(loss) on derivative contracts  (9,123,947) -

Income/(loss) attributable to Non-Control l ing Interest (7,894,678) 7,894,678

  

Net change in net assets resulting from operations 75,297,701 7,894,678

  
Share buyback (Gross of 4,178 transaction costs) (Note 9) (2,093,411) -

  
Net assets, end of year 399,283,811  29,739,146

 
 
See accompanying notes  to the consol idated financial  s tatements .

 
 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023

(Expressed in United States  Dol lars)

 
  

2024
 

2023
Cash flows from operating activities
Ne t i ncre a s e /(de cre a s e ) i n ne t a s s e ts  re s ul ti ng from ope ra ti ons 34,179,969 83,192,379
Adjus tme nts  to re conci l e  ne t cha nge  i n ne t a s s e ts  re s ul ti ng from
ope ra ti ons  to ne t ca s h provi de d by/(us e d i n) ope ra ti ng a cti vi ti e s :

Ne t re a l i s e d (ga i n)/l os s  on s e curi ti e s  a nd fore i gn curre ncy
tra ns a cti ons (28,021,357) (69,546,080)
Ne t cha nge  i n unre a l i s e d (ga i n)/l os s  on s e curi ti e s  a nd fore i gn
curre ncy tra ns l a ti on

 
 34,485,235

 
(29,962,442)

Ne t re a l i s e d (ga i n)/l os s  on de ri va ti ve  contra cts  (8,239,477)  2,428,987

Ne t cha nge  i n unre a l i s e d (ga i n)/l os s  on de ri va ti ve  contra cts  (41,147,665)  9,123,947

Effe ct of e xcha nge  ra te  cha nge s  on ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts  99,291  (80,371)

Purcha s e s  of i nve s tme nts  i n s e curi ti e s  (530,568,570)  (147,986,641)

Proce e ds  from s a l e s  of i nve s tme nts  i n s e curi ti e s  321,657,762 203,554,346

Proce e ds  from s e curi ti e s  s ol d s hort  174,423,104  27,233,184



Proce e ds  from s e curi ti e s  s ol d s hort  174,423,104  27,233,184

Pa yme nts  for s e curi ti e s  s ol d s hort  (51,329,764)  (11,938,063)

Proce e ds  from de ri va ti ve  contra cts  31,242,577  15,512,690

Pa yme nts  for de ri va ti ve  contra cts  (75,360,177)  (21,598,211)

Accre ti on of bond di s count  (3,847) -

Cha nge s  i n ope ra ti ng a s s e ts  a nd l i a bi l i ti e s :
Othe r a s s e ts 1,684,089 (2,204,859)

(Re ce i va bl e  from)/pa ya bl e  for uns e ttl e d tra de s (4,237,674)  (5,121,762)

Due  to broke rs  18,241,225  (20,493,335)

Accrue d e xpe ns e s  (1,442,638)  1,426,785

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (124,337,917) 33,540,554

Cash flows from financing activities
     Ne t proce e ds  from i s s ua nce  of s ha re s 108,419,956 -

Sha re  buyba ck (11,340,306)  (2,093,411)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities  97,079,650  (2,093,411)

Ne t cha nge  i n ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts (27,258,267) 31,447,143

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of the year 60,608,767 29,161,624

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of the year  33,350,500  60,608,767

At 31 De ce mbe r, the  a mounts  ca te gori s e d i n ca s h, ca s h e qui va l e nts , a nd re s tri cte d ca s h i ncl ude  the  fol l owi ng:
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts  5,360,022  2,721,553
Due  from broke rs  27,990,478  57,887,214

Total 33,350,500 60,608,767 
    
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information    
Ca s h pa i d duri ng the  ye a r for i nte re s t 4,356,455 1,620,709

Ca nce l l a ti on of s ha re s  i n RTW Bi ote ch Opportuni ti e s  Ltd re ce i ve d i n
Ari x a cqui s i ti on 59,221,117 -
* In kind financing activities:
Non-ca s h a s s e ts  re ce i ve d from Ari x a cqui s i ti on, compri s e d of:
Inve s tme nts  i n s e curi ti e s 129,409,264 -
De ri va ti ve  contra cts 1,799,515 -
Othe r a s s e ts 373,447 -

Re fe r to note s  1 a nd 9 for furthe r de ta i l s  re ga rdi ng the  Ari x a cqui s i ti on.
 
See accompanying notes  to the consol idated financial  s tatements .
 
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

(Expressed in United States  Dol lars)
 

1.   Nature of operations and summary of significant accounting policies
 
RTW  Biotech O pportuni�es  Ltd (the "Company") i s  a  publ icly l i s ted Guernsey non-cel lular company l imited by
shares. The Company was original ly incorporated in the State of Delaware, United States  of America, and re-
domici led into Guernsey under the Companies  Law on 2 O ctober 2019 with registra�on number 66847 on the
Guernsey Register of Companies . O n 30 O ctober 2019, a l l  of the issued O rdinary Shares  of the Company were
l isted and admiUed to trading on the Special is t Fund Segment of the London Stock Exchange under the �cker
symbol : RTW. Subsequently, on 6 August 2021, the Company's  Ordinary Shares  were admitted to trading on the
P remium Segment of the London Stock Exchange (the former standard and premium l is�ng segments  of the
London Stock Exchange Main Market were consol idated into a  s ingle segment on 29 July 2024) with the
addi�onal  �cker symbol : RTWG deno�ng the Sterl ing price. The RTWG �cker was  consol idated into the US D
l ine effec�ve O ctober 2024 and the Company ceased trading the GBP  quote. The original  �cker, RTW,
continues  to denote the US Dol lar price.
 
I n 2022, the Company transferred i ts  right to the profits  and losses  aUributable to the Group's  por1ol io of
assets  to i ts  whol ly owned subs idiary, RTW  Biotech O pportuni�es  O pera�ng Ltd (the "Subsidiary"). Al l  the
income and expenses  of the Subs idiary are consol idated with the income and expenses  of the Group.
 
O n 13 February 2024, the Group completed the acquis i�on of the assets  of Arix Bioscience plc. To faci l i tate
the acquis i�on, the Subs idiary formed RTW  Biotech UK  Limited (the "UK  Subsidiary") as  a  whol ly owned
subsidiary of the Subs idiary to manage and integrate the Arix Bioscience plc acquired en��es and assets ,
based on the regulatory and opera�onal  landscape in the UK . The transac�on was announced on 1 November
2023 and was effected through a scheme of reconstruc�on and the voluntary winding-up of Arix under sec�on
110 of the I nsolvency Act 1986. The details around this transaction are further disclosed within the consolidated
statement of cash flows and within Note 9.
 
The Group seeks  to use equity capital  (from the net proceeds of any share issuance or, where appropriate,
from the net proceeds of investment divestments  or other related profits) to provide seed and addi�onal
growth capital  to the private investments . To mi�gate cash-drag, the uninvested por�on is  invested across
publ ic stocks  largely repl ica�ng the publ ic stock por1ol ios  of RTW 's  exis�ng US-based funds. The Group
focuses  on crea�ng, bui lding, and suppor�ng world-class  l i fe sciences, biopharmaceu�cal  and medical
technology companies . The Group's  investment objec�ve is  to generate aUrac�ve risk-adjusted returns
through investments  in securi�es, both equity and debt, long and short, of companies  with a  focus  on the
pharmaceutical  sector.
 
P ursuant to an investment management agreement, the Group is  managed by RTW  I nvestments , LP, a  Delaware
l imited partnership, to provide the Group with discre�onary por1ol io management, risk management services



l imited partnership, to provide the Group with discre�onary por1ol io management, risk management services
and certain other services . The Investment Manager is  an investment adviser registered with the U.S. Securi ties
and Exchange Commiss ion under the Investment Advisers  Act of 1940.
 
Basis of presentation
 
The consol idated financial  s tatements  are expressed in United States  Dol lars . The consol idated financial
statements  which give a  true and fa ir view and have been prepared in accordance with US general ly accepted
accoun�ng principles  ("US GAAP ") and are in compl iance with the Companies  (Guernsey) Law, 2008. The
en��es comprised within the Group are investment companies  and fol low the accoun�ng and repor�ng
guidance in F inancial  Accoun�ng Standards  Board's  ("FAS B") Accoun�ng Standards  Codifica�on Topic 946,
Financial  Services  - Investment Companies .
 
The Directors  cons ider that i t i s  appropriate to adopt a  going concern bas is  of accoun�ng in preparing the
consol idated financial  s tatements . In reaching this  assessment, the Directors  have cons idered a wide range of
informa�on rela�ng to present and future condi�ons including the balance sheets , future projec�ons, cash
flows and the longer-term strategy of the bus iness .
 
Principles of consolidation
 
The consol idated financial  s tatements  include accounts  of the Company consol idated with the accounts  of
the Subs idiary and the UK  Subsidiary. Al l  inter-group balances  have been el iminated upon consol ida�on. The
Subsidiary is  incorporated in Guernsey and the UK Subsidiary is  incorporated in the United Kingdom
 
Non-Controlling Interest
 
An affil iate of the I nvestment Manager, RTW  Venture Performance LLC, holds  an interest in the Subs idiary. The
Non-Control l ing I nterest captures  both Performance Al loca�on and mark to market movements  on the New
Performance Al loca�on Share held by RTW  Venture Performance LLC in the Subs idiary. For the year ended 31
December 2024, 1,259,780 of the total  loss  of 4,016,622 aUributable to the Non-Control l ing I nterest was
comprised of mark to market movements  of No�onal  O rdinary Shares  (31 December 2023: 5,137,836), with
2,756,842 of the loss  related to a  reversal  of uncrystal l i zed performance al loca�on from O rdinary
Shareholders  to the Performance Al location Share Class  (31 December 2023: a l location of 2,756,842).
 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
 
Cash represents  cash deposits  held at financial  ins�tu�ons. Cash equivalents  include short-term highly
l iquid investments  of sufficient credit qual i ty that are readi ly conver�ble to known amounts  of cash and have
original  maturi�es  of three months  or less . Cash equivalents  are carried at cost plus  accrued interest, which
approximates  fa i r value. Cash equivalents  are held for the purpose of mee�ng short-term l iquidity
requirements , rather than for investment purposes. As  at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Group
had no cash equivalents .
 
Restricted cash is  subject to a  legal  or contractual  restric�on by third par�es  as  wel l  as  a  restric�on as  to
withdrawal  or use, including restric�ons that require the funds  to be used for a  specified purpose and
restric�ons that l imit the purpose for which the funds  can be used. The Group cons iders  cash pledged as
col lateral  for securi�es  sold short, cash col lateral  posted with counterpar�es  for deriva�ve contracts  and
further amounts  due from brokers  to be restricted cash, as  outl ined in Note 3.
 
Fair value - definition and hierarchy
 
Fair value is  defined as  the price that would be received to sel l  an asset or paid to transfer a  l iabi l i ty (i .e. the
'exit price') in an orderly transaction between market participants  at the measurement date.
 
I n determining fa ir value, the Group uses  various  valua�on techniques. A fa i r value hierarchy for inputs  is
used in measuring fa ir value that maximizes  the use of observable inputs  and minimizes  the use of
unobservable inputs  by requiring that the most observable inputs  are to be used when avai lable. O bservable
inputs  are those that market par�cipants  would use in pricing the asset or l iabi l i ty based on market data
obtained from sources  independent of the Group.
 
Unobservable inputs  reflect the Group's  assump�ons about the inputs  market par�cipants  would use in
pricing the asset or l iabi l i ty based on the best informa�on avai lable in the ci rcumstances. The fa ir value
hierarchy is  categorised into three levels  based on the inputs  as  fol lows:
 

Level  1 - Valua�ons based on unadjusted quoted prices  in ac�ve markets  for iden�cal  assets  or
l iabi l i�es  that the Group has  the abi l i ty to access . Valua�on adjustments  are not appl ied to Level  1
investments . S ince valua�ons are based on quoted prices  that are readi ly and regularly avai lable in
an active market, valuation of these investments  does  not entai l  a  s igni ficant degree of judgement.

 
Level  2 - Valua�ons based on inputs , other than quoted prices  included in Level  1, that are
observable, ei ther directly or indirectly.
 
Level  3 - Valua�ons based on inputs  that are unobservable and s ignificant to the overal l  fa i r value
measurement.

 
I nvestments  in private investment companies  measured us ing net asset value as  a  prac�cal  expedient are not
categorised in the fa ir value hierarchy.

 
The avai labi l i ty of valua�on techniques  and observable inputs  can vary from investment to investment and is
affected by a  wide variety of factors , including the type of investment, whether the investment is  new and not
yet establ ished in the marketplace, and other characteris�cs  par�cular to the transac�on. To the extent that
valua�on is  based on models  or inputs  that are less  observable or unobservable in the market, the
determina�on of fa i r value requires  more judgement. Those es�mated values  do not necessari ly represent the
amounts  that may be ul�mately real ised due to the occurrence of future ci rcumstances  that cannot be
reasonably determined. Because of the inherent uncertainty of valua�on, those es�mated values  may be
materia l ly higher or lower than the values  that would have been used had a ready market for the investments
existed. Accordingly, the degree of judgement exercised by the Group in determining fa ir value is  greatest for
investments  categorised in Level  3. I n certain cases , the inputs  used to measure fa ir value may fa l l  into



investments  categorised in Level  3. I n certain cases , the inputs  used to measure fa ir value may fa l l  into
different levels  of the fa ir value hierarchy. I n such cases, for disclosure purposes, the level  in the fa ir value
hierarchy within which the fa ir value measurement fa l ls  in i ts  en�rety is  determined based on the lowest level
input that i s  s igni ficant to the fa ir value measurement.
 
Fair value is  a  market-based measure cons idered from the perspec�ve of a  market par�cipant rather than an
en�ty-specific measure. Therefore, even when market assump�ons are not readi ly avai lable, the Group's  own
assump�ons are set to reflect those that market par�cipants  would use in pricing the asset or l iabi l i ty at the
measurement date. The Group uses  prices  and inputs  that are current as  of the measurement date, including
periods  of market dis loca�on. I n periods  of market dis loca�on, the observabi l i ty of prices  and inputs  may be
reduced for many investments . This  condi�on could cause an investment to be reclass ified to a  lower level
within the fa ir value hierarchy.

 
Fair value - valuation techniques and inputs
 
Investments in securities and securities sold short
 
Listed investments
 
The Group values  investments  in securi�es  including exchange traded funds and securi�es  sold short that are
freely tradable and are l i s ted on a na�onal  securi�es  exchange or reported on the NAS DAQ  na�onal  market at
their clos ing sales  price as  of the valua�on date. To the extent these securi�es  are ac�vely traded and
valua�on adjustments  are not appl ied, they are categorised in Level  1 of the fa ir value hierarchy. Securi�es
traded on inac�ve markets  or valued by reference to s imi lar instruments  or where a discount may be appl ied
are categorised in Level  2 or 3 of the fa ir value hierarchy.
 
Unlisted investments
 
Unl isted investments  are valued at fa i r value by the Directors  fol lowing a detai led review and appropriate
chal lenge of the valua�ons proposed by the I nvestment Manager. As  part of their valua�on process , the
I nvestment Manager engages  I ndependent Valuers  to chal lenge their assessed fa ir value on certain unl isted
investments . The I nvestment Manager's  unl isted investment valua�on pol icy appl ies  techniques  cons istent
with the IPEV Guidel ines.
 
The valua�on techniques  appl ied are ei ther a  market-based approach, an income approach such as
discounted cash flows, or where avai lable, a  net asset value prac�cal  expedient approach. A combina�on of
the valua�on techniques  men�oned may also be u�l ised. The I P EV Guidel ines  recognise that the price of a
recent transac�on, i f resul�ng from an orderly transac�on, general ly represents  fa i r value as  at the
transac�on date and may be an appropriate star�ng point for es�ma�ng fa ir value at subsequent
measurement dates . Considera�on is  given to the facts  and ci rcumstances  as  at the subsequent measurement
date including changes  in the market and/or performance of the investee company. Mi lestone analys is  i s  used
where appropriate to incorporate opera�onal  progress  at the investee company level . I n addi�on, a  trigger
event such as  a  subsequent round of financing by the investee company would influence the market technique
used to cal ibrate fa ir value at the measurement date. W here appropriate, a  probabi l i ty-weighted expected
return method ("P W ER M") may be employed when different poten�al  outcomes (e.g. I P O, round of financing,
stay private, dissolution, etc.) are uti l i sed to derive the value of investments  held.
 
The market approach u�l ises  guidel ine publ ic companies  relying on projected revenues and/or earnings
metrics  to derive an indica�ve enterprise value. Due to the nature of the investments , being in the early stages
of development, the projected revenues are typical ly used as  a  proxy for stable state revenue. A selected
mul�ple is  then appl ied based on the observed market mul�ples  of the guidel ine publ ic companies . To reflect
the risk associated with the achievement of the projected financial  metrics  and the early development stage of
each of the investments , the indicative enterprise value is  discounted at an appropriate rate.
 
The income approach u�l ises  the discounted cash flow method. P rojected cash flows for each investment are
discounted to determine the enterprise value.
 
W here appl icable, the indica�ve enterprise value has  been determined us ing a  back-solve model  based on the
pricing of the most recent round of financing. The internal  rate of return for each investment is  compared to
the selected venture capital  rate appl ied in the market approach to assess  the reasonableness  of the indicated
value impl ied by each financing round. The derived enterprise value is  a l located to the equity class  on ei ther a
ful ly di luted bas is  or us ing an op�on pricing model . The resul�ng indica�ve value on a per share bas is  i s
then multipl ied by the number of shares  to derive the fa ir market value.
 
American depository receipts
 
The Group values  investments  in American depositary receipts  that are freely tradable and are l i s ted on a
na�onal  securi�es  exchange or reported on the NAS DAQ  na�onal  market at their last reported sales  price as
of the valuation date. These investments  are categorised in Level  1 of the fa ir value hierarchy.
 
Convertible notes
 
The Group values  investments  in conver�ble notes  in accordance with the unl isted investments  sec�on above.
As  of 31 December 2024, these investments  are a l l  categorised in Level  3 of the fa ir value hierarchy.
 
Convertible preferred stock
 
The Group values  Level  1 investments  in conver�ble preferred stock that are l i s ted on a na�onal  securi�es
exchange at their clos ing sales  price as  of the valua�on date. Level  2 investments  in conver�ble preferred
stock are valued with certain adjustments  to the underlying publ ic stocks  clos ing sales  price that i s  l i s ted on
a na�onal  securi�es  exchange. Level  3 investments  in conver�ble preferred stock are valued in accordance
with the unl isted investments  sec�on above. As  of 31 December 2024, these investments  are categorised in
Level  3 of the fa ir value hierarchy.
 
Corporate bonds
 
The fa ir value of corporate bonds is  es�mated us ing recently executed transac�ons, market price quota�ons
(where observable), bond spreads, or credit default swap spreads. The spread data used is  for the same



(where observable), bond spreads, or credit default swap spreads. The spread data used is  for the same
maturi ty as  the bond. I f the spread data does  not reference the issuer, then data that references  a  comparable
issuer is  used. W hen observable price quota�ons are not avai lable, fa i r value is  determined based on cash
flow models  us ing yield curves, bond or s ingle name credit default swap spreads, and recovery rates  based on
col lateral  values  as  key inputs . As  of 31 December 2024, these investments  are categorised in Level  2 of the
fair value hierarchy.
 
Investment in private investment companies
 
The Group values  investment in private investment companies  us ing the net asset values  provided by the
underlying private investment companies  as  a  prac�cal  expedient. The Group appl ies  the prac�cal  expedient
to i ts  private investment companies  on an investment-by-investment bas is  and cons istently with the Group's
en�re pos i�on in a  par�cular investment, unless  i t i s  probable that the Group wi l l  sel l  a  por�on of an
investment at an amount di fferent from the net asset value of the investment.
 
Private investment in public equity
 
P rivate investment in publ ic equity ("P I P E") cannot be offered for sale to the publ ic un�l  the issuer compl ies
with certain statutory or contractual  requirements . Such securi�es  traded on inac�ve markets  or valued by
reference to s imi lar instruments  or where a discount may be appl ied are general ly categorised in Level  2.
However, to the extent that s ignificant inputs  used to determine l iquidity discounts  are unobservable, P I P E
may be categorized in Level  3 of the fa ir value hierarchy. As  of 31 December 2024, these investments  are
categorised in Level  1 of the fa ir value hierarchy.
 
Revenue-Based Financing Agreement
 
These represent structured, non-di lu�ve financing al terna�ves  for bus inesses  seeking to raise capital  in l ieu
typical ly of i ssuing equity. The Group may enter into a  contract with an undertaking that owns the revenue
interest in one or more healthcare products  and such undertaking also typical ly plays  the principal  role in
commercial iza�on, marke�ng and sales  of such product or products . This  contract en�tles  the Group to
receive a  share of revenue from a stream of cash flow payments  based on the sales  of such product or
products .
 
The valua�on is  based on an income approach u�l izing management's  internal  projec�ons or sel l -s ide equity
research analysts ' consensus  es�mates  in the absence of adequate brokerage analyst coverage. The
projec�ons take into account contractual  terms specific to each revenue-based financing investment and are
present valued based on a discount rate based on the prime rate adjusted for addi�onal  investment-specific
risk that a l igns  to the debt-l ike nature of the projected cash flows specific to the Group. As  of 31 December
2024, these investments  are categorised in Level  3 of the fa ir value hierarchy.
 
Derivative contracts
 
Equity swaps
 
Equity swaps may be central ly cleared or traded on the over-the-counter market. The fa ir value of equity
swaps is  calculated based on the terms of the contract and current market data, such as  changes  in fa i r value
of the reference asset. The fa ir value of equity swaps is  general ly categorised in Level  2 of the fa ir value
hierarchy.
 
Warrants
 
Warrants  that are l i s ted on major securi�es  exchanges  are valued at their last reported sales  price as  of the
valua�on date. The fa ir value of over-the-counter ("OTC") warrants  is  determined us ing the Black-Scholes
op�on pricing model , a  valua�on technique that fol lows the income approach. This  pricing model  takes  into
account the contract terms (including maturi ty) as  wel l  as  mul�ple inputs , including �me value, impl ied
vola�l i ty, equity prices , interest rates  and currency rates . Warrants  are categorised in a l l  levels  of the fa ir
value hierarchy.
 
Contingent value rights
 
Con�ngent value rights  that are not traded on an organized faci l i ty are valued us ing a  market approach or
such other analys is  and informa�on as  the Group may determine. As  of 31 December 2024, these investments
are categorised in Level  3 of the fa ir value hierarchy.
 
Fair value - valuation processes
 
The Group establ ishes  valua�on processes  and procedures  to ensure that the valua�on techniques  are fa ir
and cons istent, and valua�on inputs  are supportable. The Group des ignates  the I nvestment Manager's
Valua�on CommiUee to oversee the en�re valua�on process  of the Group's  investments . The Valua�on
CommiUee comprises  various  members  of the I nvestment Manager, including those separate from the Group's
portfol io management and trading functions, and reports  to the Board.
 
The Valua�on CommiUee is  responsible for developing the Group's  wriUen valua�on processes  and
procedures, conduc�ng periodic reviews of the valua�on pol icies , and evalua�ng the overal l  fa i rness  and
consistent appl ication of the valuation pol icies .
 
The I nvestment Manager's  Valua�on CommiUee meets  on a monthly bas is  or more frequently, as  needed, to
determine the valua�ons of the Group's  Level  3 investments . Valua�ons determined by the Valua�on
CommiUee are required to be supported by market data, third-party pricing sources, industry-accepted pricing
models , counterparty prices  or other methods they deem to be appropriate, including the use of internal
proprietary pricing models .
 
The Group periodical ly tests  i ts  valua�ons of Level  3 investments  by performing back-tes�ng. Back-tes�ng
involves  the comparison of sales  proceeds of those investments  to the most recent fa i r values  reported and, i f
necessary, uses  the findings  to recal ibrate i ts  valuation procedures.
 
O n a regular bas is , the Group engages  the services  of third-party valua�on firms, the I ndependent Valuers , to
perform an independent review of the valua�on of the Group's  Level  3 investments  and the Group may adjust



perform an independent review of the valua�on of the Group's  Level  3 investments  and the Group may adjust
i ts  valuations  based on the recommendations  from the Investment Manager's  Valuation Committee.
 
Translation of foreign currency
 
Assets  and l iabi l i�es  denominated in foreign currencies  are trans lated into United States  Dol lar amounts  at
the year end exchange rates . Transac�ons denominated in foreign currencies , including purchases  and sales
of investments , and income and expenses, are trans lated into United States  Dol lar amounts  on the transac�on
date. Adjustments  aris ing from foreign currency transac�ons are reflected in the consol idated statement of
operations.
 
The Group does  not isolate that por�on of the results  of opera�ons aris ing from the effect of changes  in
foreign exchange rates  on investments  from fluctua�ons aris ing from changes  in market prices  of investments
held. Such fluctua�ons are included in net real ised and change in unreal ised gain/(loss) on securi�es,
derivatives  and foreign currency transactions  in the consol idated statement of operations.
 
Reported net real ised gain/(loss) from foreign currency transac�ons arise from sales  of foreign currencies ;
currency gains  or losses  real ised between the trade and seUlement dates  on securi�es  transac�ons; and the
difference between the amounts  of dividends, interest, and foreign withholding taxes  recorded on the Group's
books  and the United States  Dol lar equivalent of the amounts  actual ly received or paid.
 
Net change in unreal ised gain/(loss) from foreign currency trans la�on of assets  and l iabi l i�es  arises  from
changes  in the fa ir values  of assets  and l iabi l i�es , other than investments  in securi�es  at the end of the
period, resulting from changes  in exchange rates .
 
Investment transactions and related investment income
 
I nvestment transac�ons are accounted for on a trade date bas is . Real ised gains  and losses  on investment
transactions  have been calculated on a speci fic identi fication method.
 
Dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date and interest i s  recognised on the accrual  bas is .
 
W ithholding taxes  on foreign dividends have been provided for in accordance with the Group's  understanding
of the appl icable country's  rules  and rates .
 
Offsetting of amounts related to certain contracts
 
Amounts  due from and to brokers  are presented on a net bas is , by counterparty, to the extent the Group has
the legal  right to offset the recognised amounts  and intends to settle on a net bas is .
 
The Group has  elected not to offset fa i r value amounts  recognised for cash col lateral  receivables  and
payables  against fa i r value amounts  recognised for deriva�ve pos i�ons executed with the same counterparty
under the same master neVng arrangement. At 31 December 2024, the Group had cash col lateral  receivables
o f 23,390,565 (31 December 2023: 23,793,429) (see Note 3) with deriva�ve counterpar�es  under the same
master netting arrangement.
 
Income taxes
 
The Company and Subsidiary are exempt from taxa�on in Guernsey and were each charged an annual
exemp�on fee of GBP  1,600 (2023: GBP  1,200). The Group wi l l  only be l iable to tax in Guernsey in respect of
income aris ing or accruing from a Guernsey source, other than from a relevant bank deposit. I t i s  not
an�cipated that such Guernsey source taxable income wi l l  arise. The Group is  managed so as  not to be
res ident in the UK for UK tax purposes. 
 
The Group recognises  tax benefits  of uncertain tax pos i�ons only where the pos i�on is  more l ikely than not to
be sustained assuming examina�on by a  tax authori ty based on the technical  merits  of the pos i�on. I n
evaluating whether a  tax pos ition has  met the recognition threshold, the Group must presume the pos ition wi l l
be examined by the appropriate taxing authori ty and that taxing authori ty has  ful l  knowledge of a l l  relevant
informa�on. A tax pos i�on mee�ng the more l ikely than not recogni�on threshold is  measured to determine
the amount of benefit to recognise in the Group's  consol idated financial  s tatements . I ncome tax and related
interest and penal�es  would be recognised as  a  tax expense in the consol idated statement of opera�ons i f the
tax pos ition was deemed to meet the more l ikely than not threshold.
 
The I nvestment Manager has  analysed the Group's  tax pos i�ons and has  concluded no l iabi l i ty for
unrecognised tax benefits  should be recorded related to uncertain tax pos i�ons. Further, management is  not
aware of any tax pos i�ons for which i t i s  reasonably poss ible the total  amounts  of unrecognised tax benefits
wi l l  s igni ficantly change in the next twelve months.
 
The Company, UK  Subsidiary and the Subs idiary each file income tax returns  in the US federal  jurisdic�on
and, as  appl icable, in US state or local  jurisdic�ons, or non-US jurisdic�ons. General ly, the Group was
subject to income tax examina�ons by major taxing authori�es  for each tax period s ince incep�on. Based on
its  analys is , the Group determined that i t had not incurred any l iabi l i ty for unrecognised tax benefits  as  of 31
December 2024 or 31 December 2023.
 
Use of estimates
 
P reparing consol idated financial  s tatements  in accordance with US GAAP  requires  management to make
es�mates  and assump�ons in determining the reported amounts  of assets  and l iabi l i�es , including the fa ir
value of investments , and disclosure of con�ngent assets  and l iabi l i�es  as  of the date of the consol idated
financial  s tatements  and the reported amounts  of income and expenses  during the repor�ng period. Actual
results  could di ffer from those estimates.
 
2.   Fair value measurements
 
The Group's  assets  and l iabi l i�es  recorded at fa i r value have been categorised based upon a fa i r value
hierarchy as  described in the Group's  s igni ficant accounting pol icies  in Note 1.
 
The fol lowing table presents  informa�on about the Group's  assets  and l iabi l i�es  measured at fa i r value as  of



The fol lowing table presents  informa�on about the Group's  assets  and l iabi l i�es  measured at fa i r value as  of
31 December 2024:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Investments
measured at

net asset
value* Total

 

Assets (at fa i r value)

Investments in securities
Common stocks 362,223,884 266,171 1,457,470  - 363,947,525
Convertible preferred stocks -  -  164,325,035  - 164,325,035
Convertible notes  -   -  32,744,748  -  32,744,748
American depository receipts  30,724,375 -  -  -  30,724,375
Investment in private
investment companies

 
 -  

 
 -

 
 -  

 
19,094,800

 
 19,094,800

Revenue based financing
agreement

 
 -  

 
 -

 
 174,613

 
 -

 
 174,613

Corporate bonds - - - - -
Total investments in securities

392,948,259 266,171 198,701,866 19,094,800
 

611,011,096

Derivative contracts
Warrants 367 87,127,278 919,671  -  88,047,316
Equity swaps  -  20,526,482  -   -  20,526,482
Contingent value rights  -  -  1,603,374  -  1,603,374
Total derivative contracts  367 107,653,760 2,523,045  - 110,177,172

 
 392,948,626

 
107,919,931

 
201,224,911

 
 19,094,800

 
 721,188,268

Liabilities (at fa i r value)

Securities sold short
Common stocks  94,837,287  -  -  -  94,837,287
American depository receipts  314,206 - - -  314,206
Total securities sold short 95,151,493 - - -  95,151,493

Derivative contracts
Equity swaps  - 7,799,422  -  -  7,799,422
Total derivative contracts  -  7,799,422  -   -   7,799,422

 95,151,493  7,799,422  -   -   102,950,915
 

* The Group's  investment in private investment companies  that are valued at their net asset value are not
categorised within the fa ir value hierarchy.

 
 
The fol lowing table presents  informa�on about the Group's  assets  and l iabi l i�es  measured at fa i r value as  of
31 December 2023:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Investments
measured at

net asset
value* Total

 

Assets (at fa i r value)

Investments in securities
Common stocks  204,773,131  1,000,720  904,339 -  206,678,190
Convertible preferred stocks  1,854,238  2,836,628  73,189,264 -  77,880,130
Investment in private
investment companies

 
 -  -

 
 -  41,855,893 41,855,893

American depository receipts  33,213,628 -  -  -  33,213,628
Convertible notes - - 7,983,390 - 7,983,390
Total investments in securities

239,840,997 3,837,348 82,076,993 41,855,893
 

 367,611,231

Derivative contracts
Equity swaps -  7,475,802 - -  7,475,802
Warrants  5,247  6,743,593  697,472 -  7,446,312
Contingent value rights  -   -   541,706 -  541,706
Total derivative contracts  5,247  14,219,395  1,239,178 -  15,463,820

 
239,846,244

 
18,056,743

 
83,316,171

 
41,855,893 

 
 383,075,051

Liabilities (at fa i r value)

Securities sold short
Common stocks  1,146,920  51,001  -   -   1,197,921
Total securities sold short  1,146,920  51,001  -   -   1,197,921

   
Derivative contracts    
Equity swaps  -   8,390,327  -   -   8,390,327
Total derivative contracts -     8,390,327  -   -   8,390,327

 1,146,920 8,441,328  -   -  9,588,248
 

* The Group's  investment in private investment companies  that are valued at their net asset value are not



* The Group's  investment in private investment companies  that are valued at their net asset value are not
categorised within the fa ir value hierarchy.

 
The fol lowing tables  summarise the valua�on techniques  and s ignificant unobservable inputs  used for the
Group's  investments  that are categorised within Level  3 of the fa ir value hierarchy as  of 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023:
 

Fair value at
31 December

2024 Valuation techniques
Significant

unobservable inputs
Range of

inputs
Assets (at fa i r value)
Investments in securities
 Convertible preferred stocks 56,837,402        Recent transaction

price
n/a n/a

37,870,153 Discounted cash flow WACC 10% - 31%
and/or market

approach
Revenue multiples 2.0x - 4.0x

Market rate of returns
 

(13%) - 15%

69,559,998 Probabi l i ty-weighted 
expected return method

("PWERM") 

WACC
  Revenue multiples

  Market step-up
multiple

10% - 20%
4.0x

0.8x - 2.1x

Market rate of returns (5%) - 5%
57,482 Liquidation value n/a n/a

Convertible notes 32,156,487 PWERM Discount rate 6% -12%
Market step-up

multiple
0.9x - 1.2x

Market rate of returns (5%) - 5%
  Expected volati l i ty 60%

588,261 Recent transaction
price

n/a n/a

Common stocks 246,828 Recent transaction
price

n/a n/a

375,605 Liquidation value n/a n/a
835,037 Probabi l i ty-weighted 

expected return method
("PWERM") 

Market step-up
multiple  Market Rate

of Returns
 

0.9x - 1.2x
5% - 5%

 

Revenue interest financing 174,613 Discounted cash flow
and/or market

approach

WACC 28% - 28%
 

Total investments in securities 198,701,866    
     
Derivative contracts
Contingent value rights 1,603,374 Recent transaction

price
n/a n/a

Warrants 919,671 Discounted cash flow
and/or market

approach
and option pricing

model

  Expected volati l i ty 40%

Total derivative contracts 2,523,045    

 
 

Fair value at 31
December

2023 Valuation techniques
Significant unobservable

inputs
Range of

inputs
Assets (at fa i r value)
Investments in securities
 Convertible preferred stocks 44,732,084 Recent transaction price n/a n/a

19,614,346 Discounted cash flow WACC 13% - 30%
and/or market approach Revenue multiples 2.8x - 4.0x

Market rate of returns
 

(18%) - 10%

8,727,481 Probabi l i ty-weighted 
expected return method

("PWERM") 

WACC
  Revenue multiples

  Market step-up multiple

12% - 20%
4.0x

0.7x - 1.8x

Market rate of returns (23)% - 10%
Recovery rate 50%

115,353 Liquidation value n/a n/a
Convertible notes 7,566,258 PWERM Discount rate 5% -7%

  Expected volati l i ty 60%
352,904 Discounted cash flow WACC 26%

and/or market approach Revenue multiples 4.0x
Market rate of returns (3%)

64,228 Recent transaction price n/a n/a

Common stocks 798,531 Recent transaction price n/a n/a
105,808 Market approach Revenue multiples 0.5x -0.6x

Total investments in securities 82,076,993    



Total investments in securities 82,076,993    
     
Derivative contracts
Warrants 697,472 Recent transaction price Expected volati l i ty 38% - 43%

and option pricing model
Contingent value rights 541,706 Recent transaction price n/a n/a
Total derivative contracts 1,239,178    

 
 
The s ignificant unobservable inputs  used in the fa ir value measurements  of Level  3 common stock, conver�ble
preferred stocks , conver�ble notes , and warrants  include, but are not l imited to, WAC C, revenue and/or
earnings  mul�ple, market rate of return, and expected vola�l i ty. I ncreases  in the WAC C in isola�on would
result in a  lower fa ir value for the securi ty, and vice versa. I ncreases  in mul�ples  and/or market rate of
returns  in isola�on would result in a  higher fa i r value of the securi ty, and vice versa. A change in vola�l i ty in
isolation could result in a  higher or lower fa ir value for the securi ty.
 
The below table presents  addi�onal  informa�on about Level  3 assets  and l iabi l i�es  measured at fa i r value.
Both observable and unobservable inputs  may be used to determine the fa ir value of pos i�ons that the Group
has  class ified within the Level  3 category. As  a  result, the unreal ised gains  and losses  for assets  and
l iabi l i�es  within the Level  3 category may include changes  in fa i r value that were aUributable to both
observable and unobservable inputs .
 
Changes  in Level  3 assets  and l iabi l i�es  measured at fa i r value for the year ended 31 December 2024 were as
fol lows:
 

Balance
beginning 1

January 2024
Realised gains/

(losses)(a)

Change in
Unrealised

gains/
(losses)(a) Purchases Sales

Transfers
into/(from)
Level 3(b)

Ending
balance 31
December

2024
Assets (at fair value)

Investments in
securities
Common stocks               904,339 3,423,828  (8,477,436)  9,030,018 (4,897,750) 1,474,471  1,457,470
Convertible
preferred stocks

 
73,189,264

 
-

 
32,032,300

 
67,196,769

 
-

 
(8,093,298)

 
164,325,035

Convertible notes  7,983,390 83,537  (570,999)  27,016,689 (1,768,682) 813  32,744,748
Revenue based
financing
agreement

 
-

 
-

 
 13,882

 
160,731

 
-

 
-

 
 174,613

Total investments
in securities 82,076,993 3,507,365 22,997,747 103,404,207 (6,666,432) (6,618,014) 198,701,866

Derivative
contracts
Warrants  697,472 -  221,386 -  -  813 919,671
Contingent value
rights

 
541,706

 
812,225

 
430,401

 
466,419

  
(812,225)

 
164,848

 
 1,603,374

Total derivative
contracts 1,239,178 812,225 651,787 466,419  (812,225) 165,661 2,523,045

 

 

Changes  in Level  3 assets  and l iabi l i�es  measured at fa i r value for the year ended 31 December 2023 were as
fol lows:

Balance
beginning 1

January 2023
Realised gains/

(losses)(a)

Change in
Unrealised

gains/
(losses)(a) Purchases Sales

Transfers
into/(from)

Level 3(c)

Ending
balance 31
December

2023
Assets (at fair value)

Investments in
securities
Common stocks 3,364,557 -  (304,109) - - (2,156,109)  904,339
Convertible
preferred stocks 57,932,949 -

 
6,114,014

 
 7,595,169  -

 
1,547,132

 
73,189,264

Convertible notes 10,052,833 -  (1,329,981)  11,536,901  -  (12,276,363)   7,983,390
Total investments
in securities 71,350,339 -  4,479,924 19,132,070 - (12,885,340) 82,076,993
        
Derivative
contracts
Warrants 476,911 -  21,813  321,257 -  (122,509)  697,472
Contingent value
rights - -

 
541,706

 
-  

 
-  

 
-

 
541,706

Total derivative
contracts  476,911  - 563,519 321,257 - (122,509) 1,239,178

 
(a) Realised and unrealised gains and losses are included in net realised and change in unrealised gain/(loss) on investments,
derivatives and foreign currency transactions in the consolidated statement of operations.
 
(b) Conversions of preferred stock into common stock.
 
(c) Includes conversion of convertible bonds into convertible preferred stock and convertible notes.
 
Changes  in Level  3 unreal ised gains  and losses  during the year for assets  s�l l  held at year end were as
fol lows:
 
 2024 2023

Common stocks (8,477,436) 116,949
Convertible notes (570,999)  (919,115)



Convertible notes (570,999)  (919,115)
Convertible preferred stocks 32,081,173 6,199,338
Revenue Based Financing Agreement 13,882 -
Contingent value rights 430,401 541,706
Warrants 221,386 21,813
Change in unrealised gains and losses during the year for
assets still held at year end 23,698,407 5,960,691
 
Total  real ised gains  and losses  and unreal ised gains  and losses  in the Group's  investment in securi�es,
derivative contracts  and securi ties  sold short are made up of the fol lowing gain and loss  elements:
 
 2024 2023

Real ised gains  96,931,839  127,739,248
Real ised losses  (60,671,005) (60,622,155)
N et realised gain on securi=es, deriva=ve contracts and
securities sold short 36,260,834 67,117,093
 
 
 2024 2023

Change in unreal ised gains  190,826,387 132,672,225
Change in unreal ised losses  (184,163,957) (111,833,730)
N et change in unrealised gain/(loss) on securi=es,
derivative contracts and securities sold short 6,662,430 20,838,495
 

As  at 31 December 2024, the Group had commitments  (subject to comple�on of certain parameters) to
certain investments  total l ing 22,390,694 (31 December 2023: 59,732,160), which was mainly comprised
of a  14,651,294 commitment to the 4010 Royalty Fund.
 
 

3.    Due to/from brokers
 
Due to/from brokers  includes  cash balances  held with brokers  and col lateral  on deriva�ve transac�ons.
Amounts  due from brokers  may be restricted to the extent that they serve as  deposits  for securi�es  sold short
or cash posted as  col lateral  for derivative contracts .
 
As  at 31 December 2024, due from brokers  total led 27,990,478 (31 December 2023: 57,887,214). I ncluded
within due from brokers  is  4,599,913 (31 December 2023: 34,093,785) which can be used for investment. The
Group pledged cash col lateral  to counterpar�es  to over-the-counter deriva�ve contracts  of 23,390,565 (31
December 2023: 23,793,429) which is  included in due from brokers .
 
I n the normal  course of bus iness , substan�al ly a l l  of the Group's  securi�es  transac�ons, money balances,
and securi ty pos i�ons are transacted with the Group's  prime brokers  and counterpar�es, Goldman Sachs  &
Co. LLC, Cowen Financial  P roducts , LLC, UBS AG, Bank of America Merri l l  Lynch, Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC,
Jefferies  & Co. and J.P. Morgan Securi�es, LLC. The Group is  subject to credit risk to the extent any broker with
which i t conducts  bus iness  is  unable to fulfil  contractual  obl iga�ons on i ts  behal f. The Group's  management
monitors  the financial  condi�on of such brokers  and does  not an�cipate any losses  from these
counterparties .
 
4.   Derivative contracts
 
I n the normal  course of bus iness , the Group u�l ises  deriva�ve contracts  in connec�on with i ts  proprietary
trading ac�vi�es. I nvestments  in deriva�ve contracts  are subject to addi�onal  risks  that can result in a  loss
of a l l  or part of an investment. The Group's  deriva�ve ac�vi�es  and exposure to deriva�ve contracts  are
class i fied by the primary underlying risk, equity price risk and foreign currency exchange rate risk. In addition
to i ts  primary underlying risk, the Group is  a lso subject to addi�onal  counterparty risk due to the inabi l i ty of
i ts  counterparties  to meet the terms of their contracts .
 
Warrants
 
The Group may receive warrants  from i ts  por1ol io companies  upon an investment in the debt or equity of a
por1ol io company. The warrants  provide the Group with exposure and poten�al  gains  upon equity
appreciation of the portfol io company's  share price.
 
The value of a  warrant has  two components: �me value and intrins ic value. A warrant has  a  l imited l i fe and
expires  on a certain date. As  �me to the expira�on date of a  warrant approaches, the �me value of a  warrant
wi l l  decl ine. I n addi�on, i f the stock underlying the warrant decl ines  in price, the intrins ic value of an "in the
money" warrant wi l l  decl ine. Further, i f the price of the stock underlying the warrant does  not exceed the strike
price of the warrant on the expiration date, the warrant wi l l  expire worthless . As  a  result, there is  the potentia l
for the Group to lose i ts  enti re investment in a  warrant.
 
The Group is  exposed to counterparty risk from the poten�al  fa i lure of an issuer of warrants  to seUle i ts
exercised warrants . The maximum risk of loss  from counterparty risk to the Group is  the fa ir value of the
contracts  and the purchase price of the warrants . The Group cons iders  the effects  of counterparty risk when
determining the fa ir value of i ts  investments  in warrants .
 
Equity swap contracts
 
The Group is  subject to equity price risk in the normal  course of pursuing i ts  investment objec�ves. The Group
may enter into equity swap contracts  ei ther to manage i ts  exposure to the market or certain sectors  of the
market, or to create exposure to certain equities  to which i t i s  otherwise not exposed.
 
Equity swap contracts  involve the exchange by the Group and a counterparty of their respec�ve commitments
to pay or receive a  net amount based on the change in the fa ir value of a  par�cular securi ty or index and a
speci fied notional  amount.
 



 
Contingent value rights
 
The Group may receive con�ngent value rights  during mergers , acquis i�ons, or dives�tures. Con�ngent value
rights  are des igned to provide the Group with addi�onal  compensa�on or benefits  con�ngent upon the
occurrence of specific future events , such as  regulatory approvals , mi lestones  related to product development
or commercial iza�on, or the achievement of certain financial  targets . Con�ngent value rights  are subject to
the uncertainty of payout, as  their value hinges  on the occurrence of specific events . The Group cons iders  the
uncertainty when determining the fa ir value of i ts  investments  in contingent value rights .
 
Volume of derivative activities
 
The Group cons iders  the average month-end no�onal  amounts  during the year, categorised by primary
underlying risk, to be representa�ve of the volume of i ts  deriva�ve ac�vi�es  during the year ended 31
December 2024:
 

2024       2023
Long

exposure  
Short

exposure  
Long

exposure  
Short

exposure

Primary underlying risk
Notional
amounts

Notional
amounts  

Notional
amounts  

Notional
amounts

Equity price
Equity swaps 60,394,443 30,266,515 64,032,939 56,046,951
Warrants (a) 92,282,619 -  3,963,562 -
Contingent value rights 2,070,315 - 541,706 -

154,747,377  30,266,515  68,538,207  56,046,951
 
(a) No�onal amounts presented for warrants are based on the fair value of the underlying shares as if the warrants were
exercised at each respective month end date.
 
Impact of deriva=ves on the consolidated statement of assets and liabili=es and consolidated statement of
operations

 
The fol lowing tables  iden�fy the fa ir value amounts  of deriva�ve instruments  included in the consol idated
statement of assets  and l iabi l i�es  as  deriva�ve contracts , categorised by primary underlying risk, at 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023. The fol lowing table a lso identi fies  the gain and loss  amounts  included
in the consol idated statement of opera�ons as  net real ised gain/(loss) on deriva�ve contracts  and net change
in unreal ised gain/(loss) on deriva�ve contracts , categorised by primary underlying risk, for the year ended
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

 
2024

Primary underlying risk
Derivative

assets  
Derivative
liabilities

Realised
gain/(loss)  

Change in
unrealised
gain/(loss)

Equity price
Warrants  88,047,316 -  (19,829)  27,075,679
Equity swaps  20,526,482 7,799,422  7,447,081  13,641,585
Contingent value rights  1,603,374 -  812,225  430,401

110,177,172  7,799,422  8,239,477  41,147,665
 

 
2023

Primary underlying risk
Derivative

assets  
Derivative
liabilities

Realised
gain/(loss)  

Change in
unrealised
gain/(loss)

Equity price
Equity swaps  7,475,802  8,390,327 (2,428,614)  (11,074,111)
Warrants  7,446,312  -   (373)  1,408,458
Contingent value rights  541,706  -   -   541,706

 15,463,820   8,390,327  (2,428,987)   (9,123,947)
 
 
5.   Securities lending agreements
 
The Group has  entered into securi�es  lending agreements  with i ts  prime brokers . From �me to �me, the prime
brokers  lend securi�es  on the Group's  behalf. As  of 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, no securi�es
were loaned and no col lateral  was  received.
 
 
6.   Offsetting assets and liabilities
 
The Group is  required to disclose the impact of offseVng assets  and l iabi l i�es  represented in the
consol idated statement of assets  and l iabi l i�es  to enable users  of the consol idated financial  s tatements  to
evaluate the effect or poten�al  effect of neVng arrangements  on i ts  financial  pos i�on for recognised assets
and l iabi l i�es. These recognised assets  and l iabi l i�es  are financial  instruments  and deriva�ve instruments
that are ei ther subject to an enforceable master neVng arrangement or s imi lar agreement or meet the
fol lowing right of setoff cri teria: the amounts  owed by the Group to another party are determinable, the Group
has  the right to offset the amounts  owed with the amounts  owed by the other party, the Group intends to offset
and the Group's  right of setoff i s  enforceable by law.
 
As  of 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Group held financial  instruments  and deriva�ve
instruments  that were el igible for offset in the consol idated statement of assets  and l iabi l i�es  and are subject
to a  master neVng arrangement. The master neVng arrangement a l lows the counterparty to net appl icable
col lateral  held on behalf of the Group against appl icable l iabi l i ties  or payment obl igations  of the Group to the
counterparty. These arrangements  a lso a l low the counterparty to net any of i ts  appl icable l iabi l i�es  or
payment obl igations  they have to the Group against any col lateral  sent to the Group.



payment obl igations  they have to the Group against any col lateral  sent to the Group.
 
As  discussed in Note 1, the Group has  elected not to offset assets  and l iabi l i�es  in the consol idated statement
of assets  and l iabi l i�es. The fol lowing table presents  the poten�al  effect of neVng arrangements  for asset
derivative contracts  presented in the consol idated statement of assets  and l iabi l i ties :
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Description

Gross
amounts of
recognised

assets

Gross amounts
offset in the
consolidated
statement of

assets and
liabilities

Gross
amounts of
recognised

assets

31 December 2024
Gross amounts not offset in the consolidated

statement of
assets and liabilities

 
Financial

instruments(a)

Cash
collateral

received(b)  Net amount
Equity swaps
Cowen Financial
Products , LLC

 
 11,004,397 -

 
 11,004,397

 
 (3,666,923) - 7,337,474

Morgan Stanley & Co.
LLC

 5,639,240
-

 5,639,240  (2,056,637)
- 3,582,603

Bank of America
Merri l l  Lynch

 
 3,411,345 -

 
 3,411,345

 
 (49) - 3,411,296

Jefferies  & Co.  471,500 -  471,500  (471,500) - -
 20,526,482  -   20,526,482  (6,195,109)  -  14,331,373

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Description

Gross
amounts of
recognised

assets

Gross amounts
offset in the
consolidated
statement of

assets and
liabilities

Gross
amounts of
recognised

assets

31 December 2023
Gross amounts not offset in the consolidated

statement of
assets and liabilities

 
Financial

instruments(a)

Cash
collateral

received(b)  Net amount
Equity swaps
Cowen Financial
Products , LLC

 
6,235,319 -  6,235,319 (286,396) -  5,948,923

Jefferies  & Co.  1,058,293 -  1,058,293 (758,677) - 299,616
Morgan Stanley & Co.
LLC  129,527 -  129,527 (129,527) - -
Bank of America
Merri l l  Lynch 52,663 -  52,663 (52,663) -  -

7,475,802  - 7,475,802  (1,227,263)  -  6,248,539          

 
(a ) Amounts related to master neVng agreements (e.g. ISDA), determined by the Group to be legally enforceable in the event of
default and if certain other criteria are met in accordance with applicable offseVng accoun�ng guidance but were not offset due
to management's accounting policy election.
 
(b) Amounts related to master neVng agreements and collateral agreements determined by the Group to be legally
enforceable in the event of default, but certain other criteria are not met in accordance with applicable offseVng accoun�ng
guidance. The collateral amounts may exceed the related net amounts of financial assets and liabili�es presented in the
consolidated statement of assets and liabili�es. If this is the case, the total amount reported is limited to the net amounts of
financial assets and liabilities with that counterparty.
 
The fol lowing tables  present the poten�al  effect of neVng arrangements  for l iabi l i ty deriva�ve contracts
presented in the consol idated statement of assets  and l iabi l i�es  as  of 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023:
 

 
 
 
Description

Gross
amounts of
recognised
liabilities

Gross amounts
offset in the
consolidated
statement of

assets and
liabilities

Gross amounts
of recognised

liabilities

31 December 2024
Gross amounts not offset in the

consolidated statement of
assets and liabilities

Net amount 
Financial

instruments(a)

Cash
collateral

pledged(b)  
Equity swaps
Cowen Financial
Products , LLC

 
 3,666,923 -

 
 3,666,923

 
 (3,666,923) - -

Jefferies  & Co.  2,069,804 -  2,069,804  (471,500) (1,598,304) -
Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC  2,056,637 -  2,056,637  (2,056,637) - -
J.P. Morgan Securi ties ,
LLC

 
 6,009 -

 
 6,009

 
 -  - 6,009

Bank of America Merri l l
Lynch

 
 49 -

 
 49

 
 (49) - -

7,799,422 - 7,799,422  (6,195,109)  (1,598,304)  6,009
 

 
 
 
Description

Gross
amounts of
recognised
liabilities

Gross amounts
offset in the
consolidated
statement of

assets and
liabilities

Gross amounts
of recognised

liabilities

31 December 2023
Gross amounts not offset in the

consolidated statement of
assets and liabilities

Net amount 
Financial

instruments(a)

Cash
collateral

pledged(b)  



Description liabilities liabilities liabilities  instruments(a) pledged(b)  Net amount
Equity swaps
Bank of America Merri l l
Lynch 4,382,764 - 4,382,764 (52,663) (4,320,957) 9,144
Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC 2,962,490 - 2,962,490 (129,527) (2,832,963) -
Jefferies  & Co. 758,677 - 758,677 (758,677) - -
Cowen Financial
Products , LLC 286,396 - 286,396 (286,396) - -

8,390,327 - 8,390,327  (1,227,263)  (7,153,920)  9,144
 
(a ) Amounts related to master neVng agreements (e.g. ISDA), determined by the Group to be legally enforceable in the event of
default and if certain other criteria are met in accordance with applicable offseVng accoun�ng guidance but were not offset due
to management's accounting policy election.
 
(b) Amounts related to master neVng agreements and collateral agreements determined by the Group to be legally
enforceable in the event of default, but certain other criteria are not met in accordance with applicable offseVng accoun�ng
guidance. The collateral amounts may exceed the related net amounts of financial assets and liabili�es presented in the
consolidated statement of assets and liabili�es. If this is the case, the total amount reported is limited to the net amounts of
financial assets and liabilities with that counterparty.
 
 
7.  Securities sold short
 
The Group is  subject to certain inherent risks  aris ing from i ts  inves�ng ac�vi�es  of sel l ing securi�es  short.
The ul�mate cost to the Group to acquire these securi�es  may exceed the l iabi l i ty reflected in these
consol idated financial  s tatements .
 
 
8.   Risk factors
 
Some underlying investments  may be deemed to be highly specula�ve investments  and are not intended as  a
complete investment program. The Company is  des igned only for sophis�cated persons  who are able to bear
the economic risk of the loss  of their en�re investment in the Company and who have a l imited need for
l iquidity in their investment. The fol lowing risks  are appl icable to the Company:
 
Market risk
 
Certain events  par�cular to each market in which Por1ol io Companies  conduct opera�ons, as  wel l  as  general
economic and pol i�cal  condi�ons, may have a s ignificant nega�ve impact on the opera�ons and profitabi l i ty
of the Group's  investments  and/or on the fa ir value of the Group's  investments . Such events  are beyond the
Group's  control , and the l ikel ihood they may occur and the effect on the Group cannot be predicted. The Group
intends to mi�gate market risk general ly by inves�ng in Medtech and Biotech Companies in various
geographies .
 
Por1ol io Company products  are subject to regulatory approvals  and ac�ons with new drugs, medical  devices
and procedures  being subject to extens ive regulatory scrutiny before approval , and approvals  can be revoked.
 
The market value of the Group's  holdings  in publ ic Por1ol io Companies  could be affected by a  number of
factors , including, but not l imited to: a  change in sen�ment in the market regarding the publ ic Por1ol io
Companies , the market's  appe�te for specific asset classes; and the financial  or opera�onal  performance of
the publ ic Portfol io Companies .
 
The s ize of investments  in publ ic Por1ol io Companies  or involvement in management may trigger restric�ons
on buying or sel l ing securi�es. Laws and regula�ons rela�ng to takeovers  and ins ide informa�on may restrict
the abi l i ty of the Group to carry out transac�ons, or there may be delays  or disclosure requirements  before
transactions  can be completed.
 
Equity prices  and returns  from inves�ng in equity markets  are sens i�ve to various  factors , including but not
l imited to: expecta�ons of future dividends and profits ; economic growth; exchange rates; interest rates; and
inflation.
 
Biotech/healthcare companies
 
The Portfol io Companies  are biotechnology and medical  technology companies , which are general ly subject to
greater governmental  regula�on than other industries  at both the state and federal  levels . Changes  in
governmental  pol icies  may have a materia l  effect on the demand for or costs  of certain products  and services .
 
Any fa i lure by a  Por1ol io Company to develop new technologies  or to accurately evaluate the technical  or
commercial  prospects  of new technologies  could result in i t fa i l ing to achieve a growth in value and this
could have a materia l  adverse effect on the Group's  financial  condition.
 
Por1ol io Companies  may not successful ly trans late promis ing scien�fic theory into a  commercial ly viable
business  opportunity. Further, the Por1ol io Companies ' therapies  in development may fa i l  cl inical  tria ls  and
therefore no longer be viable.
 
Por1ol io Company products  are subject to intense compe��on and there are many factors  that wi l l  affect
whether the new therapies  released by the Por1ol io Companies  gain market share against compe�tors  and
existing therapies .
 
Por1ol io Companies  may be newer smal l  and mid-s ize Medtech and Biotech Companies . These companies
may be more volati le and have less  experience and fewer resources  than more establ ished companies .
 
Concentration risk
 
The Group may not make an investment or a  series  of investments  in a  Por1ol io Company that result in the
Group's  aggregate investment in such Por1ol io Company exceeding 15 per cent. of the Group's  gross  assets ,
save for Rocket for which the l imit i s  25 per cent. as  stated in the Company's  P rospectus. Each of these
investment restric�ons wi l l  be calculated as  at the �me of investment. As  such, i t i s  poss ible that the Group's
por1ol io may be concentrated at any given point in �me, poten�al ly with more than 15 per cent. of gross



por1ol io may be concentrated at any given point in �me, poten�al ly with more than 15 per cent. of gross
assets  held in one Por1ol io Company as  Por1ol io Companies  increase or decrease in value fol lowing such
ini�al  investment. The Group's  por1ol io of investments  may also lack divers ifica�on among Medtech and
Biotech Companies  and related investments .
 
Concentration of credit risk
 
I n the normal  course of bus iness , the Group maintains  i ts  cash balances  in financial  ins�tu�ons, which at
�mes may exceed US federal , Guernsey or UK  insured l imits , as  appl icable. The Group is  subject to credit risk
to the extent any financial  ins�tu�on with which i t conducts  bus iness  is  unable to fulfil  contractual
obl iga�ons on i ts  behal f. Management monitors  the financial  condi�on of such financial  ins�tu�ons and
does not anticipate any losses  from these counterparties .
 
Counterparty risk
 
The Group invests  in equity swaps and takes  the risk of non-performance by the other party to the contract.
This  risk may include credit risk of the counterparty, the risk of seUlement default, and general ly, the risk of
the inabi l i ty of counterpar�es  to perform with respect to transac�ons, whether due to insolvency, bankruptcy
or other causes.
 
I n an effort to mi�gate such risks , the Group wi l l  aUempt to l imit i ts  transac�ons to counterpar�es  which are
establ ished, wel l  capital ised and creditworthy.
 
Liquidity risk
 
Liquidity risk i s  the risk that the Group cannot meet i ts  financial  commitments  as  they fa l l  due. The Group's
unquoted investments  may have l imited or no secondary market l iquidity so the I nvestment Manager
maintains  a  sufficient balance of cash and market quoted securi�es  which can be sold i f needed to meet i ts
commitments .
 
The Group's  investments  in quoted securi�es  may also be subject to sale restric�ons on l i s�ng and when the
I nvestment Manager is  subject to close periods  or privy to confiden�al  informa�on by vi rtue of their ac�ve
involvement in the management of portfol io companies .
 
Deriva�ve transac�ons may not be l iquid in a l l  ci rcumstances, such that in vola�le markets  i t may not be
poss ible to close out a  pos i�on without incurring a  loss . The i l l iquidity of the deriva�ves  markets  may be due
to various  factors , including conges�on, disorderly markets , l imita�ons on del iverable suppl ies , the
par�cipa�on of speculators , government regula�on and interven�on, and technical  and opera�onal  or
system fai lures .
 
Foreign exchange risk
 
The Group wi l l  make investments  in various  jurisdic�ons in a  number of currencies  and wi l l  be exposed to the
risk of currency fluctua�ons that may materia l ly adversely affect, amongst other things , the value of the
Por1ol io Company or the Group's  investment in such Por1ol io Company, or any distribu�ons received from
the Por1ol io Company. Under i ts  investment pol icy, the Group does  not intend to enter into any securi�es  or
financial ly engineered products  des igned to hedge por1ol io exposure or mi�gate por1ol io risk as  a  core part
of i ts  investment strategy.
 
 
9.   Share capital
 
During the year ended 31 December 2024 the Company share activi ty was  as  fol lows:
 
 2024 2024 2023 2023
  

Number of
Ordinary

Shares

 

Number of
Treasury
Shares

Number of
Ordinary

Shares

Number of
Treasury
Shares

As  at 1 January 210,635,347 1,753,791 212,389,138 -
Share issuance 133,578,302 - - -
Share buyback (8,500,000) 8,500,000 (1,753,791) 1,753,791
As at 31 December 335,713,649 10,253,791 210,635,347 1,753,791
 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company bought back 8,500,000 (31 December 2023: 1,753,791)
O rdinary Shares  at an average price of US 1.33 (31 December 2023: 1.19) for a  total  cost of US 11,340,306 (31
December 2023: 2,093,411), including transac�on costs  of 22,681 (31 December 2023: 4,178). At the date of
approval  of these consol idated financial  s tatements , 10,253,791 repurchased O rdinary Shares  were held as
treasury shares  (31 December 2023: 1,753,791).
 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company issued 181,901,165 O rdinary Shares  to faci l i tate the
acquis i�on of Arix Bioscience plc in an al l -share transac�on for 246,476,079 with associated issuance costs
of 6,473,897. O f the 181,901,165 O rdinary Shares , 48,322,863, with a  value of 59,221,117, were issued to the
Group as  exis�ng shareholders  of Arix Bioscience plc, and were subsequently cancel led. The detai ls  around
this  transaction are further disclosed within the consol idated statement of cash flows and within Note 1.
 
O rdinary Shares  carry the right to receive a l l  income of the Company aUributable to the O rdinary Shares  and
to par�cipate in any distribu�on of such income made by the Company. Such income shal l  be divided pari
passu among the holders  of Ordinary Shares  in proportion to the number of Ordinary Shares  held by them.
 
O rdinary Shares  shal l  carry the right to receive no�ce of and aUend and vote at any general  mee�ng of the
Company, and at any such mee�ng on a show of hands, every holder of O rdinary Shares  present in person
(includes  present by aUorney or by proxy or, in the case of a  corporate member, by duly authorised corporate
representa�ve) and en�tled to vote shal l  have one vote, and on a pol l , subject to any special  vo�ng powers  or
restric�ons, every holder of O rdinary Shares  present in person or by proxy shal l  be en�tled to one vote for
each Ordinary Share, or fraction of an Ordinary Share, held.



each Ordinary Share, or fraction of an Ordinary Share, held.
 
O n 1 December 2022, the Performance Al loca�on Share held by RTW  Venture Performance LLC was
surrendered in exchange for a  New Performance Al loca�on Share issued by the Subs idiary. The New
Performance Al loca�on Share issued by the Subs idiary has  iden�cal  terms to the original  Performance
Al loca�on Share issued by the Company. From 1 December 2022, the Performance Al loca�on Amount is  now
al located at the Subs idiary level , and is  presented in the Group's  financial  s tatements  as  part of the Non-
Control l ing I nterest. The sole New Performance Al loca�on Share is  held by RTW  Venture Performance LLC. As
at 31 December 2024, there were no Performance Al loca�on Shares  of the Company in issue (31 December
2023: ni l ) and one New Performance Al location Share of the Subs idiary in issue (31 December 2023: one).
 
New Performance Al loca�on Shares  of the Subs idiary carry the right to receive, and par�cipate in, any
dividends or other distribu�ons of the Subs idiary avai lable for dividend or distribu�on. New Performance
Al loca�on Shares  are not en�tled to receive no�ce of, to aUend or to vote at general  mee�ngs  of the Company
or the Subs idiary.
 
For a l l  share classes , subject to compl iance with the solvency test set out in the Companies  Law, the Board
may declare and pay such annual  or interim dividends and distribu�ons as  appear to be jus�fied by the
posi�on of the Group. The Board may, in rela�on to any dividend or distribu�on, direct that the dividend or
distribu�on shal l  be sa�sfied whol ly or partly by the distribu�on of assets , and in par�cular of paid-up
shares  or reserves  of any nature as  approved by the Group.
 
 
10.          Related party transactions
 
Management Fee
 
The I nvestment Manager receives  a  monthly management fee, in advance, as  of the beginning of each month in
an amount equal  to 0.104% (1.25% per annum) of the net assets  of the Group (the "Management Fee"). For
purposes  of determining the Management Fee, private investments  wi l l  be valued at the fa ir value. The
Management Fee wi l l  be prorated for any period that i s  less  than a ful l  month. The Management Fees  charged
for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to 7,611,701 (year ended 31 December 2023: 4,269,757) of
which ni l  (31 December 2023: ni l ) was  outstanding at the year end.
 
Performance Allocation
 
The Performance Al loca�on Share held by RTW  Venture Performance LLC was surrendered in exchange for a
New Performance Al loca�on Share issued by the Subs idiary. The New Performance Al loca�on Share issued by
the Subs idiary has  identical  terms to the original  Performance Al location Share issued by the Company.
 
I n respect of each Performance Al loca�on Period, the Performance Al loca�on Amount shal l  be a l located at
the Subs idiary level  and disclosed on the Group's  financial  s tatements  within the Non-Control l ing I nterest,
subject to the satis faction of a  hurdle condition.
 
The Performance Al loca�on Amount rela�ng to the Performance Al loca�on Period, which is  calculated solely
at the Subs idiary, i s  an amount equal  to:
 
((A-B) x C) x 20 per cent.
where:
A is  the Adjusted Net Asset Value per Ordinary Share on the Calculation Date, adjusted by:
    adding back (i ) the total  net Distribu�ons (i f any) per O rdinary Share (whether paid, or declared but not yet
  
    paid) during the Performance Al location Period; and (i i ) any accrual  for the Performance Al location for the  
    current Performance Al loca�on Period reflected in the Net Asset Value per O rdinary Share; and deduc�ng
any
    accre�on in the Net Asset Value per O rdinary Share resul�ng from either the issuance of O rdinary Shares  at
a
    premium or the repurchase or redemp�on of O rdinary Shares  at a  discount during the Performance
Al location  
    Period;
 
B is  the Adjusted Net Asset Value per Ordinary Share at the start of the Performance Al location Period; and
 
C is  the time weighted average number of Ordinary Shares  in issue during the Performance Al location Period.
 
The Hurdle Amount represents  an 8 per cent. annual ised compounded rate of return in respect of the Adjusted
Net Asset Value per O rdinary Share from the start of the ini�al  Performance Al loca�on Period through the
then current Performance Al location Period.
 
The Performance Al loca�on Share C lass  can elect to receive the Performance Al loca�on Amount in O rdinary
Shares, cash, or a  mixture of the two, subject to a  minimum 50% as  O rdinary Shares. The Performance
Al loca�on Share C lass  entered into a  leUer agreement dated 21 Apri l  2020, pursuant to which the
Performance Al loca�on Share C lass  agreed to defer distribu�ons of O rdinary Shares  that would otherwise be
distributed to the Performance Al loca�on Share C lass  no later than 30 bus iness  days  a9er the publ ica�on of
the Group's  audited annual  consol idated financial  s tatements . Under that leUer agreement, such O rdinary
Shares  shal l  be distributed to the Performance Al loca�on Share C lass  at such �me or �mes as  determined by
the Boards  of Directors  of the Group.
 
The Group wi l l  increase or decrease the amount owed to the Performance Al loca�on Share C lass  based on i ts
investment exposure to the Group's  performance had such Performance O rdinary Shares  been so issued. The
Performance Al loca�on Amount for the year ended 31 December 2024 includes  the res idual , undistributed
Performance Al loca�on Amounts  from prior years  that were previous ly converted into a  total  of 14,228,208
No�onal  O rdinary Shares. These No�onal  O rdinary Shares  are subject to market risk a longs ide the O rdinary
Shares  and incurred a mark to market loss  of 1,259,780 in 2024 (31 December 2023: mark to market gain of
5,137,836), which is  included in Performance Al loca�on within the consol idated statement of changes  in net
assets . There was a  reversal  of uncrystal l i zed performance al loca�on from O rdinary Shareholders  to the
Performance Al loca�on Share C lass  of 2,756,842 related to the Group's  performance in the period (31
December 2023: a l loca�on of 2,756,842). The Performance Al loca�on Amount was  not adjusted in rela�on to



December 2023: a l loca�on of 2,756,842). The Performance Al loca�on Amount was  not adjusted in rela�on to
the Ordinary Shares  issued related to the Arix transaction (as  set out within Note 9).
 
Un�l  the Group makes  a  distribu�on of O rdinary Shares  to the Performance Al loca�on Share C lass , the Group
wi l l  have an unsecured discre�onary obl iga�on to make such distribu�on at such �me or �mes as  the Board
of Directors  of the Group determines. RTW  Venture Performance LLC has  agreed to the deferral  of the
distribu�ons of the Subs idiary's  O rdinary Shares  in connec�on with i ts  own tax planning. The Group does  not
bel ieve that the deferral  of such distribu�ons to the Performance Al loca�on Share C lass  wi l l  have any
negative effects  on holders  of Ordinary Shares.
 
RTW  Venture Performance LLC, an affil iate of the I nvestment Manager is  a  member of the Performance
Al loca�on Share C lass  and wi l l  therefore receive a  propor�on of the Performance Al loca�on Amount. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Board did not approve a cash distribu�on to the Performance Al loca�on
Share C lass  (year ended 31 December 2023: ni l ). At the year end the Performance Al loca�on Share C lass  of the
Subsidiary is  reflected within the Non-Control l ing I nterest balance of 25,722,524 (31 December 2023:
29,739,146).
 
The Investment Manager is  a lso refunded any research costs  incurred on behalf of the Group.
 
O n 6 July 2023, the Group s igned a 25,000,000 commitment to 4010 Royalty Fund, a  private fund created and
managed by RTW  I nvestments , LP. The Group subsequently funded 23,892,852 of this  commitment on 20 July
2023, had 13,544,146 of capital  returned on 1 O ctober 2024 and had a remaining commitment of 14,651,294
at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 1,107,148). No management or performance fees  are charged to the
Group at the 4010 Royalty Fund.
 
Director fees and interests
 
O ne of the Directors  of the Group, Stephanie S i rota, i s  a lso a  partner and the Chief Bus iness  O fficer of the
Investment Manager.
 
As  at 31 December 2024, the number of Ordinary Shares  held by each Director was  as  fol lows:
 
 2024 2023
  

Number of Ordinary
Shares

 

Number of
Ordinary Shares

Wil l iam Simpson 200,000 200,000
Paul  Le Page 128,000 128,000
Wil l iam Scott 400,000 350,000
Nicola Blackwood - N/A
Stephanie Si rota 1,010,000 1,010,000
 
Roderick Wong is  a  major shareholder and a member of the Investment Manager. Roderick Wong serves  on the
boards  of the fol lowing investments: Rocket, Corxel  P harmaceu�cals  (formerly Ji  X ing P harmaceu�cals  Ltd.),
HSA2 Holdings , LLC and Yarrow Biotechnology. As  at 31 December 2024, he held 49,643,313 Ordinary Shares  in
the Group (14.79% of the O rdinary Shares  in issue) (31 December 2023: 29,593,872, 14.10% of the O rdinary
Shares  in issue).
 
The total  D irectors ' fees  expense for the year amounted to 262,477 (31 December 2023: 177,011) of which
71,029 was outstanding at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 50,369) and is  included within accrued
expenses.
 
Al l  of the Directors  of the Company are a lso directors  of the Subs idiary. Each has  served s ince the Subs idiary's
incorpora�on on 23 November 2022, except Baroness  Blackwood, who was appointed a director of the
Subsidiary a longs ide her appointment as  director of the Company on 11 July 2024. Stephanie S i rota is  a lso a
director of the UK Subsidiary.
 
Incubated Companies
 
The Group invests  in RTW  incubated companies .  I ncubated companies  are those por1ol io companies  that are
formed and supported by RTW  ("I ncubated Companies"). I ncubated Companies  general ly are smal l , emerging
companies  that are unseasoned, unprofitable and/or have no establ ished opera�ng history or earnings. These
companies  may also lack technical , marke�ng, financial  and other resources  or may be dependent upon the
success  of one product or service or the effectiveness  of RTW and i ts  management team.
 
Employees  of RTW  and employees  of certain RTW  affil iates  are expected to serve as  execu�ves, officers ,
directors , members , consultants  or employees  of such companies . These individuals  are el igible for
compensation in the Incubated Companies  in the form of founder shares  or other forms of company securi ties .
Certain RTW  employees  who perform specific execu�ve func�ons for such I ncubated Companies  may also
receive cash compensa�on directly or indirectly from those companies . For the avoidance of doubt, these
employees  do not receive such compensa�on from both RTW  and the I ncubated Company.   These employees
receive 100% of their compensa�on from RTW  and RTW  charges  back to the I ncubated Company for the
appl icable percentage of their time spent on executive functions  at the Incubated Company.  Employees  of RTW
and employees  of certain RTW  affil iates  may also receive compensa�on in the form of stock op�ons or other
securi�es  from certain I ncubated Companies  in connec�on with their del ivery of specified products , research
and consul�ng services .  RTW  bel ieves  this  i s  an effec�ve way to a l ign incen�ves  and mo�vate employees,
whi le reducing the financial  burden on the newly Incubated Companies  by minimizing the need to hire external
employees.
 
 
11.  Administrative services
 
Al tum (Guernsey) Limited (previous ly named Elys ium Fund Management Limited ("Altum")) serves  as
Administrator to the Group, providing administra�on, corporate secretaria l , corporate governance and
compl iance services . Morgan Stanley Fund Services  USA LLC ("MSFS") serves  as  the Group's  Sub-Administrator.
 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, Altum and M S FS charged administra�on fees  of 388,732 and



During the year ended 31 December 2024, Altum and M S FS charged administra�on fees  of 388,732 and
360,917 respec�vely (31 December 2023: Altum charged 421,468 (including 212,000 (GBP 165,000) in respect
of one-off work and compensa�on for work performed in prior years) and M S FS charged 251,954), of which a
prepayment of 5,693 and an accrual  of 105,860 (31 December 2023: Altum 18,465, M S FS 94,250) were
outstanding at 31 December 2024, and were included within accrued expenses.
 
 
12.  Financial highlights
 
Financial  highl ights  for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 are as  fol lows:
 
 2024 2023
Per Ordinary Share operating performance
Net Asset Value, beginning of year 1.90 1.54
Cost of i ssuance of Ordinary Shares (0.23) -
Share buybacks 0.03 -
Income from investments

Net investment income/(loss) (0.03) (0.02) 
Net real ised and unreal ised gain/(loss) on
securi ties , derivatives  and foreign currency
transactions

 
0.13 0.42  

I ncome/(loss) aUributable to Non-Control l ing
Interest  0.01 (0.04)

Total  from investment operations 0.11                0.36 
Net Asset Value, end of year              1.81              1.90
  
Total return
Total  return before Performance Al location (5.25) % 24.27 %
Performance Al location (excluding mark to market) 0.62 % (0.80) %
Total  return after Performance Al location (4.63) % 23.47 %

Ratios to average net assets*
Expenses 2.78 % 2.58 %
Performance Al location (including mark to market)       (0.66) % 2.28 %
Expenses  and Performance Al location 2.12 % 4.86 %

Net investment income/(loss) (1.44) % (1.38) %

NAV total  return for the year (4.63) % 23.47 %
 

* Ratios are not annualised.
 

Financial  highl ights  are calculated for O rdinary Shares. An individual  shareholder's  financial  highl ights  may
vary based on the �ming of capital  share transac�ons. Net investment income/loss  does  not reflect the effects
of the Performance Al location.
 
 
13.  Subsequent events
 
From 31 December 2024 to the date of approval  of these consol idated financial  s tatements , the Company
bought back 950,000 O rdinary Shares  at an average price of 1.26 for a  total  cost of 1,199,347, including
transac�on costs  of 1,811. At the point of s igning these consol idated financial  s tatements , a l l  950,000 of the
Ordinary Shares  were held as  treasury shares.
 
O n 14 February 2025, W i l l iam Simpson purchased an addi�onal  40,000 O rdinary Shares  taking his  total
holding to 240,000 O rdinary Shares , represen�ng 0.07% of i ssued share capital . O n 24 February 2025, Rod
Wong further increased his  shareholding to 50,356,880, representing 15.04% of i ssued share capital .
 
These consol idated financial  s tatements  were approved by the Board of Directors  on 28 March 2025.
Subsequent events  have been evaluated through this  date.

 
General Company Information

 
Structure Closed-end Investment Fund 

Domici le Guernsey 

Listing London Stock Exchange

Launch date 30 October 2019 

Dividend pol icy To be reinvested 

Management fee 1.25% 

Performance fee 20% with an 8.0% annual ised and compounded-
s ince-inception hurdle 

ISIN GG00BKTRRM22 

SEDOL BKTRRM2

Ticker RTW

LEI 549300Q7EXQQH6KF7Z84 

Website www.rtwfunds.com/rtw-biotech-opportunities-l td 

 
Glossary unaudited

 
Defined Terms
 
 



 

"Adjusted Net Asset Value" the Net Asset Value adjusted by deducting the unreal ised gains  and
unreal ised losses  in respect of private Portfol io Companies;

"Administrator" refers  to Altum (Guernsey) Limited (previous ly named Elys ium Fund
Management Limited);

"Admission" means admiss ion of the Ordinary Shares  to trading on the Main Market
of the London Stock Exchange on 30 October 2019;

"AIC" the Association of Investment Companies;

"AIC Code" the AIC Code of Corporate Governance dated February 2019;

"AIFM" means Alternative Investment Fund Manager;

"AIFMD" the Alternative Investment Fund Managers  Directive;

 
"Annual Report"

 
the Annual  Report and audited financial  s tatements;

"Antibody" a large Y-shaped blood protein that can stick to the surface of a  vi rus ,
bacteria, or receptor on a cel l ;

"Antibody-Oligonucleotide
Conjugates" or "AOC"

molecules  that combine structures  of an antibody and an ol igo;

"Arix" Arix Bioscience plc, the company whose assets  the Company acquired in
February 2024;

"ASCO" American Society of Cl inical  Oncology, a lso the name of the Society's
annual  oncology conference;

"Autoimmune diseases" conditions, where the immune system mistakenly attacks  a  body tissue;

"Bispecifics"
bispeci fic antibodies  (BsAbs) have two distinct binding domains  that can
bind to two antigens  or two epitopes  (an antigen part) of the same
antigen s imultaneously;

"Calculation Date" 31 December or, i f such date is  not a  bus iness  day, the previous  bus iness
day;

"Cardiometabolic diseases"
a group of common but often preventable conditions  including heart
attack, stroke, diabetes , insul in res istance and non-alcohol ic fatty l iver
disease;

"Cardiovascular disease" conditions  affecting heart and vascular system;

"Clinical stage" or "clinical
trial"

a therapy in development goes  through a number of cl inical  tria ls  to
ensure i ts  safety and efficacy. Tria ls  in human subjects  range from Phase
1 to Phase 3;

"Companies Law" the Companies  (Guernsey) Law, 2008 (as  amended);

"the Company" RTW Biotech Opportunities  Ltd (or RTW Bio) i s  a  company incorporated
in Guernsey as  a  closed-ended Investment Company;

"Core portfolio"
 

includes  private companies  and publ ic companies  that were ini tia l ly
added to the portfol io as  private investments  and any other pos ition
deemed by the Investment Manager to be in the core portfol io;

"Corporate Brokers" Bank of America and Deutsche Numis;

"CRS" Common Reporting Standard;

"Danon Disease" a rare genetic heart condition in chi ldren, predominantly boys;

"Directors" or "Board" the directors  of the Company and the Subs idiary as  at the date of this
document and "Director" means any one of them;

"DTR" Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules  of the UK's  FCA;

"Fanconi Anaemia" a rare genetic blood condition in young chi ldren;

"FATCA" the Foreign Account Tax Compl iance Act;

"FCA" the Financial  Conduct Authori ty;

"FDA" the United States  Food and Drug Administration;

"FRC" the Financial  Reporting Counci l ;

"FTC" the Federal  Trade Commiss ion;

"Gene therapy" a biotechnology that uses  gene del ivery systems to treat or prevent a
disease;

"Genetic Medicine" an approach to treat or prevent a  disease us ing gene therapy or RNA
medicines;

"GFSC" the Guernsey Financial  Services  Commiss ion;

"GFSC Code"
 

the GFSC Finance Sector Code of Corporate Governance as  amended in
June 2021;

"GLP-1"

drugs  that mimic the action of natural ly occurring hormone glucagon-
l ike peptide-1, which is  produced in the intestines. Plays  a  crucia l  role in
regulating blood sugar levels  by stimulating insul in release, s lowing
stomach emptying and reducing appeti te;

"Greater China" encompasses  mainland China, Macau, Hong Kong and Taiwan;

"the Group" the Company and i ts  subs idiaries , RTW Biotech Opportunities  Operating
Ltd RTW Biotech UK Ltd;



"HCM" or "Hypertrophic
cardiomyopathy"

a cardiovascular disease characterised by an abnormal ly thick heart
muscle;

"Investment Manager" RTW Investments , LP, a lso cal led RTW Investments;

"IPEV"
 

the International  Private Equity and Venture Capital  Valuation
(IPEV) Guidel ines  set out recommendations, intended to represent
current best practice, on the valuation of Private Capital  Investments;

"IPO" an ini tia l  publ ic offering;

"IRA" Inflation Reduction Act of 2022;

"ISDA" International  Swaps and Derivatives  Association;

 "LAD-I" Leukocyte adhesion deficiency, a  rare genetic disorder of
immunodeficiency in young chi ldren;

"Listing Rules" the l i s ting rules  made under section 73A of the Financial  Services  and
Markets  Act 2000 (as  set out in the FCA Handbook), as  amended;

"London Stock Exchange" London Stock Exchange plc;

"LSE" London Stock Exchange's  main market for l i s ted securi ties ;

"MASH" metabol ic dysfunction-associated steatohepati tis ;

"Medtech" medical  technology subsector of healthcare;

 
"Merck"

Merck & Co., Inc.;

"Multi-omics"
a biological  analys is  approach in which the data sets  are multiple
"omes", such as  the genome, proteome, transcriptome, epigenome,
metabolome, and microbiome;

"Myotonic Dystrophy" a genetic condition that affects  muscle function;

"Nasdaq Biotech" or "NBI"
a stock market index made up of securi ties  of NASDAQ-l isted companies
class i fied according to the Industry Class i fication Benchmark as  ei ther
the Biotechnology or the Pharmaceutical  industry;

"Net Asset Value" or "NAV" the value of the assets  of the Group less  i ts  l iabi l i ties , calculated in
accordance with the valuation guidel ines  establ ished by the Board;

"New Performance Allocation
Shares"

performance al location shares  of no-par value in the capital  of the
Subsidiary;

"Notional Ordinary Shares" Performance Ordinary Shares , in which receipt of such shares  has  been
deferred;

"Official List" the officia l  l i s t of the UK Listing Authori ty;

"Oligonucleotides" or "Oligos" short DNA or RNA molecules  that have a wide range of appl ications  in
genetic testing and research;

"Omics"

any of several  areas  of biological  s tudy defined by the investigation of
the entire complement of a  speci fic type of biomolecule or the total i ty of
a molecular process  within an organism.
In biology the word omics  refers  to the sum of consti tuents  within a  cel l .
The omics  sciences  share the overarching aim of identi fying, describing,
and quanti fying the biomolecules  and molecular processes  that
contribute to the form and function of cel ls  and tissues;

"Oncology" a therapeutic area focused on diagnosis , prevention, and treatment of
cancer;

"Ophthalmic conditions" conditions  affecting the eye;

"Ordinary Shares" the Ordinary Shares  of the Company;

"Other public portfolio"
the portion of the portfol io mostly matching, on a pro-rata bas is , the
long investments  held in our private funds  and des igned to mitigate the
drag of setting as ide cash for future deployment into core pos itions;

"Performance Allocation
Shares"

performance al location shares  of no-par value in the capital  of the
Company (prior to the 1 December 2022 reorganisation), or performance
al location shares  of no-par value in the capital  of the Subs idiary (with
effect from the 1 December 2022 reorganisation);

"Performance Allocation
Period"

each period ending on a Calculation Date and beginning on the bus iness
day immediately fol lowing the last Performance Al location Period in
respect of which a Performance Al location has  been al located;

"PIPE" private investment in a  publ ic equity;

"Portfolio Companies" private and publ ic companies  in the Group's  portfol io;

"Premium Segment"
Premium Segment of the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange,
which was consol idated into the Main Market and ceased to exist as  of
July 2024;

"Prospectus"
the prospectus  of the Company, most recently updated on 5 January 2024
and avai lable on the Company's  website (www.rtwfunds.com/rtw-
biotech-opportunities-l td);

"Pyruvate Kinase Deficiency"
or "PKD"

a rare genetic disorder affecting red blood cel ls ;

"Radiopharmaceuticals" pharmaceutical  cons isting of a  radioactive compound used in radiation
therapy;

"Rare disease" a disease that affects  a  smal l  percentage of the population;

https://www.britannica.com/science/tissue


"Rare disease" a disease that affects  a  smal l  percentage of the population;

"Registrar" MUFG Pension & Market Services  (formerly Link Group);

"RFK Jr" Robert F. Kennedy, Junior;

"RNA medicines" a type of biotechnology that uses  RNA to treat a  disease;

"Russell 2000 Biotechnology
Index" or "RGUSHSBT"

a stock index of smal l  cap biotechnology and pharmaceutical
companies;

"Small molecule" a compound that can regulate a  biologic activi ty;

"SPAC" Special  Purpose Acquis i tion Company;

"Sub-Administrator" Morgan Stanley Fund Services  USA LLC;

"the Subsidiary" or "OpCo" RTW Biotech Opportunities  Operating Ltd;

"Type 1 Diabetes" or "TD1" a type of insul in res istance;

"Total shareholder return" a measure of shareholders ' investment in a  company with reference to
movements  in share price and dividends paid over time;

 
"UK AIFMD"
 

refers  to a  domestic regime of laws regulating the management and
marketing of a l ternative investment funds  and fund managers  in the UK,
which general ly maintains  the rules  set out in the European Union's
AIFMD as  implemented at the end of the trans ition period fol lowing
Brexit;

"UK Code" the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 publ ished by the Financial
Reporting Counci l  in July 2018;

"UK-Guernsey IGA" The UK-Guernsey Intergovernmental  Agreement for the Automatic
Exchange of Information;

"the UK Subsidiary" RTW Biotech UK Ltd;

"US GAAP" United States  General ly Accepted Accounting Principles ;

"Valuation Committee" Valuation Committee of the Investment Manager;

"WACC" weighted average cost of capital ;

 
 
Listing of portfolio company abbreviations used throughout this report 
 

Shorthand Company Name  Legal Company Name  

89Bio 89Bio Inc.

Abdera Abdera Therapeutics , Inc. 

Acelyrin Acelyrin, Inc. 

Alcyone Alcyone Therapeutics , Inc. 

Akero Akero Therapeutics

Aktis Aktis  Oncology

Alesta Alesta Therapeutics

Al lurion Al lurion Technologies , Inc. 

Amplyx Amplyx Pharmaceuticals

Ancora Ancora Heart, Inc. 

Apogee Apogee Therapeutics , Inc. 

Artios  Artios  Pharma, Inc. 

Artiva Artiva Biotherapeutics , Inc. 

Athira Athira Pharma, Inc. 

Avidity Avidity Biosciences, Inc. 

Basking  Basking Biosciences, Inc. 

BioAge Labs BioAge Labs, Inc.

Biomea Biomea Fus ion, Inc. 

C4 Therapeutics   C4 Therapeutics , Inc. 

Cargo Cargo Therapeutics , Inc. 

CinCor CinCor Pharma, Inc. 

Ci ty Therapeutics City Therapeutics , Inc.

Corxel Corxel  Pharmaceuticals

Depixus Depixus  SAS

Encoded Encoded Therapeutics , Inc. 

Ensoma Ensoma, Inc.

Evommune Evommune, Inc.

Frequency Frequency Therapeutics , Inc. 

GH Research GH Research PLC 

Harpoon Harpoon Therapeutics

HSAC2 Health Sciences  Acquis i tion Corporation 2 

Immunocore Immunocore Limited 

Iteos  iTeos  Therapeutics , Inc. 

Jade Jade Biosciences



Ji  Xing or JIXING Ji  Xing Pharmaceuticals  Limited 

Kai lera Kai lera Therapeutics

Kyverna Kyverna Therapeutics , Inc. 

Landos Landos Biopharma, Inc. 

Lenz Lenz Therapeutics  

Lycia  Lycia  Therapeutics , Inc. 

Magnol ia   Magnol ia  Medical  Technologies , Inc. 

Mantle Mantle Therapeutics

Merus Merus  N.V.

Mi lestone Mi lestone Pharmaceuticals , Inc. 

Mineralys  Mineralys  Therapeutics , LLC 

Mirador Mirado Therapeutics

Monte Rosa Monte Rosa Therapeutics , Inc. 

Neurogastrx Neurogastrx, Inc. 

Nikang Nikang Therapeutics , Inc. 

Nuance Nuance Pharma 

Numab Numab Therapeutics , Inc. 

Obsidian Obsidian Therapeutics , Inc.

Orchestra Orchestra BioMed, Inc. 

OriCel l  OriCel l  Therapeutics  (Shanghai) Co., Ltd 

Ottimo Ottimo Pharma

Prometheus Prometheus Biosciences, Inc. 

Prometheus Labs  Prometheus Laboratories , Inc. 

Pulmonx Pulmonx Corporation 

Pyxis  Pyxis  Oncology, Inc. 

Rocket Rocket Pharmaceuticals , Inc. 

RTW Royalty 1 RTW Royalty Holdings  LLC (royalty deal  for Mavacamten) 

RTW Royalty 2 RTW Fund 2 (royalty deal  for Jelmyto) 

RTW Royalty Fund 
4010 Royalty Fund, a  private fund created and managed by RTW
Investments , LP.  

InBrace or Swift Health Swift Health, Inc. 

Santa Ana Santa Ana Bio, Inc.

Sorriso Sorriso Pharmaceuticals

Tarsus  Tarsus, Pharmaceuticals , Inc. 

Tenaya Tenaya Therapeutics , Inc. 

Third Harmonic Third Harmonic Bio, Inc. 

Tourmal ine Tourmal ine Bio, Inc. 

Umoja Umoja Biopharma, Inc. 

Ventyx Ventyx Biosciences, Inc. 

Visus  Visus  Therapeutics , Inc. 

Yarrow RTW Holdings  LLC 

Yel low Jersey Yel low Jersey Therapeutics
 
 

Alternative Performance Measures unaudited

 
APM Definition Purpose Calculation
Avai lable
Cash

Cash held by
the Group's
Bankers ,
Prime Broker
and an ISDA
counterparty.

A measure of
the Group's
l iquidity,
working
capital  and
investment
level .

Cash and cash equivalents , Due from brokers , Receivable from unsettled trades  and other
miscel laneous current assets , less  Due to brokers , Payable for unsettled trades  and other
miscel laneous current l iabi l i ties  on the Statement of Assets  & Liabi l i ties . 
 

NAV per
Ordinary
Share

The Group's
NAV divided
by the
number of
Ordinary
Shares.

A measure of
the value of
one Ordinary
Share.

The net assets  attributable to Ordinary Shares  on the statement of financial  pos ition divided by
the number of Ordinary Shares  in issue as  at the calculation date.

Price per
share

The
Company's
clos ing share
price on the
London Stock
Exchange for
a speci fied
date.

A measure of
the supply
and demand
for the
Company's
shares.

Extracted from the officia l  l i s t of the London Stock Exchange.

NAV Growth The
percentage
increase or
decrease in

A key
measure of
the success
of the

The quotient of the NAV per share at the end of the period and the NAV per share at the beginning of
the period minus  one expressed as  a  percentage.



decrease in
the NAV per
Ordinary
share during
the reporting
period.

of the
Investment
Manager's
investment
strategy.

Share price
growth/Total
Shareholder
Return

The
percentage
increase or
decrease in
the price per
share during
the reporting
period.

A measure of
the return
that could
have been
obtained by
holding a
share over
the reporting
period.

The quotient of the price per share at the end of the period and the price per share at the beginning
of the period minus  one, expressed as  a  percentage. The measure excludes  transaction costs .

Share Price
Premium/
(Discount)

The amount
by which the
Ordinary
Share price
is
higher/lower
than the NAV
per Ordinary
Share,
expressed as
a percentage
of the NAV
per ordinary
share.

A key
measure of
supply and
demand for
the
Company's
shares. A
premium
impl ies
excess
demand
versus  supply
and vice
versa.

The quotient of the price per share at the end of the period and the NAV per share at the end of the
period minus  one, expressed as  a  percentage.

Multiple on
Invested
Capital
(MOIC or
MOC)

The multiple
that
measures
value that an
investment
has
generated.

A measure to
evaluate
performance
of the
real ised and
unreal ised
investments .

The ratio between ini tia l  capital  invested in a  portfol io company and current value of the
investment. It i s  a  gross  metric and calculation is  performed before fees  and incentive.

Extended
Internal  Rate
of Return
(XIRR)

The
percentage
or s ingle rate
of return
when appl ied
to al l
transactions
in a  portfol io
company.

A measure of
return which
is  used when
multiple
investments
have been
made over
time into a
portfol io
company.

The rate a lso expressed as  a  percentage that calculates  the returns  on the total  investment made
with increments  through a given period.

Ongoing
Charges
Ratio

The recurring
costs  that the
Group has
incurred
during the
period
excluding
performance
fees  and one-
off legal  and
profess ional
fees,
expressed as
a percentage
of the
Group's
average NAV
for the
period.

A measure of
the minimum
gross  profi t
that the
Group needs
to produce to
make a
positive
return for
shareholders .

Calculated in accordance with the AIC methodology detai led at the web l ink below:
https://www.theaic.co.uk/s i tes/default/fi les/documents/AICOngoingChargesCalculationMay12.pdf
 

Leverage As defined by
the AIFMD,
any method
by which the
AIFM
increases  the
exposure of
an AIF i t
manages,
whether
through
borrowing of
cash
securi ties , or
leverage
embedded in
derivative
positions  or
by any other
means.

A measure of
the excess  of
the Group's
investments
exposure
over i ts  total
net assets .

Calculated in accordance with the AIFMD's  gross  and commitment methodologies  as  outl ined in
Articles  7 and 8 of the Delegated Regulation 231/2013: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal -
content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32013R0231

 
 

https://www.theaic.co.uk/sites/default/files/documents/AICOngoingChargesCalculationMay12.pdf
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32013R0231


 
Ongoing Charges 2024 2023
 US US

Fees  to Investment Manager 7,611,701 4,269,757
Legal  and profess ional  fees 1,432,954 749,328
Research costs 849,452 474,511
Administration fees  [1] 749,649 673,422
Audit fees 366,984 341,500
Directors ' remuneration 262,477 177,011
Other expenses 887,540 687,805
Total expenses 12,160,757 7,373,334
 
Non-recurring expenses (955,871) (453,231)
Total ongoing expenses 11,204,886 6,920,103

Average NAV 638,541,373 369,419,055

Annualised ongoing charges (using AIC methodology) 1.75%  1.87%
 
[1] The Administra�on fees  in 2023 include US 212,000 (GBP  165,000) in respect of one-off work

and compensa�on for work performed in prior years  (see note 11), which is  included in the
non-recurring expenses.

 
 
-- ENDS --

This information is provided by RNS, the news service of the London Stock Exchange. RNS is approved by the Financial Conduct Authority to act as a
Primary Information Provider in the United Kingdom. Terms and conditions relating to the use and distribution of this information may apply. For further
information, please contact rns@lseg.com or visit www.rns.com.

RNS may use your IP address to confirm compliance with the terms and conditions, to analyse how you engage with the information contained in this
communication, and to share such analysis on an anonymised basis with others as part of our commercial services. For further information about how
RNS and the London Stock Exchange use the personal data you provide us, please see our Privacy Policy.
 
END
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